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| am pleased to present to you the annual results for 2018.
FINANCIAL RESULTS

The revenue of the Group for the year ended 31st December, 2018
was HK$3,291.7 million (2017: HK$1,112.9 million), an increase of
196% compared to the year before. The profit attributable to owners
of the Company amounted to HK$1,251.2 million (2017: HK$2,054.1
million), representing a decrease of 39% from 2017.

The main reason for the decrease in profit for the year ended 31st
December, 2018 was that there was gain on disposal of a subsidiary
of approximately HK$1,634.0 million for the year ended 31st
December, 2017, whereas there was no disposal of subsidiary for the
year ended 31st December, 2018.

Earnings per share amounted to HK$0.83 (2017: HK$1.36), while the
net asset value per share attributable to owners of the Company was
HK$15.85 at the end of 2018 (2017: HK$15.55).

DIVIDEND

The board of directors of the Company (“Board”) has declared an
interim dividend of HK20 cents per share (in lieu of a final dividend)
for the year ended 31st December, 2018 (2017 interim dividend (in
lieu of a final dividend): HK20 cents per share) payable on or around
Wednesday, 17th April, 2019 to the shareholders of the Company
(“Shareholders”) whose names appear on the register of members of
the Company on Tuesday, 2nd April, 2019.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

(1)

(2)

For determining the entitlement to the interim dividend (in
lieu of a final dividend)

For determining the entitlement to the interim dividend (in lieu
of a final dividend) for the year ended 31st December, 2018, the
register of members of the Company will be closed on Monday, 1st
April, 2019 and Tuesday, 2nd April, 2019, during which period
no transfer of shares of the Company will be registered. In order
for a Shareholder to qualify for the interim dividend (in lieu of a
final dividend), all transfer forms accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s share
registrar, Tricor Secretaries Limited of Level 22, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for registration not later than
4:30 p.m. on Friday, 29th March, 2019.

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company
(“2019 AGM”)

The 2019 AGM is scheduled to be held on Wednesday, 22nd
May, 2019. For determining the entitlement to attend and vote
at the 2019 AGM, the register of members of the Company will
be closed from Friday, 17th May, 2019 to Wednesday, 22nd
May, 2019 (both days inclusive), during which period no transfer
of shares of the Company will be registered. In order for a
Shareholder to be eligible to attend and vote at the 2019 AGM,
all transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged with the Company’s share registrar, Tricor
Secretaries Limited of Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s
Road East, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on
Thursday, 16th May, 2019.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is engaged principally in the development of apartments,
villas, office buildings and commercial properties, property investment
and property management on the mainland in the People’s Republic
of China, as well as property investment and property management in

Hong Kong.

An outline of our achievements in 2018 is described below:

(1)

Although there was no one-off gain from disposal of a subsidiary,
the Group booked substantial sales and contributions from its
ongoing development projects.

Total attributable registered sales (including sales from joint
ventures and pre-sales of properties under construction) of the
Group amounted to 218,200 m? in 2018 (2017: 203,300 m?), an
increase of 7%. A total attributable gross floor area (“GFA”) of
approximately 371,100 m? (2017: 284,700 m?) was completed,
an increase of 30% from last year. For 2018, a total attributable
GFA of approximately 1,036,100 m2 (2017: 902,700 m2) was
under construction at the year end, representing an 15% increase
over the last year.

Rental income was up by 9% as compared with 2017, due to the
additional contribution from Beijing Park Apartments, Changchun
Tian An City One, Nanjing Tian An Cyber Park and Nanjing Tian
An International Building. The acquisition of South Place Hotel
London during the first half of 2017 has also improved the rental
income of the Group.

Cyberpark: There are a total of 15 cyberparks over 12 cities. The
overall contribution of our cyberpark unit has increased. Those
on the Pearl River Delta have been contributing most and we will
concentrate on developing new cyberparks and urban renewal
projects in this region where we have ample manpower and
marketing resources.

Phase 2 of Tian An’s urban renewal project, Tian An Cloud Park,
in Huawei New City Area in the Longgang District of Shenzhen,
with GFA of approximately 599,400 m? is under construction and
is expected to be completed in 2019.

For the year ended 31st December, 2018, Asiasec Properties
Limited reported a profit of HK$112.7 million (2017: HK$169.2
million) attributable to its shareholders.
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PLANS FOR 2019

Objectives for 2019 are as follows:

(1) We will continue to adjust the quality of our landbank through
acquisitions and disposals and sale of our end products to
balance the demands of short term returns and long term capital
appreciation.

(2) We will adjust our products and pricing as well as the speed of
construction where necessary to assist the sale of our products in
the current environment.

(3) We hope to responsibly gear up our projects rather than over-
utilising equity in order to increase our return on equity.

(4) We will review our management and cost structure so as to
improve efficiency and reduce expenses where possible.

LONG TERM CORPORATE STRATEGIES

(1) The Group will retain certain development properties for
investment where we believe these properties will provide
increasing rental streams and corresponding increases in capital
value.

(2) We will concentrate our effort on developing our cyberpark and
urban renewal units where we believe our products are welcomed
by the government and the local market.

BUSINESS OUTLOOK

The Group’s main business market is mainland China, where there
have been various measures by the authorities to regulate the high
housing demand. In Hong Kong, there is a shortage in the supply of
land resulting in high land prices. In China, the China’s central bank
had cut the reserve requirement ratio in January 2019 to stimulate the
economy. We expect that global market interest rates will be stable
and the trade war between China and the United States of America
may abate in 2019. The property market is expected to be stable in
2019. We remain confident of the long term prospects of the property
market in mainland China and Hong Kong.
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) APPRECIATION

RAEHROBEHSESNETRIBE—FE | would like to take this opportunity to thank my fellow Directors and
BREZEHREAEE 2 BE - WREH S the staff for their diligence and contributions to the Group in the past
KA RIS UREPZEE - year, to the Shareholders for their understanding and support, and to

the customers for their trust.

EFEE Patrick Lee Seng Wei
FHE Managing Director

BB _E-NF=A+HAB Hong Kong, 15th March, 2019
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OPERATIONAL REVIEW
1. INCOME SOURCES

Income derived from operations in property development, property
investment, associate and joint venture investments in the People’s
Republic of China (“PRC”) constituted the most significant source of
revenue to the Group. An analysis is as follows:

(1) Property developments

Revenue derived from property development of the Group (including
subsidiaries but excluding associates and joint ventures) increased
from HK$495.6 million to HK$2,627.2 million compared with
2017. Projects offered for sale during the year mainly consisted
of Changchun Tian An City One (Phase 4 Parts 2 and 3), Huizhou
Huiyang Tian An Sun Life City (Phase 2) and Shanghai Tian An Place
(Phase 1).

(2) Property investments

During the year, mainly due to the additional contribution from
Beijing Park Apartments, Changchun Tian An City One, Nanjing Tian
An Cyber Park, Nanjing Tian An International Building and South
Place Hotel London, the rental income of the Group increased from
HK$463.2 million to HK$502.8 million, representing an increase of
approximately 8.5%.

(3) Associate and joint venture investments

2018 2017
FTERT TET
HK$’000 HK$’000

A ERL Contribution to profit:
FE(R B2 N B A Share of profit of associates 55,688 99,148
a2 tCRan Share of profit of joint ventures 378,774 253,219
434,462 352,367
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2. FEHE 2. MAJOR SALES

HE-ZT—)\F+-A=+—HILEE - K& For the year ended 31st December, 2018, the Group’s sales activities
EHHEEEE(BREREAELENEENE  (including sales from joint ventures and pre-sales of properties

BHYENTEES)EEEFELTIER - under development) were concentrated principally on the following
projects:
PEL
HEREEE
Attributable
GFA sold
1HH Project A& Use 75 5Kk m?
FINKLZEN(—HEAR =) Shenzhen Tian An Cloud Park (Phases 1 & 2) m% Commercial 14,300
IR LB BT Shenzhen Tian An Longgang Cyber Park [EES Commercial 3,800
(mEA=#t) (Phase 4 Part 2)
BMEGR R Huizhou Huiyang Tian An Sun Life City = Residential 19,000
(—HIR =) (Phases 1 & 2)
Sl R B Dongguan Fenggang Tian An Cyber Park (S Commercial 37,000
(—HiKR=H) (Phases 1 & 2)
HERLEEH (RE) Dongguan Tian An Cyber Park (Phase 5) (EES Commercial 13,800
IR L SIS Foshan Tian An Nanhai Cyber Park [EES Commercial 6,700
(REENS) (Phases 6 to 8)
EEREZRE(—H) Shanghai Tian An Place (Phase 1) F= Residential 24,400
BHRLEBE(—HR =) Wuxi Tian An Manhattan (Phases 1 & 2) = Residential 6,100
BINKZRIE(ZH) Changzhou Tian An Villa (Phase 2) F= Residential 4,800
IBRRZHEN(—H % —8) Jiangyin Tian An Cyber Park (Phases 1 & 2)  ® %,  Commercial/ 7,700
F= Residential
EMEZHEM(—HE=H) Changzhou Tian An Cyber Park ®¥ Commercial/ 10,500
(Phases 1 to 3) *= Residential
EEALEE(EKE )  Nantong Tian An Garden (Phases 4 & 5) (Eae2 Residential 2,800
BEERTHE Chongging Tian An Cyber Park ¥, Commercial/ 4,900
(—HKk—H1) (Phases 1 & 2) F=x Residential
RERLZE Changchun Tian An City One = Residential 7,600
(A= HE R =4t) (Phase 4 Parts 2 & 3)
FKERLZESEH(—H) Tianjin Tian An Intelligent Port (Phase 1) %, Commercial/ 25,100
= Residential
HFERTHEN (—81) Qingdao Tian An Cyber Park (Phase 1) mE% Commercial/ 19,500
T Residential
FBRLEIEH(—HEANMUE])  Tianjin Tian An Cyber Park (Phases 1 & 4) EES Commercial 8,000
HinIg B Other projects w3,  Commercial/ 2,200
= Residential

218,200
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(1) REFPRIFZRYE

3.

LAND PORTFOLIO

The Group currently has a landbank of total GFA of approximately
9,123,100 m? (total GFA attributable to the Group is approximately
5,908,500 m?, consisting of approximately 809,800 m?2 of completed
investment properties and approximately 5,098,700 m? of properties
under development and for development), located mainly in Shanghai,
Shenzhen, Guangzhou, Huizhou, Dongguan, Foshan, Chongqing,
Nantong, Wuxi, Changzhou, Jiangyin, Nanjing, Changchun, Dalian,

Tianjin, Qingdao, Hong Kong, Australia and United Kingdom.

consisted of the following:

As at 31st December, 2018, the Group’s land portfolio principally

(1) Properties under development and for development

REEPELG

BHEEE

GFA

[GES = attributable

Commercial Residential to the Group

= Region FEFHK m? FEHK m? FE K m?

=R Southern China 746,700 663,400 1,410,100

=W Eastern China 1,215,800 472,900 1,688,700

#p Northern China 506,700 379,600 886,300

BN Australia 53,700 1,059,900 1,113,600

4t Total 2,522,900 2,575,800 5,098,700
2) BRETREYF (2) Completed investment properties

REEESL

BHER

GFA

[GES = attributable

Commercial Residential to the Group

i & Region K m? 5K m? F 5K m?

R Southern China 182,700 26,700 209,400

R Eastern China 336,400 73,900 410,300

2k Northern China 119,100 24,000 143,100

EE Hong Kong 38,000 2,900 40,900

HE United Kingdom 6,100 = 6,100

fast Total 682,300 127,500 809,800
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Liquidity and Financing

The Group always maintains its liquidity at a healthy level with
a balanced portfolio of financial resources. As at 31st December,
2018, the total bank balances and cash reserves of the Group were
approximately HK$2,846.0 million (2017: HK$4,969.0 million),
providing sufficient working capital for the daily operations of the
Group.

As at 31st December, 2018, the total borrowings of the Group
amounted to approximately HK$5,681.0 million (2017: HK$4,399.4
million), including current liabilities of HK$2,278.8 million (2017:
HK$885.8 million) and non-current liabilities of HK$3,402.2 million
(2017: HK$3,513.6 million). The gearing ratio (net debt over total
equity) of the Group was 11% (2017: negative of 2%). The borrowings
were mainly used to finance the properties for development and
properties under construction. Increase in finance costs is mainly due
to the increase in borrowings.

Approximately 55% of the Group’s outstanding borrowings will
mature within 2 years. Since most of the investments and operation of
the Group are carried out in the PRC, most of the bank borrowings are
denominated in Renminbi which will be repaid in the same currency.
Around 91% of the Group’s borrowings bear interest at fixed rates
while the remainders are at floating rates.

Due to maintaining flexible and sufficient cashflow for acquiring
the potential quality landbank and accelerating construction works
for our development projects, the Group intends to obtain proper
bank borrowings with reasonable pricing terms. The management
continuously monitors its gearing ratio and raises new external
borrowings when necessary.

Risk of Foreign Exchange Fluctuation

The Group is required to maintain foreign currency exposure to
cater for its recurring operating activities and present and potential
investment activities, meaning it will be subject to reasonable
exchange rate exposure. However, the Group will closely monitor this
risk exposure as required.
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Pledge on Assets

As at 31st December, 2018, bank deposits of approximately HK$552.7
million, aggregate carrying values of property, plant and equipment,
development properties and investment properties of approximately
HK$132.1 million, HK$4,048.3 million and HK$9,408.4 million
respectively, were pledged for banking facilities granted to the
Group, mortgage loans granted to property purchasers and guarantees
in respect of utility supplies and government authorities for the
development works.

Contingent Liabilities

Two pieces of properties for development that are held by joint
ventures of the Group with carrying value of approximately HK$74.3
million are under idle land investigation by the local authorities.
These pieces of lands owned by the joint ventures were held
under several land use right certificates. The development of more
than half of the pieces of lands were either completed or under
development, except for the portions which are retained for the
remaining development of the whole projects. Another property for
development that is held by a subsidiary of the Group with carrying
value of approximately HK$35.1 million is also under idle land
investigation by the local authority. This piece of land owned by the
subsidiary has been developed by several phases and more than half
was completed, except the last portion which is under the planning
approval by the local authority. Further, property for development
that is held by another joint venture of the Group with carrying value
of approximately HK$755.5 million had been identified as idle land
by the local authority. The construction works for the first phase of
development is continuing during the year. The Group is currently
working diligently to prevent the possible classification as idle land
for those under idle land investigation and taking remedy action to
prevent from prosecution for those had been identified as idle land,
including negotiating the feasibility of development plans with local
authorities. Based on legal advices, the Group has assessed the issue
and considers that the idle land confiscation can be reversed. In the
opinion of the Directors, the economic outflows caused by above
cases are not probable.

As at 31st December, 2018, guarantees given to banks in respect of
mortgage loans granted to property purchasers and bank facilities
granted to or utilised by the joint ventures as well as guarantees
granted in respect of utility supplies and government authorities
for the property development works amounted to approximately
HK$1,272.0 million. All the guarantees provided by the Group were
requested by banks and under normal commercial terms. No legal
action was taken against the Group for material claim.
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PROJECT REVIEW

1. MAJOR PROPERTY DEVELOPMENTS
Southern China

Shenzhen Tian An Cyber Park (50%)

Located at the heart of Shenzhen and adjacent to Shenzhen Golf
Club, this large-scale project occupies a site area of approximately
273,500 m? with a total GFA of approximately 787,700 m2. The
Cyber Park consists of industrial buildings, office and commercial
buildings, cyber technology buildings, deluxe residential apartments
and multifunction clubhouse in an “Urban Industrial Complex”.

The lettable commercial GFA is 49,230 m?, including remaining areas
of Shenzhen Cyber Times Building, Shenzhen Tian An Innovation
Science and Technology Plaza (Phases 1 and 2) and Shenzhen Futian
Tian An Hi-Tech Venture Park.

Shenzhen Tian An Cyber Park has expanded its successful pattern to
other cities, including Guangzhou Panyu, Foshan Nanhai, Dongguan,
Shenzhen Longgang, Changzhou, Jiangyin, Tianjin, Chongqging and
Qingdao, so as to develop into a group company.

For accomplishing the upgrade industries transformation and urban
renewal of Shenzhen, Shenzhen Tian An Cyber Park plans to have
area upgrade and redevelopment. The total GFA of the Park will
increase accordingly.

Shenzhen Tian An Cloud Park (50%)

This project is a “Model project of urban renewal” and located in
Huawei New City Area, Longgang District, Shenzhen. Shenzhen Tian
An Cloud Park will have a site area of approximately 760,000 m? and
plan to have a total GFA of approximately 2,800,000 m2. The project
is planned to be developed into a combination of new technology
and a modern city complex, including industrial R&D, commercial,
residential and apartments properties. Construction work for Phase
1 with a GFA of approximately 414,100 m? was completed, Phase 2
with a GFA of approximately 599,400 m? is under construction and
expected to be completed in 2019.

Shenzhen Tian An Longgang Cyber Park (50%)

Located in the core area of Longgang in Shenzhen, this project
has a site area of approximately 118,856 m? and a total GFA
of approximately 454,400 m2. The model of Shenzhen Tian An
Cyber Park is used to develop this project. Phase 4 with GFA of
approximately 44,400 m? was completed in 2018.
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Dongguan Tian An Cyber Park (39%)

Situated right at the new city central area — Nancheng District of
Dongguan. Upon acquiring the land nearby the project in 2012, it
covers land area of approximately 278,987 m? with a total GFA of
approximately 823,100 m2. The project is planned to be developed
into an integrated business park with comprehensive science and
technology buildings, commercial and residential composite. Phase 5
with a GFA of approximately 82,400 m? was completed in 2018.

Dongguan Fenggang Tian An Cyber Park (45.05%)

Located in Fenggang Town of Dongguan, this project has a site area
of approximately 172,796 m? and a total GFA of approximately
518,400 m2. The project is planned to be developed into a
comprehensive commercial/industrial composite. Phase 2 Part 2
with a GFA of approximately 10,400 m? was completed in 2018
and construction works of Phase 2 Parts 1 and 3 with a total GFA of
approximately 230,700 m? are expected to be completed in 2019.

Dongguan Coolpad Tian An Cloud Park (25 %)

Located in Songshan Lake of Dongguan, with a site area of
approximately 98,158 m? and a total GFA of approximately 176,700
m2. The project is planned to be developed into a comprehensive
commercial/Industrial composite. Construction work of Phase 1 with
a GFA of approximately 84,800 m? is expected to be completed in
2019.

Guangzhou Tian An Panyu Hi-Tech Ecological Park (50%)

Located in the central district of Panyu in Guangzhou, this large-
scale project has a site area of approximately 513,088 m?2 and a total
GFA of approximately 712,500 m2. The park development consists of
industrial/office buildings, science and technology buildings, high-class
residential buildings and multi-function clubhouse.

Foshan Tian An Nanhai Cyber Park (45 %)

Located in Guicheng District of Nanhai. Upon acquiring the land
nearby the project in 2012, it covers site area of approximately
165,252 m? and a total GFA of approximately 479,200 m2. This
project is developing with the similar pattern as Shenzhen Tian An
Cyber Park and planned to be developed into a business district with
hotel/office buildings. Construction work of Foshan Tian An Nanhai
Cyber Park Tian An Centre Phase 3 with a GFA of approximately
93,300 m? is expected to be completed in 2020.
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Huizhou Huiyang Tian An Sun Life City (100%)

Located in Huiyang of Huizhou and lying by both sides of Danshui
River, this project has a site area of approximately 393,574 m? and a
total GFA of approximately 783,000 m2. The project is planned to be
developed into a comprehensive commercial/residential composite.
Since the local government had modified the surrounding planning
of the land, the master planning for property development had been
modified accordingly. Construction work of Phase 3 with a GFA of
approximately 165,600 m? is expected to be completed in 2020.

Eastern China
Shanghai Tian An Place (99.99%)

This project is situated at the Golden Honggiao District where the
oriental and international residents like to reside and adjacent to
the entrance of the transit station of Subway No. 9. The project
will be developed to a deluxe residential district with a site area
of approximately 338,113 m2 and a total GFA of approximately
494,400 m2. Construction work of Phase 1 with a GFA of
approximately 159,400 m? was completed.

Tian An 1000 Trees (Formerly known as Shanghai Tian An Sunshine
Peninsula) (100%)

Located in the Putuo District of Shanghai, this project is to be
built along the 1,100 m bank of Suzhou River with a site area of
approximately 58,930 m2. This project has been re-planned as
a commercial and entertainment complex. Design planning has
been approved. Construction work of Western Phase with a GFA of
approximately 62,700 m?2 is expected to be completed in 2019.

Shanghai Songjiang Tian An Jingu (30%)

This project is located in Shanghai Songjiang Industrial Zone,
with a site area of approximately 185,590 m2 , and a total GFA of
approximately 297,500 m2.The project is planned to be developed
into an industrial district. Construction work of Phase 1 with a GFA of
approximately 93,000 m? is expected to be completed in 2019.

Wauxi Tian An Intelligent Park (100%)

This project is located in Wuxi New District with a site area of
approximately 118,330 m2 and a total GFA of approximately
236,100 m2. The project is planned to be developed into integrated
business park with comprehensive science and technology buildings,
commercial and residential composite. Phase 1 Part 1 with a GFA
of approximately 107,200 m? was completed and under leasing and
sales.
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Changzhou Tian An Villa (100%)

This project is located in the Wujin District, the planning and
development focus of the Changzhou government. With a favorable
location, it is one of the largest deluxe villa districts in Changzhou.
The project occupies a site of approximately 473,335 m2.
Construction work of Phase 2 Part 3 with a GFA of approximately
23,800 m? is expected to be completed in 2019.

Changzhou Tian An Cyber Park (50%)

This project is located in Changzhou Wujin Hi-Tech Industrial Zone,
with a site area of approximately 203,061 m2 and a total GFA of
approximately 526,500 m2. The project is planned to be developed
into comprehensive science and technology buildings, commercial
and residential composite. Phase 2 Part 2 with a residential GFA of
approximately 55,400 m? was completed in 2018 and construction
work of Phase 2 Part 1T with a commercial GFA of approximately
58,900 m? is expected to be completed in 2019.

Jiangyin Tian An Cyber Park (50%)

This project is located in Jiangyin Economic Development Zone,
Jiangsu, with a site area of approximately 173,204 m? and a total
GFA of approximately 363,700 m2. The project is planned to be
developed into integrated business park with comprehensive science
and technology buildings, commercial and residential composite.
Construction work of Phase 2 with a residential GFA of approximately
31,900 m? is expected to be completed in 2019.

Nanjing Tian An Cyber Park (100%)

This project is located in Nanjing Baixia Hi-Technology Industrial
Development Area, with a site area of approximately 92,766 m? and a
total GFA of approximately 210,100 m2. The project is planned to be
developed into integrated business park with comprehensive science
and technology buildings, commercial and residential composite.
Construction work of Phase 3 with a GFA of approximately 25,000 m?
is expected to be completed in 2019.

Nanjing La Vita (60%)

This project is located at Xinjiekou of Nanjing central district, with a
site area of approximately 5,012 m? and a total GFA of approximately
19,200 m2. The project is planned to be developed into a commercial
building.
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Nantong Tian An Cyber Park (100%)

This project is located in Nantong Gangzha Economic Development
Zone, with a site area of approximately 160,367 m? and a total GFA
of approximately 398,200 m2. The project is planned to be developed
into integrated business park with comprehensive science and
technology buildings and commercial composite. Construction work
of Phase 1 Part 2 with a GFA of approximately 23,800 m? is expected
to be completed in 2019.

Chongqing Tian An Cyber Park (50%)

Chongqing Tian An Cyber Park is located in commercial centre area
of Dadukou District, Chongqing, with a site area of approximately
357,768 m? and a total GFA of approximately 894,900 m2. The
project is planned to be developed into integrated business park with
comprehensive science and technology buildings, commercial and
residential composite. Phase 4 of office and commercial buildings
with a GFA of approximately 73,300 m2 was completed in 2018.

Northern China
Dalian Tian An Seaview Garden (60%)

This project for high-class residential development is located in
Dalian Economic & Technical Development Zone. Phases 1 and 2
with a total GFA of approximately 85,800 m?> have been completed.
Master plan for Phase 3 is waiting for approval.

Changchun Tian An City One (100%)

This high-class residential project is situated within the Changchun
High-Tech Industrial Development Zone. Erected on a site of
approximately 414,192 m2, the project with a total GFA of
approximately 408,400 m? is being developed by stages. Phase 4
Parts 2 and 3 with a total GFA of 97,800 m2 were completed in 2018.

Tianjin Tian An Intelligent Port (50%)

This project is located in Dongli District, Tianjin, with a site area
of approximately 582,907 m? and a total GFA of approximately
1,319,400 m2. The project is planned to be developed into urban
integrated business complex with Grade A office buildings,
comprehensive science and technology park, commercial and
residential composite. Phase 1 of office and commercial buildings
with a GFA of approximately 185,800 m? was completed in 2018 and
construction work for Phase 1 with a residential GFA of approximately
60,800 m? is expected to be completed in 2019.
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Tianjin Tian An Cyber Park (50%)

This project is located in Zhangjiawo Industrial Zone, Xiging District,
Tianjin, with a site area of approximately 312,280 m? and a total
GFA of approximately 513,000 m2. The project is planned to be
developed into integrated business park with comprehensive science
and technology buildings, commercial and residential composite.
Phase 4 with a GFA of approximately 55,500 m2 was completed in
2018 and construction works of Phases 2, 5 and 6 with a total GFA of
approximately 239,100 m? are expected to be completed in 2020 and
2021.

Qingdao Tian An Cyber Park (50%)

This project is located in Chengyang District, Qingdao, with a site
area of approximately 313,466 m? and a total GFA of approximately
522,900 m2. The project is planned to be developed into urban
integrated business complex with Grade A office buildings,
comprehensive science and technology park, commercial and
residential composite. Phase 1 at sites B and C with a total GFA of
approximately 78,800 m? was completed in 2018 and construction
work of Phase 1 at site A with a GFA of approximately 66,100 m? is
expected to be completed in 2020.

Australia
Western Australia Point Grey Site (76.70%)

This site is located in Western Australia Point Grey, with a site area
of approximately 2,751,864 m2and a total GFA of approximately
1,442,000 m2. The development application for stage 1 has been
approved. The project has also obtained the Commonwealth/
State Government bilateral approvals for the marina and terrestrial
developments and is currently seeking to extend the marina approval
with the Western Australia State Government.

New South Wales Enfield Site (76.70%)

This site is located in Enfield, New South Wales, with a site area
of approximately 12,619 m2and a total GFA of approximately
10,000 m2. The project is planned to be converted into residential
dwellings. The planning proposal has been submitted to the regulatory
bodies.
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2. MAJOR PROPERTY INVESTMENTS
Shanghai Tian An Centre (98%/100%)

The office building is situated at the hub of Shanghai central business
district of Nanjing Road West and People’s Square, adjacent to
the entrances to the transit platforms of Subway Nos. 1 and 2. It
is a 30-storey Grade A commercial building with a total GFA of
48,910 m2. 18,320 m? were sold, 1,620 m2 were self-occupied and
the remaining GFA of 28,970 m?2 have been transferred to property
investment. Most of the tenants are multinational companies. The
occupancy rate is more than 75%.

Shanghai Racquet Club & Apartments (100%)

This project is located in the Minhang District, Shanghai, and adjacent
to the Honggiao International Airport, Honggiao Transport Hub and 6
International Schools. The properties include (1) 262 apartments with
68,660 m?; (2) a clubhouse with 10,600 m? and ancillary facilities;
(3) 116 car parking spaces with 2,510 m?; and (4) 218 storage rooms
with 980 m2. This project is a leased property. Most of the tenants are
overseas top management from multinational companies.

Nanjing Tian An International Building (100%)

The project is located at Xinjiekou of Nanjing central district, the
most flourishing shopping district in Nanjing City. The building links
up to the subway station. The shopping arcades with a GFA of 66,400 m?
have been leased to a department store. The office building with a
GFA of approximately 10,700 m? have been transferred to property
investment.

Beijing Park Apartments (100%)

This premium residential project is located at the Beijing Chaoyang
District to the west of Chaoyang Park and adjacent to the Embassy
area. The project has a total GFA of approximately 42,100 m2. Around
half of the total number of units have been sold and the remaining
units kept for leasing purpose.

Dalian Tian An International Tower (100%)

This Grade A office building is situated in the Zhongshan Road central
business district and faces the Victory Square in Dalian City. The
total GFA is 67,210 m2. This 52-storey building is the tallest landmark
building of Dalian. 14,790 m? were sold, the remaining GFA have
been transferred to property investment.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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URNBEADIEED - NERONE  EEE
BH13,700F A K2 EY RS RIEEEELD
2,340 Rz B E - FHHHEEEEFII %
WEWMEREREWATEE -

BETITERLRSETEPNN(24.99%)

ME TER OB - BT XEREEER

F%%6%$E#&BM1<@M'¥ﬁﬁ
TAREES58% c EEBH B BRAER
FAGEW=TElUAN =3

FEEERGE7.49%)
NREESTEEEET  HATERHEAQ
EEEAE2,550F K FHEEKRES
92% °

FEETEF L\ (37.49%)
R HEZ TEHRL

12,470 77K K 101E{S BT -
88% °

T R E AL
FHHERRS

AL 5(24.99%)

NREEERABEREEEZEAVYE &

SHIENAE - 8 T41{EFER _ZE—NFIE
R BEETHEER LM -

3. Hi®E
EREZEHERARBNELER(75%)

%8 B (51#549999,990F 5 K » #EA —1E27 R
SRREE BES g 2EREERE

m%*&M°$mmfﬁ%&A%ﬁEE tE
q:l o

R RS EE(100%)

UREEmE3/M4 BESE ZWEEEET
South Place Hotel Limited * ¥ 8 #E80M 5
ERENREDHERTE @ i N X7 EEE
A RN EPERAY6,050 K ©

Harbour Crystal Centre (74.96%/59.97 %/29.99 %)

Located at Tsimshatsui East, the heart of Kowloon, the shopping
arcade with a GFA of approximately 13,700 m? and car parking
spaces with a GFA of approximately 2,340 m?2 as investment properties
recorded an average occupancy of 99% and the performance of the
rental income was satisfactory.

Harbour Industrial Centre and Oceanic Industrial Centre (24.99%)

The two industrial buildings with a total industrial and godown GFA of
approximately 93,630 m2 and 133 car parking spaces located at Ap Lei
Chau recorded an average occupancy of 58%. With the opening of
South Island Line of MTR, the region becomes more accessible.

Queen’s Centre (37.49%)

Located at Wanchai, a prime district of Hong Kong Island, the total
retail and office spaces of approximately 2,550 m? recorded an
average occupancy of 92%.

Wah Shun Industrial Centre (37.49%)

An industrial building located at Yau Tong with a total industrial GFA
of approximately 12,470 m? and 10 car parking spaces recorded an
average occupancy of 88%.

The Redhill Peninsula (24.99%)

It was built at a round-shaped peninsula situated in Southern District
of Hong Kong towards Tai Tam Harbour and Turtle Cove comprising
of townhouses and apartments. The remaining 41 houses are being
launched for both sale and leasing in batches in the year of 2019.

3. OTHER INVESTMENTS
Dongguan Long Island Golf & Country Club (75 %)

It was built on a site area of approximately 999,990 m? having a
27-hole golf, driving range, club houses, members’ lodge and other
amenity facilities. The golf course and club house are currently in
operation.

South Place Hotel London (100%)

Situated at 3/4 South Place, London, the United Kingdom. The
property leased to South Place Hotel Limited comprises an 80
bedroom luxury boutique hotel with ancillary facilities arranged over
basement, ground and seven upper floors with a total net internal area
of approximately 6,050 m2.
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MEZEREHN
PARTICULARS OF PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT

BRR  EEIR &0

TRREER BEER REER  FERs
aa4i - - Build?ble BREE Completed ~ Gross Fl((;or Intledr(;)st
i # Gross Floor  Project Gross  Area under Held by
Project Name Site Area Use Area  Progress Floor Area  Construction  the Group
FhAm FhRm Fhkm  Fhkm
A2 A% FEBIER
A REE - RE 138,161 Commercial 883,100 Phased 414100 469,000 50%
Shenzhen Tian An Cloud Park BE Construction
Bantian, Longgang District, Shenzhen Dormitory 130,400  Stage - 130,400 50%
1,013,500 414,100 599,400
FIRRERNES S ABITES
A REE - REILE 118,856 Commercial 454,400 Phased 313,700 - 50%
Shenzhen Tian An Longgang —— Construction
Cyber Park Stage
Huangge Road North,
Longgang District, Shenzhen
RERZH®YE [5ES P IRR
Rm AR RRHIR 278987 Commercial 739,000 Phased 418,300 - 39%
Dongguan Tian An ft= Construction
Cyber Park Residential 84,100 Stage 84,100 - 39%
No. 1, Huangjin Road,
Nancheng District, Dongguan 823,100 502,400 -
REBEAZH®Y [5ES AEBIER
R BEE - RO 172,79%  Commercial 518,400  Phased 12,700 230700 45.05%
Dongguan Fenggang Tian An —— Construction
Cyber Park Stage
Yan Tian Village,
Fenggang Town, Dongguan
REBRFREAEZE B2 HHETRE
Rom RS TR TRELA 98,158 Commercial 176,700 Phased - 84,800 25%
Dongguan Coolpad Tian An Cloud Park —— Construction
North of South Industrial Road, Stage
Songshan Lake North Industrial City,
Dongguan
BNRZEROENRE Bx PR IRR
BT - EBE - ABH7305 513,088 Commercial 667,200  Phased 571,500 - 50%
Guangzhou Tian An Panyu iz Construction
Hi-Tech Ecological Park Residential 45300 Stage 45,300 = 50%
No. 730, Yingbin Road,
Panyu District, Guangzhou 712,500 616,800 =
X ZEEHRE A% PHEIRE
P - AR - BYHIS 165252 Commercial 479,000 Phased 385,900 93,300 45%
Foshan Tian An Nanhai Cyber Park —— Construction
No. 1, Jianping Road, Stage
Nanhai District, Foshan
ENERAREN BEREE AHBIER
B BRE - KKE 393,574 Commercial & 783,000 Phased 184800 165,600 100%
Huizhou Huiyang Tian An Sun Life City Residential —— Construction
Danshui Town, Huiyang District, Stage

Huizhou
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MEBRREH
PARTICULARS OF PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT

BRR  EEIE &K@

TREAER BEER  REER AR
Buildable HREE Completed ~ Gross Floor Interest
HEA# tEER AR Gross Floor ~ Project Gross  Area under Held hy
Project Name Site Area Use Area  Progress Floor Area  Construction  the Group
FHRm? THAm? Thxm  FhHAm
LBXZER e HEmIER
L& BiE - BER 338,113 Residential 421,800 Phased 140,600 - 99.99%
TEHE IR MEREZ Construction
Shanghai Tian An Place Ancillary & 72,600  Stage 18,800 - 99.99%
Lot No. 52, Qibao Town, Commercial
Caobao Road,
Minhang District, Shanghai 494,400 159,400 _
RETH(ABLERZRLFR) (EES AEBIER
LiEm BRE - A 58930 Commercial 176900  Phased - 62,700 100%
Tian An 1000 Trees ———————— (onstruction
(Formerly known as Shanghai Tian An Stage
Sunshine Peninsula)
Changhua Road, Putuo District,
Shangha
LERZEE WEREZ BIRR
s HEAK10265 3,600 Ancillary & 500 Construction - 500 100%
Shanghai Central Garden Commercial ——— Stage
No. 1028, Jinxiu Road, Shangha
LERIRZER [EE L
LD IR NITXE 185590 Commercial 297,500 SRR - 93,000 30%
Shanghai Songjiang Tian An Jingu =——— Plamning &
Songjiang Industrial Zone, Design Stage
Songjiang District, Shangha
BERZESH [5EH HEmIER
&5 BHTE 118330 Commercial 236,100 Phased 107,200 - 100%
#2285 ———— (onstruction
Wuxi Tian An Intelligent Park Stage
No. 228, Linghu Road
Wuxi New District, Wuxi
FNRZRIZ [f= HEmIER
B - HER - BARS 473335 Residential 137,900  Phased 93,000 23,800 100%
Changzhou Tian An Villa = (onstruction
No. 2, Fengyuan Road, Stage
Wujin District, Changzhou
ENRZEEN EE por- AR
BT RERFRAERREE 203,061 Commercial 338,600  Phased 164,300 58,900 50%
B #5885 fr= Construction
Changzhou Tian An Cyber Park Residential 187,700  Stage 187,700 - 50%
No. 588, Wunan Road,
Wujin Hi-Tech Industrial Zone, 526,500 352,000 56,900

Changzhou
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MEBREH
PARTICULARS OF PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT

BRR  EEIR &0

TREAER BEER  REER R
Buildable BEEE Completed ~ Gross Floor Interest
HE AR tEER AR Gross Floor ~ Project Gross  Area under Held hy
Project Name Site Area Use Area  Progress Floor Area  Construction  the Group
FhAm FhRm Thxm  FHkm
TRRZHEN [EES por- A
B RINAESSH 173,204 Commercial 228,700 Phased 81,000 - 50%
Jiangyin Tian An Cyber Park [F= Construction
No. 55, Changshan Road, Jiangyin Residential 135,000  Stage 04,600 31,900 50%
363,700 145,600 31,900
HRRZHEY EE FERIER
BRD - LER 92,766 Commercial 210,100 Phased 86,600 25,000 100%
Nanjing Tian An Cyber Park = (onstruction
Guanghua Road, Nanjing Stage
BRRIE [EE HIRR
BRMZHERITH 5012 Commercial 19,200 Construction - 19,200 60%
Nanjing La Vita = Stage
Changjiang Road, Xuanwu District,
Nanjing
HERZHEN A% PR IRR
BT KBEEY 160,367 Commercial 398,200  Phased 89,700 23,800 100%
R —————— C(onstruction
Nantong Tian An Cyber Park Stage
South of Changping Road and East of
Yongtong Road, Nantong
ERRRHEY [EES HERIER
ERT - KEOE - 58S 357,768 Commercial 586,100 Phased 262,800 - 50%
Chongging Tian An Cyber Park fr= Construction
Chunhui Road, Dadukou District, Residential 308,800  Stage 85,600 - 50%
Chongging
894,900 348,400 -
RERZESILE e HHBIER
KEm  ARRRIREE 58650 Residential 101,300 Phased 85,800 - 60%
A —————— Construction
Dalian Tian An Seaview Garden Stage
Liaohe Road West, Economic & Technical
Development Zone, Dalian
RERZE - AERiEE por-
REM EAAE6615 414192 Commercial & 408,400 Phased 350,900 - 100%
Changchun Tian An City One Residential ——— Construction

No. 661, Guigu Street, Changchun Stage
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MEZREEH

PARTICULARS OF PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT

BxR  HRIE 5B
TREAER BEER  REER AR
Buildable HREE Completed ~ Gross Floor Interest
HEA# tEER AR Gross Floor ~ Project Gross  Area under Held hy
Project Name Site Area Use Area  Progress Floor Area  Construction  the Group
FhAm FhAm Thxm  FhHAm
RERZESE [EE PERIEE
KET FER 582,907 Commercial 934,100  Phased 185,800 - 50%
Tianjin Tian An Intelligent Port i Construction
Dongli District, Tianjin Residential 385,300  Stage - 60,800 50%
1,319,400 185,800 60,800
RERZHEN (EES HERIER
XEm - BEE RRHIH 312,280 Commercial 215900 Phased 175,100 40,800 50%
Tianjin Tian An Cyber Park fr= Construction
No. T Tianan Road, Xiging District, Tianjin Residential 297,100 Stage 98,800 198,300 50%
513,000 273,900 239,100
EBRZNE Az HEBIER
BEM - BRE - Bk 313,466 Commercial 328,000 Phased 103,600 5,700 50%
Qingdao Tian An Cyber Park e Construction
No. 88, Chunyang Road, Residential 194,900  Stage 152,800 60,400 50%
Chengyang District,
Qingdao 522,900 256,400 66,100
RN Point Grey #3 fr= RaIR
FZM - Point Grey - 2,751,864 Residential 1,372,000  gathes - - 76.70%
Carrabungup Road * MEREE Planning &
HER138 139+ 672711132 Ancillary & 70,000 Design Stage - - 76.70%
Western Australia Point Grey Site Commercial
Lots 138, 139, 672 & 1132,
Carrabungup Road,
Point Grey, 1,442,000 - -
Western Australia
FERES  RERE e RER
HEERT - BEEE 12,619 Residentil 10,000 R5HEE - - 7670%
Mitchell Street 4% Planning &
New South Wales Enfield Site Design Stage
4 Mitchell Street, Enfield
New South Wales

Brat - ERBRECE-NFT A=+ RZEBRRS -

Note:The above table is based on information as of 31st December, 2018.
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PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES UNDER CONSTRUCTION

SEEL
BEEE
Gross Bt T IEH
BHERE EEfEER Floor Area Estimated
HE A Gross Interest Held Attributable Completion
Project Name Floor Area by the Group to the Group Year
5 AKm? FHAm?
1. FINKRLEAN(=H) 599,400 50% 299,700 2019
Shenzhen Tian An Cloud Park (Phase 2)
2. REERAREBEN(ZH-HtR=H) 230,700 45.05% 103,900 2019
Dongguan Fenggang Tian An Cyber Park
(Phase 2 Parts 1 and 3)
3. REBERAREAEXR(—H) 84,800 25% 21,200 2019
Dongguan Coolpad Tian An Cloud Park (Phase 1)
4. BILRZEEHBRALHL(ZH) 93,300 45% 42,000 2020
Foshan Tian An Nanhai Cyber Park
Tian An Centre (Phase 3)
5. BMEBRAZER(=ZH) 165,600 100% 165,600 2020
Huizhou Huiyang Tian An Sun Life City (Phase 3)
6. RETEI(FER)(FIBLEREEHES) 62,700 100% 62,700 2019
Tian An 1000 Trees (Western Phase)(FormerIy known as
Shanghai Tian An Sunshine Peninsula)
7. LEBERZIER(=H) 500 100% 500 2019
Shanghai Central Garden (Phase 3)
8. LBIMIXRZ&A(—H) 93,000 30% 27,900 2019
Shanghai Songjiang Tian An Jingu (Phase 1)
9. BIMKRZHE(ZH=#) 23,800 100% 23,800 2019
Changzhou Tian An Villa (Phase 2 Part 3)
10. BMRLEEEH(ZBH—3t) 58,900 50% 29,500 2019
Changzhou Tian An Cyber Park (Phase 2 Part 1)
1. IRRZHHEN(=H) 31,900 50% 15,900 2019
Jiangyin Tian An Cyber Park (Phase 2)
12, EMRARTHYHN (=) 25,000 100% 25,000 2019
Nanjing Tian An Cyber Park (Phase 3)
13. MREIE® 19,200 60% 11,500 2019
Nanjing La Vita
14, BREAZEHR(—H_H) 23,800 100% 23,800 2019
Nantong Tian An Cyber Park (Phase 1 Part 2)
15. RERLEEHE(—H) 60,800 50% 30,400 2019
Tianjin Tian An Intelligent Port (Phase 1)
16. RERZHHEH(ZH - AARAH) 239,100 50% 119,600 2020 & 2021
Tianjin Tian An Cyber Park (Phases 2, 5 and 6)
17. BEBERLHHH(—8) 66,100 50% 33,100 2020
Qingdao Tian An Cyber Park (Phase 1)
B
Total: 1,878,600 1,036,100

Biet : ERBEZZ—)\F+_A=1+—H2ERHEE -  Note: The above table is based on information as of 31st December, 2018
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MERBEREEHN

PARTICULARS OF PROPERTY AND HOTEL INVESTMENTS

1. %
PROPERTY
EMES
IES BE 3L BEER
BEER BEER Firi s GFA
MEERE Property  CarParking Interest Held  Attributable — fi%
Property Name GFA  Space GFA by the Group  to the Group ~ Use
FIKm? FKm? FoKm?
RYIRZEIERH
Shenzhen Tian An Cyber Park
— AR LB RS 10,540 - 50% 5270 HERBLE
Shenzhen Tian An Innovation Science and Commercial and office
Technology Plaza, Phase 1
—RYRZ BB RES = 4,400 - 50% 2200 BERBAE
Shenzhen Tian An Innovation Science and Commercial and office
Technology Plaza, Phase 2
- R EERRAE 20,530 - 50% 10260 EERBELE
Shenzhen Cyber Times Building Commercial and office
~ABER LA RE AR 13,760 - 50% 6,880 HERMLE
Shenzhen Futian Tian An Hi-Tech Venture Park Commercial and office
FBEHRAE 890 - 100% 890 W2
Shenzhen Cyber Times Building Office
RIXZEBAE 850 - 100% 850 AR
Shenzhen Tian An International Building Office
ARG 2,190 - 100% 2190  fiE
Shenzhen Jun An Garden Residential
FYXZRE 22,210 - 100% 2210  fE%E
Shenzhen Tian An Park Place Residential
RRLEL 95,040 - 50% 47520  AERRHLE
Shenzhen Tian An Cloud Park Commercial and office
RYXZEEGER 3,300 - 100% 3300 AX
Shenzhen Tian An Longgang Cyber Park Commercial
RIRL R E R 28,900 - 50% 14450  BELBLE
Shenzhen Tian An Longgang Cyber Park Commercial and office
AEERBRSARELRE(-) 170 - 74.96% 130 %
Shenzhen Juning Villa (1), Xili Golf Course Residential
REXZHEY 10,510 - 39% 4100 %
Dongguan Tian An Cyber Park Commercial
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MERBEREES
PARTICULARS OF PROPERTY AND HOTEL INVESTMENTS
EEA(
ES BE 3L BEER
BEER BEER Fri s GFA
NELE Property  CarParking Interest Held  Attributable — fi%
Property Name GFA  Space GFA by the Group  to the Group ~ Use
FIKm? FJ3Km? FJ3Km?
BMNAZEBEHEMRE 101,740 - 50% 50870  HE
Guangzhou Tian An Panyu Hi-Tech Ecological Park Commercial
BpIL R ZR R BB 27,100 - 45% 12200 &%
Foshan Tian An Nanhai Cyber Park Commercial
BMNEBRZREY 26,080 - 100% 26,080
Huizhou Huiyang Tian An Sun Life City Commercial
EBRZHD 22,350 - 98% 21,900  BERHLE
Shanghai Tian An Centre Commercial and office
LEXRZHL 6,620 - 100% 6620 HDE
Shanghai Tian An Centre Office
LERERIRARINAE 68,660 - 100% 68,660  fE
Shanghai Racquet Club & Apartments Residential
LETERE 1,520 - 99% 1500 FEE
Shanghai The Riverside Commercial
LisRsERIE 2,800 - 100% 2,800 fEE
Shanghai Elegant Garden Residential
RAAZAR 1,420 - 95% 1350 HAMR
Wuxi Tian An Building Office
EHMLTEE 2,830 - 95% 2690 EE
Wuxi Redhill Peninsula Commercial
EHAZE2 59,790 - 100% 59790 EE
Wuxi Tian An Intelligent Park Commercial
EMFRHEE 9,090 - 100% 9,090 EX
Changzhou New City Garden Commercial
FMRL BB 41,840 - 50% 20920 %
Changzhou Tian An Cyber Park Commercial
TBRARLZHEY 25,950 - 50% 12980 &%
Jiangyin Tian An Cyber Park Commercial
TRAZEEY, 3,800 - 50% 1900 f=
Jiangyin Tian An Cyber Park Residential
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MERBEREES

PARTICULARS OF PROPERTY AND HOTEL INVESTMENTS

SEES
IES BE 3L BEER
BEER BEER Fri st GFA
NELE Property  CarParking Interest Held  Attributable — fi%
Property Name GFA  Space GFA by the Group  to the Group ~ Use
FJ3Km? FKm? FJ3Km?
ARARERAR 77,100 - 100% 7100 HERAME
Nanjing Tian An International Building Commercial and office
ARALZHEY 67,800 - 100% 67,800 E¥
Nanjing Tian An Cyber Park Commercial
BN ERAE 1,450 - 100% 1450 A
Nantong Sun Hai Tung Building Office
BRRAL 1,300 - 100% 1300 FEE
Nantong Jin Xiu Court Commercial
BRAZIE 5,420 - 100% 540 HEE
Nantong Tian An Garden Commercial
HEARHEY 38,050 - 100% 38,050 EE
Nantong Tian An Cyber Park Commercial
ERRLYBS 16,890 - 50% 8440 HEE
Chongging Tian An Cyber Park Commercial
ERRLHBES 1,050 - 50% 530 %
Chongging Tian An Cyber Park Residential
IRRER 22,170 - 100% 2170 %
Beijing Park Apartments Residential
BN LEY 560 - 100% 500 fEE
Beijing Lakeside Garden Residential
ERTFFE AR 260 - 74.96% 190 #EE
Beijing Wangfujing Century Square Commercial
REXZERAE 52,420 - 100% 52,420 HDIE
Dalian Tian An International Tower Office
RERLBZLHE 290 - 60% 170 F%
Dalian Tian An Seaview Garden Residential
RERRZE Y 20,820 - 100% 20820 EE
Changchun Tian An City One Commercial
RERZEE 23,340 - 50% 11,670 &%
Tianjin Tian An Intelligent Port Commercial
RERZHHES 40,090 - 50% 20050 ¥
Tianjin Tian An Cyber Park Commercial
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PARTICULARS OF PROPERTY AND HOTEL INVESTMENTS
SEES
ES BE 3L BEER
BEER BEER i £ GFA
NELE Property  CarParking Interest Held  Attributable — fi%
Property Name GFA  Space GFA by the Group  to the Group ~ Use
FIKm? FJ3Km? FJ3Km?
BEARREEY 28,000 - 50% 14000 E%
Qingdao Tian An Cyber Park Commercial
BERZHEY 2,250 - 50% 1120 %
Qingdao Tian An Cyber Park Residential
BABETL 12,880 - 59.97% 7720 %
Hong Kong Harbour Crystal Centre Commercial
EABETL 820 - 29.99% 250 EE
Hong Kong Harbour Crystal Centre Commercial
BAREIERL 24,720 - 24.99% 6180 I%
Hong Kong Harbour Industrial Centre Industrial
ERGETAML 68,910 - 24.99% 17220 I%
Hong Kong Oceanic Industrial Centre Industrial
EATREETL 2,550 - 37.49% %0 HE
Hong Kong Queen’s Centre Commercial
EEETEh) 12,470 - 37.49% 4670 T¥
Hong Kong Wah Shun Industrial Centre Industrial
BAIL+S 10,100 - 24.99% 2520  f%
Hong Kong Redhill Peninsula Residential
FAERPL 1,280 - 74.96% 970 %
Hong Kong Billion Centre Commercial
BAXE 210 - 74.96% 160 HE
Hong Kong The Wings Residential
EE%E 220 - 74.96% 160 fF%
Hong Kong Fortar Residential
EABRES 100 - 74.96% 80 fE
Hong Kong South Horizons Residential
RSB 6,050 - 100% 6,050 /&
South Place Hotel London Hotel
1,154,450 809,800
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MERBEREES

PARTICULARS OF PROPERTY AND HOTEL INVESTMENTS

SEES
IES BE 3L BEER
BEER BEER N £ GFA
NELE Property  CarParking Interest Held  Attributable — fi%
Property Name GFA  Space GFA by the Group  to the Group ~ Use
FJ3Km? FKm? FJ3Km?
FEXZRL-BE - 7,780 98% 7,620 ERE
Shanghai Tian An Centre, Car Parking Space Car Parking Space
LBRZFL-BER - 330 100% 330 EE
Shanghai Tian An Centre, Car Parking Space Car Parking Space
LERZREE-BE - 2,670 100% 2,670 BE
Shanghai Central Garden, Car Parking Space Car Parking Space
LERERRERBNAE-ER - 2,510 100% 2510 BE
Shanghai Racquet Club & Apartments, Car Parking Space
Car Parking Space
LERERRERBNAT -G 10,600 - 100% 10,600  Ff
Shanghai Racquet Club & Apartments, Clubhouse Clubhouse
BAAZERE - 3,670 - 100% 3,670 EFf
Wuxi Tian An Manhattan, Clubhouse Clubhouse
EAARETL-EE - 2,340 74.96% 1760  EE
Hong Kong Harbour Crystal Centre, Car Parking Space
Car Parking Space
14,270 15,630 29,160

Wit ERIBE -2 N\FT A= T A2 AR -

Note:The above table is based on information as of 31st December, 2018.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ARBBIRNABERZ BERERF2KFEZ
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RRA - ArREZR([EFE DHEGEERZ
CEERHARRZEYEEABRREEER
EX-

TEERTRAREEERRE

RIEFEBEXZIMERAREZ LHARA
(T LR R D M 8E+ U PRt 2 R ER <RI R
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The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance within a sensible framework with an emphasis
on the principles of transparency, accountability and independence.
The board of directors of the Company (“Board”) believes that good
corporate governance is essential to the success of the Company and
to the enhancement of shareholders’ value.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE AND CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE REPORT

In the light of the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate
Governance Report (“CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”), the Board has reviewed the
corporate governance practices of the Company with the adoption of
the various enhanced procedures which are detailed in this report.
The Company has applied the principles of, and complied with, the
applicable code provisions of the CG Code during the year ended
31st December, 2018, except for certain deviations as specified with
considered reasons for such deviations as explained below. The
Board will review the current practices at least annually, and make
appropriate changes if considered necessary.



34

Annual Report 2018

CEEABRE

TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EEg

EEgHAAA+T—RES(EEDAK - H
PRAERRPITESE  MARERTEZEROSL
REIYFFATER(BUIERITEE]) - RF
ARBERBREBHILE  EFSXE T
™

BITESE

RIGW (FIZE/E)

TR (EFARLIE)

SRR (E4EE;)

e daa

FHE
(R=F—NF—ANAEE)

FHITES
FRE(LE)
BRE

BYFHTES:
BT
£ N
B
BER

ESVREFRENESTERERSAES
TIEZ[EERSREBRABZBARR—4
NeBREFEIETUERERARAEER
REFREBEEZERI EFERBEZMEYL
BEFARBREMEARBRE -

THE BOARD

The Board currently comprises eleven directors (“Directors”) in total,
with five Executive Directors, two Non-Executive Directors and four
Independent Non-Executive Directors (“INEDs”). The composition of
the Board during the year and up to the date of this report is set out as
follows:

Executive Directors:
Song Zengbin (Deputy Chairman)
Patrick Lee Seng Wei (Managing Director)
Ma Sun (Deputy Managing Director)
Edwin Lo King Yau
Tao Tsan Sang
Lee Shu Yin
(resigned on 4th January, 2018)

Non-Executive Directors:
Lee Seng Hui (Chairman)
Moses Cheng Mo Chi

INEDs:

Francis J. Chang Chu Fai
Jin Hui Zhi

Ngai Wah Sang

Lisa Yang Lai Sum

The brief biographical details of the Directors are set out in the
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” section in
the Directors’ Report on pages 75 to 79. Other than that Mr. Lee Seng
Hui, the Chairman of the Board, is a cousin of Mr. Patrick Lee Seng
Wei, the Managing Director of the Company, there are no family or
other material relationships among members of the Board.
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THE BOARD (CONTINUED)
Board Process

During the year, the Non-Executive Directors (a majority of whom are
independent) provided the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
“Group”) with a wide range of expertise and experience. Their
active participation in the Board and committee meetings brought
independent judgement on issues relating to the Group’s strategy,
performance and management process, taking into account the
interests of all shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”).

Throughout the year and up to the date of this report, the Company
has had four INEDs representing not less than one-third of the
Board. At least one of the INEDs has the appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise under Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules. The Board has received
from each INED an annual confirmation of his/her independence and
considers that all the INEDs are independent under the guidelines set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

The Board meets regularly to discuss the overall strategy as well as
the operation and financial performance of the Group, and to review
and approve the Group’s annual and interim results and other ad
hoc matters which need to be dealt with. During the year, four Board
meetings were held and the individual attendance records of each
Director at the meetings of the Board, Remuneration Committee,
Audit Committee and general meetings during the year ended 31st
December, 2018 are set out below:
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Name of Directors

THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

Board Process (continued)

HE/ BIEEZRY

Number of meetings attended/held

RRAE

General

FHEES

Remuneration

BERZEES
Audit
Committee

Committee Meetings

YTES: Executive Directors:

RIEW(BIL/E) Song Zengbin (Deputy Chairman) 3/4 0/2
FRE(EFHLE) Patrick Lee Seng Wei (Managing Director) 4/4 0/2
B (5E#) Ma Sun (Deputy Managing Director) 3/4 0/2
B Edwin Lo King Yau 4/4 2/2
HRE Tao Tsan Sang 4/4 12
FHITES Non-Executive Directors:

ZHE(FE) Lee Seng Hui (Chairman) 4/4 2/2
HRE Moses Cheng Mo Chi 3/4 1/2 0/2
BYFHITES: INEDs:

HiEE Francis J. Chang Chu Fai 3/4 0/1 2/2 0/2
TEE Jin Hui Zhi 4/4 1/1 2/2 0/2
MEL Ngai Wah Sang 4/4 17 2/2 0/2
BB Lisa Yang Lai Sum 4/4 11 2/2 2/2
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The Board has reserved for its decision or consideration matters
covering mainly the Group’s overall strategy, annual operating
budget, annual and interim results, approval of Directors’
appointment or re-appointment (based on the recommendations
made by the Nomination Committee), material contracts and
transactions, corporate governance as well as other significant
policy and financial matters. The Board has delegated the day-to-day
responsibility to the executive management under the instruction/
supervision of the Executive Committee which has its specific
written terms of reference. The respective functions of the Board and
management of the Company have been formalised and set out in
writing and will be reviewed and updated by the Board from time
to time to ensure that they are consistent with the existing rules and
regulations.
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THE BOARD (CONTINUED)
Board Process (continued)

Regular Board meetings each year are scheduled in advance to
facilitate maximum attendance of Directors. At least 14 days’ notice
of a Board meeting is normally given to all Directors who are given
an opportunity to include matters for discussion in the agenda. The
company secretary of the Company (“Company Secretary”) assists
the Chairman of the Board in preparing the agenda for meetings
and ensures that all applicable rules and regulations are complied
with. The agenda and the accompanying Board papers are normally
sent to all Directors at least 3 days before the intended date of a
regular Board meeting (and so far as practicable for such other Board
meetings). Draft minutes of each Board meeting are circulated to
all Directors for their comment before being tabled at the following
Board meeting for approval. All minutes are kept by the Company
Secretary and are open for inspection at any reasonable time on
reasonable notice by any Director.

According to the current Board practice, if a substantial Shareholder
or a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be considered by
the Board which the Board has determined to be material, the matter
will be dealt with by the Board at a duly convened Board meeting.
The articles of association of the Company (“Articles of Association”)
also stipulate that save for the exceptions as provided therein, a
Director shall abstain from voting on any Board resolution and not
be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving any contract or
arrangement in which such Director or any of his/her close associates
has a material interest.

Every Director is entitled to have access to Board papers and related
materials and has access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary. The Board and each Director also have separate and
independent access to the Company’s senior management. Directors
will be continuously updated on the major development of the
Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements to ensure
compliance and upkeep of good corporate governance practices. In
addition, a written procedure has been established since June 2005 to
enable the Directors, in discharge of their duties, to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances at a reasonable cost
to be borne by the Company.
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EECRHEEXRR Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

EREEERRITE  EERUFEIHLEN For continuous professional development, in addition to Directors’

AARRBERERL 2 U RBRIN EEL attendance at meetings and review of papers and circulars sent by the

B EBBEWNT management of the Company, Directors participated in the activities
including the following:

SRNESRRRED
Participation in Continuous
Professional Development Activities
HRERESEMER
(Ve 1)V
RE/gE
Attending trainings/
IR E R briefings/seminars/
Reading conference relevant
Name of Directors Regulatory Updates to Directors’ duties
HITES: Executive Directors:
RIEW (FIL/E) Song Zengbin (Deputy Chairman) v/ /
KR (EELLE) Patrick Lee Seng Wei (Managing Director) / g
SR (F#E3) Ma Sun (Deputy Managing Director) v/ v
Eib=y Edwin Lo King Yau v v
&4+ Tao Tsan Sang / v/
FRTES Non-Executive Directors:
FRE(ZE) Lee Seng Hui (Chairman) v/ /
YR Moses Cheng Mo Chi v v
BUFHTEE INEDs:
(6= Francis J. Chang Chu Fai J /
£BE Jin Hui Zhi v v
mes Ngai Wah Sang v/ v/
BB Lisa Yang Lai Sum / /
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THE BOARD (CONTINUED)
Board Diversity

The Company has adopted the board diversity policy in December
2013 which sets out the objectives and principles regarding board
diversity for the purpose of achieving the Company’s strategic
objectives of balanced diversity at the Board as far as practicable.
Board appointments will be based on merit and candidates will be
considered against measurable objectives, taking into account the
Company’s business and needs.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity criteria,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, knowledge, professional experience and skills. The
ultimate decision will be based on merit and the contribution that the
selected candidates may bring to the Board.

ROLES OF CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive (“CE”) should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Lee Seng Hui, being the
Chairman of the Board, is primarily responsible for the leadership of
the Board, ensuring that (i) all significant policy issues are discussed
by the Board in a timely and constructive manner; (ii) all Directors
are properly briefed on issues arising at Board meetings; and (iii)
the Directors receive accurate, timely and clear information. The
functions of the CE are performed by Mr. Patrick Lee Seng Wei, the
Managing Director of the Company, who is responsible for the day-
to-day management of the Group’s business. Their responsibilities are
clearly segregated and have been set out in writing and approved by
the Board in June 2005, and subsequently updated in April 2012 and
January 2019.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee include the
nomination procedure specifying the process and criteria for the
selection and recommendation of candidates for directorship of the
Company.

Every newly appointed Director will receive an induction package
from the Company Secretary on the first occasion of his/her
appointment. This induction package is a comprehensive, formal and
tailored induction on the responsibilities and on-going obligations
to be observed by a director pursuant to the Companies Ordinance,
Listing Rules and Securities and Futures Ordinance. In addition, this
induction package includes materials briefly describing the operations
and business of the Company, the latest published financial reports
of the Company and the documentation for the corporate governance
practices adopted by the Board. Directors will be continuously
updated on any major developments of the Listing Rules and other
applicable regulatory requirements to ensure compliance and upkeep
of good corporate governance practices.

All Non-Executive Directors (including INEDs) of the Company were
appointed for a specific term, but subject to the relevant provisions
of the Articles of Association or any other applicable laws whereby
the Directors shall vacate or retire from their office but eligible
for re-election. The term of appointment of the Non-Executive
Directors (including INEDs) has been renewed for further two years
commencing from 1st January, 2019.

According to the Articles of Association, at each annual general
meeting of the Company (“AGM”), one-third of the Directors for
the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the
number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office
by rotation. Further, any Director appointed by the Board to fill a
casual vacancy shall hold office only until the next following general
meeting of the Company whilst for those appointed as an addition
to the Board shall hold office until the next following AGM and in
both cases, those Directors shall then be eligible for re-election at
the relevant meeting. Every Director shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is responsible for performing corporate governance duties
and has adopted the written terms of reference on its corporate
governance functions in April 2012.

The duties of the Board in respect of the corporate governance
functions include:

(i) developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance;

(i) reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management;

(iii) reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(iv) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

(v) reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

In 2018 and up to the date of this report, the Board has performed
the corporate governance duties in accordance with its terms of
reference.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established various committees, including a
Nomination Committee, a Remuneration Committee, an Audit
Committee and an Executive Committee, each of which has
its specific written terms of reference. Copies of minutes of all
meetings and resolutions of the committees, which are kept by
the Company Secretary, are circulated to all Board members and
the committees are required to report back to the Board on their
decisions and recommendations where appropriate. The procedures
and arrangements for a Board meeting, as mentioned in the section
headed “The Board” of this report, have been adopted for the
committee meetings so far as practicable.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)
Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee has been established since March 2012
and is chaired by an INED and comprises a majority of INEDs.
Currently, the Nomination Committee consists of five members,
including Ms. Lisa Yang Lai Sum (Chairman of the Nomination
Committee), Mr. Francis J. Chang Chu Fai, Mr. Jin Hui Zhi and Mr.
Ngai Wah Sang, all being the INEDs, and Mr. Edwin Lo King Yau,
being an Executive Director. The Nomination Committee is provided
with sufficient resources to discharge its duties and has access
to independent professional advice according to the Company’s
policy if considered necessary. The major roles and functions of the
Nomination Committee are included in its terms of reference, which
are available on the websites of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“Stock Exchange”) and the Company.

The Nomination Committee has formulated and set out the
nomination policy (“Nomination Policy”) in its terms of reference. The
objective of the Nomination Policy is to ensure that the Board has a
balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate
to the requirements of the Company’s business. To ensure changes to
the Board composition can be managed without undue disruption, a
formal, considered and transparent procedure is in place for selection,
appointment and re-appointment of Directors, as well as plans in
place for orderly succession (if considered necessary), including
periodical review of such plans. The appointment of a new Director
(to be an additional Director or fill a casual vacancy as and when it
arises) or any re-appointment of Directors is a matter for decision by
the Board upon the recommendation of the proposed candidate by
the Nomination Committee.

The criteria to be applied in considering whether a candidate is
qualified shall be his or her ability to devote sufficient time and
attention to the affairs of the Company and contribute to the diversity
of the Board as well as the effective carrying out by the Board of
the responsibilities. Further details of the selection criteria and the
procedure are set out in the terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee which are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)
Nomination Committee (continued)

The Nomination Committee will meet as and when necessary in
accordance with its terms of reference and may also deal with matters
by way of circulation. In 2018, no Nomination Committee meeting
was held while the Nomination Committee dealt with matters by
way of circulation. In 2018 and up to the date of this report, the
Nomination Committee performed the works as summarised below:

(i) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the
proposed resolutions for re-election of the retiring Directors at
2018 AGM and 2019 AGM;

(ii) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the renewal
of the terms of appointment of the Non-Executive Directors
(including the INEDs) for two years commencing from 1st January,
2019;

(iii

=

reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity of the
Board and assessed the independence of each INED; and

=

(iv) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the revised
terms of reference of the Nomination Committee for the relevant
amendments to the revised CG Code effective on Tst January,

2019.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)
Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee has been established since June 2005
and currently consists of four members, including Mr. Francis J. Chang
Chu Fai (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee), Mr. Jin Hui Zhi,
Mr. Ngai Wah Sang and Ms. Lisa Yang Lai Sum, all being the INEDs.
The Remuneration Committee is provided with sufficient resources
to discharge its duties and has access to independent professional
advice according to the Company’s policy if considered necessary.
The major roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee are
included in its terms of reference, which are available on the websites
of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are in
compliance with the code provision B.1.2 of the CG Code, but with a
deviation from the code provision that the Remuneration Committee
shall make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of the Executive Directors only and not senior management
(as opposed to executive directors and senior management under the
code provision). The reasons for the above deviation are summarised
as below:

(i) the Board believes that the Remuneration Committee is not
properly in a position to evaluate the performance of senior
management and that this evaluation process is more effectively
carried out by the Executive Directors;

(ii) the Executive Directors must be in a position to supervise and

control senior management and thus must be able to control their
compensation; and

(iii

=

there is no reason for Executive Directors to pay senior
management more than industry standards and thus Shareholders
will benefit by reducing costs in the fixing of such compensation
packages.

The Remuneration Committee shall meet at least once a year in
accordance with its terms of reference. One Remuneration Committee
meeting was held in 2018 and the attendance of each member is set
out in the section headed “The Board” of this report.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)
Remuneration Committee (continued)

In addition to the Remuneration Committee meeting, the
Remuneration Committee also dealt with matters by way of
circulation during 2018. In 2018 and up to the date of this report, the
Remuneration Committee performed the works as summarised below:

(i) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the existing
policy and structure for the remuneration of Directors;

(ii) reviewed the remuneration packages of all the Executive and
Non-Executive Directors (including the INEDs) for the year ended

31st December, 2017;

(iii

reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the bonus
for the year ended 31st December, 2017, the increment in salary
for the year 2018 of the Executive Directors and the increment in
service fees of the INEDs from the year 2019 onwards;

=

reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the
Directors’ fee for the year 2018;

(iv

(v) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the bonus
for the year ended 31st December, 2017 of the former director;
and

=

(vi) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the renewal

of the employment contract of the Managing Director.

Each Director will be entitled to a Director’s fee. Further remuneration
payable to Directors (including any service fees of the INEDs) for their
additional responsibilities and services will depend on their respective
contractual terms under their employment contracts or service
contracts as approved by the Board on the recommendation of the
Remuneration Committee. Details of the Directors’ remuneration are
set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements whereas
detailed changes in the emoluments of certain Directors during the
interim period and up to the date of the Interim Report were also
disclosed in the Interim Report of the Company dated 17th August,
2018. Details of the remuneration policy of the Group are also set out
in the “Employee and Training” section contained in the Directors’
Report on page 93.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)
Audit Committee

The Audit Committee has been established since November 1999 and
currently consists of five Non-Executive Directors, four of whom are
INEDs. To retain independence and objectivity, the Audit Committee
is chaired by an INED with appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise. The current
members of the Audit Committee are Mr. Ngai Wah Sang (Chairman
of the Audit Committee), Mr. Francis J. Chang Chu Fai, Dr. Moses
Cheng Mo Chi, Mr. Jin Hui Zhi and Ms. Lisa Yang Lai Sum. The
Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources to discharge its
duties and has access to independent professional advice according
to the Company’s policy if considered necessary. The major roles
and functions of the Audit Committee are included in its terms of
reference, which are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are revised from time
to time to comply with the code provision C.3.3 of the CG Code,
but with deviations from the code provision of the audit committee’s
responsibility to:

(i) implement policy on the engagement of the external auditors to
supply non-audit services;

(ii) ensure the management has performed its duty to have effective
risk management and internal control systems; and

ensure co-ordination between the internal and external auditors,

(iii

=

and ensure that the internal audit function is adequately resourced
and has appropriate standing within the listed company.

The Board considers that the Audit Committee shall recommend (as
opposed to implement under the code provision) the policy on the
engagement of the external auditors to supply non-audit services for
the following reasons:

(i) it is proper and appropriate for the Board and its committees to
develop policy and make appropriate recommendations;

(ii) the proper and appropriate mechanism for implementation of
such policy and recommendations is through the Executive
Directors and management; and

(iii) INEDs are not in an effective position to implement policy and
follow up the same on a day-to-day basis.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)
Audit Committee (continued)

Further, the Board considers that the Audit Committee only possesses
the effective ability to scrutinise (as opposed to ensure under the
code provision) whether management has performed its duty to have
effective risk management and internal control systems. The Audit
Committee is not equipped to ensure that the same is in place as
this would involve day-to-day supervision and the employment of
permanent experts. The Audit Committee is not in a position either
to ensure co-ordination between the internal and external auditors
but it can promote the same. Similarly, the Audit Committee is not
in a position to ensure that the internal audit function is adequately
resourced but it can check whether it is adequately resourced.

The Audit Committee shall meet at least twice a year in accordance
with its terms of reference. Two Audit Committee meetings were held
in 2018 and the attendance of each member is set out in the section
headed “The Board” of this report.

In addition to the Audit Committee meetings, the Audit Committee
also dealt with matters by way of circulation during 2018. In 2018
and up to the date of this report, the Audit Committee performed the
works as summarised below:

(i) reviewed and approved the audit scope and fees proposed by the
external auditor in respect of the final audit for the year ended
31st December, 2017 (“2017 Final Audit”), the interim results
review for the six months ended 30th June, 2018 (“2018 Interim
Review”) and the final audit for the year ended 31st December,
2018 (“2018 Final Audit”) of the Group;

(ii) reviewed the independent review report/audit completion report
from the external auditor and the management’s response in
relation to 2017 Final Audit, 2018 Interim Review and 2018 Final
Audit;

(iii

=

reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the
financial reports for the year ended 31st December, 2017, for
the six months ended 30th June, 2018 and for the year ended
31st December, 2018 together with the relevant management
representation letters and announcements;
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)
Audit Committee (continued)

(iv) reviewed the internal audit plan and internal audit review
reports prepared by the Internal Audit Function of the Group (“IA
Function”);

(v) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the updated
reports on substantiation of the resources, qualifications and
experience of staff of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and
financial reporting functions, and their training programmes and

budget;

reviewed and recommended for the Board’s annual review the
Whistle Blower Policy, Procedures for the Identification and
Monitoring of Connected Transactions, Related Party Transaction
Policies and Procedures, Policy on the Disclosure of Inside

=

(vi

Information and Policy on Risk Management, Compliance and
Internal Control Procedures;

(vii)reviewed and recommended for the Board’s annual review the
Group's risk management and internal control systems; and

(viii) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the revised
Whistle Blower Policy.

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee has been established since February 2004
and currently consists of five members, including Messrs. Patrick Lee
Seng Wei (Chairman of the Executive Committee), Ma Sun, Edwin
Lo King Yau and Tao Tsan Sang, all being Executive Directors, and
Mr. Chew Chee Choong, being the Group Chief Operating Officer
appointed in January 2019. The Executive Committee is vested with
all the general powers of management and control of the activities of
the Group as are vested in the Board, save for those matters which are
reserved for the Board’s decision and approval pursuant to the written
terms of reference of the Executive Committee. The terms of reference
of the Executive Committee were revised in March 2008 following
the adoption of the Whistle Blower Policy by the Company, and
subsequently updated in December 2018.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)
Executive Committee (continued)

The Executive Committee will meet as and when necessary to discuss
the operating affairs of the Group and may also deal with matters by
way of circulation. The Executive Committee is mainly responsible
for undertaking and supervising the day-to-day management and is
empowered:

(i) to formulate and implement policies for the business activities,
internal control and administration of the Group; and

(ii) to plan and decide on strategies to be adopted for the business
activities of the Group within the overall strategy of the Group as
determined by the Board.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Cindy Yung Yee Mei is the Company Secretary of the Company.
All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary. The Company Secretary reports to the Chairman on board
governance matters, and is responsible for ensuring that Board
procedures are followed and for facilitating communications among
Directors as well as with the Shareholders and management.

Ms. Yung is an associate of The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators and The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries.
During the year, Ms. Yung undertook over 15 hours of relevant
professional training to update her skills and knowledge.

CODES FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS AND RELEVANT EMPLOYEES

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules as its code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors. All Directors have confirmed, following
a specific enquiry by the Company, that they have complied with the
required standard as set out in the Model Code.

The Company has also adopted the Model Code as the Code for
Securities Transactions by Relevant Employees to regulate dealings in
the securities of the Company by certain employees of the Company
or any of its subsidiaries who are considered to be likely in possession
of inside information in relation to the Company or its securities.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing,
with the support from the Finance Department, the consolidated
financial statements of the Group. In preparing the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31st December, 2018, the
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong have been
adopted and the requirements of the Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (which also include Hong Kong Accounting Standards and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance were complied with. The Directors believe
that they have selected suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently, and made judgements and estimates that are prudent
and reasonable and have ensured that the consolidated financial
statements are prepared on a going concern basis.

The reporting responsibilities of the Company’s external auditor,
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, are set out in the Independent Auditor’s
Report on pages 95 to 102.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board has the responsibility to review annually the effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems covering
all material controls, including financial, operational and compliance
controls. In 2018, the Board, through the Audit Committee, had
reviewed the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience
of staff of the Company’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting functions, and their training programmes and budget.

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems are
designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against
material misstatement or loss; to manage rather than completely
eliminate the risk of system failure; and to assist in the achievement
of the Group’s agreed objectives and goals. They have a key role
in the management of risks that are significant to the fulfilment of
business objectives. In addition, they should provide a basis for
the maintenance of proper accounting records and assist in the
compliance with relevant laws and regulations.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (CONTINUED)
Risk Management and Internal Control (continued)

Systems and procedures are put in place to identify, evaluate and
manage the risks of different businesses and activities. The annual
assessment is performed through the completion by the relevant
business units and department heads of their respective responsibility
statements as co-ordinated by the IA Function. The result and findings
are reported to the Chairman of Executive Committee who puts
forward the same to the Audit Committee and the Board for review on
the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems,
which have been considered effective and adequate.

A discussion of the policies and procedures on the management of
each of the major types of risk which the Group is facing is included
in note 49b to the consolidated financial statements and under the
“Principal Risks and Uncertainties” section contained in the Directors’
Report on pages 70 and 71.

Internal Audit

The Acting Head of IA Function reports to the Chairman of the Board
and the Audit Committee. The IA Function generally carries out the
analysis and independent appraisal of the adequacy and effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems.

The internal audit plan and internal audit review reports were
prepared by the IA Function and issued to the Audit Committee and
the Board for review.

Policy on Disclosure of Inside Information

The Board has adopted the Policy on the Disclosure of Inside
Information (“Policy”) effective on Tst January, 2013 with respect
to the procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information. The Policy sets out guidelines
and procedures to the Directors and relevant officers of the Group
to ensure inside information of the Group is to be disseminated to
the public on an equal basis and in timely manner. Directors and
relevant officers in possession of potential inside information and/or
inside information are required to take reasonable measures to ensure
that proper safeguards are in place to preserve strict confidentiality
of inside information and to ensure that its recipients recognise their
obligations to maintain the information confidential. The Policy shall
be updated and revised as and when necessary in light of changes
in circumstances and changes in the Listing Rules, Part XIVA of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance and relevant statutory and
regulatory requirements from time to time.



52 TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED

Annual Report 2018

A W =
m%%/n %

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BEREH @
SR BET 2 B &

RER » EXNFAKESNSZBED 2 Bl 5
FIEAR

A K MR R

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (CONTINUED)
External Auditor’s Remuneration

During the year, the remuneration paid to the Group’s external
auditor is set out as follows:
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Services rendered for the Group FAT
HK$’000

Audit services 4,893
Non-audit services (including review of

compliance of Occupational Retirement

Scheme Ordinance and review of interim

results, continuing connected transactions

and working capital forecast) 1,407
Total 6,300

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognises the importance of good communication with
Shareholders. Information in relation to the Group is disseminated
to Shareholders in a timely manner through a number of formal
channels, which include interim and annual reports, announcements
and circulars. Such published documents together with the latest
corporate information and news are also made available on the
website of the Company.

The Company’s AGM is a valuable forum for the Board to
communicate directly with Shareholders. The Chairman actively
participates at the AGM and personally chairs the meeting to
answer any questions from Shareholders. The chairmen of the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee
or in their absence, another member of the respective committees
or failing that their respective duly appointed delegate, are also
available to answer questions at the AGM. The chairman of any
independent board committee formed as necessary or pursuant to the
Listing Rules (or if no such chairman is appointed, at least a member
of the independent board committee) should also be available to
answer questions at any general meeting of Shareholders to approve
a connected transaction or any other transaction that is subject to
independent Shareholders’ approval.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS (CONTINUED)

During the year, the 2018 AGM was held on 23rd May, 2018.
The attendance record of the Directors at the 2018 AGM and the
extraordinary general meeting held on 14th September, 2018 is set
out in the section headed “The Board” of this report.

Separate resolutions are proposed at the general meetings for each
substantial issue, including the re-election of retiring Directors.

The notice to Shareholders is to be sent in the case of AGM at least 20
clear business days before the meeting and to be sent at least 10 clear
business days in case of all other general meetings. An explanation
of the detailed procedures of conducting a poll is provided to the
Shareholders at the commencement of the meeting. The Chairman
answers questions from Shareholders regarding voting by way of a
poll. The poll results are published in the manner prescribed under
the requirements of the Listing Rules.

Shareholder(s) representing at least 5% of the total voting rights of all
Shareholders having a right to vote at general meetings as at the date
of deposit of the requisition can request the Directors to convene an
extraordinary general meeting (“EGM”) by sending a written request
to the registered office of the Company (“Registered Office”). Such
requisition must state the general nature of the business to be dealt
with at the EGM and must be authenticated by the person or persons
making it. Besides, Shareholders may make a proposal (“Proposal”) at
a Shareholders’ meeting by submitting it in written form to the Board
at the Registered Office in accordance with the Companies Ordinance
and the Articles of Association where applicable. The Proposal shall
be in the form of a proposed resolution, which shall clearly and
concisely set out the Proposal for discussion and be relevant to the
Company’s business scope.

The Board has established a shareholders’ communication policy
in April 2012, and subsequently updated in December 2015. A
Shareholder may serve an enquiry to the Board at the Registered
Office for the attention of the Board in written form, which shall state
the nature of the enquiry and the reason for making the enquiry.
In addition, Shareholders can contact Tricor Secretaries Limited,
the share registrar of the Company, for any questions about their
shareholdings.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted the Dividend Policy effective on 1st January,
2019. The Company’s Dividend Policy aims at providing reasonable
and sustainable returns to its Shareholders whilst maintaining a
position of financial stability which allows the Company to take
advantage of any investment and expansion opportunities that may
arise from time to time.

The Board may declare or propose dividends on an annual basis and/
or may declare interim dividends or special dividends. Proposal or
declaration of dividends by the Board is subject to consideration
of the Company’s and the Group’s operating results, accumulated
and future earnings, gearing, liquidity position, capital commitment
requirement and future expansion plan as well as general economic
conditions and external factors that may have impact on the financial
performance and position of the Company and the Group. In addition,
as the Company is a holding company, the Board will also consider
the dividends received from its subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures as the ability to pay dividends by the Company is dependent
on the dividends received from those subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures.

The Board will regularly review the dividend policy and will amend
and/or modify the dividend policy if necessary.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE ENHANCEMENT

Enhancing corporate governance is not simply a matter of applying
and complying with the CG Code of the Stock Exchange but also
about promoting and developing an ethical and healthy corporate
culture. We will continue to review and, where appropriate, improve
our current practices on the basis of our experience, regulatory
changes and developments. Any views and suggestions from our
Shareholders to promote and improve our transparency are also
welcome.

On behalf of the Board

Lee Seng Hui
Chairman

Hong Kong, 15th March, 2019
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APPROACH AND STRATEGY

Tian An China Investments Company Limited (“Company”) believes in
delivering long term, sustainable value creation to our shareholders.
In doing so, we recognise that the choices we make will have an
impact on the communities in which we carry on our business and
we should make such impact a positive one. The Company has
adopted a Sustainability Policy which covers our principles in the
area of employment and labour practices, business integrity, the
environment and the community and we shall endeavour to embrace
these principles as part of our practice and governance to contribute
to the sustainable development of society and the environment.

The board of directors of the Company (“Board”) has overall
responsibility for the Company’s strategy and reporting in respect
of Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) issues and has
reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems, which are put in place to identify, evaluate
and manage the risks of different businesses and activities, including
the ESG-related risks. Based upon the assessments made by the
Company’s senior management, subsidiaries’ respective management
and the external auditors, the Board considered that such systems are
effective and adequate.

This report outlines the Group’s sustainability initiatives and selected
Key Performance Indicators (“KP1”) that are material to the Group
and its stakeholders on ESG issues for the year ended 31st December,
2018. This report supplements information disclosed elsewhere in this
annual report, and was approved by the Board on 15th March, 2019.

REPORTING SCOPE

The subject areas and aspects are presented based on the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide” (“ESG
Guide”) as set out in Appendix 27 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock
Exchange”).
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT AND STAKEHOLDER
ENGAGEMENT

Amongst various environmental and social issues based on the
ESG Guide within the scope of sustainability, the below are the
list of issues that are considered to be material and relevant to the
Group. The priorities are set based on management’s view as well as
conclusions from stakeholders” engagement. We regularly engage key
stakeholders in daily operations through meetings, events, and other
communications and feedback channels. A survey was conducted
with a sampling of staff selected from various departments and project
managers to understand their specific views on the relevance and
materiality of various ESG aspects. Based on management’s assessment
as well as the survey results, the aspects and KPIs relevant for this
report’s disclosure are set out as follows:

Material and relevant issues

Supply chain management (Aspect B5) general disclosure, KPI B5.2
Product responsibility (Aspect B6) general disclosure, KPI B6.4, B6.5
Anti-corruption (Aspect B7) general disclosure, KPI B7.2

Other relevant issues

Emissions (Aspect A1) general disclosure, KPl A1.1, A1.5, A1.6

Use of resources (Aspect A2) general disclosure, KPI A2.1, A2.3

The environment and natural resources (Aspect A3) general
disclosure, KPI A3.1

Employment (Aspect B1) general disclosure, KPI B1.1

Health and safety (Aspect B2) general disclosure

Development and training (Aspect B3) general disclosure, KPI B3.1,
B3.2

Labour standards (Aspect B4) general disclosure

Community investment (Aspect B8) general disclosure, KPl B8.1, B8.2
All other aspects of KPI not mentioned above were concluded to be

not relevant for disclosure.

The following ESG issues are presented based on the classification of
provisions by the Stock Exchange’s ESG Guide.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES

The Group’s Sustainability Policy encompasses our general approach
towards environmental issues. We endeavour to:

— observe relevant laws and regulations and aim to go beyond
minimum requirements;

— prevent/minimise air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges
into water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste;

— make efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other
raw materials;

— minimise the impact of the Group’s activities on the environment
and natural resources; and

- engage our staff, customers and partners to promote
environmentally sustainable business practices and constantly
re-assess our processes to minimise environmental impact.

The Group’s principal business activities are the development of
apartments, villas, office buildings and commercial properties,
property investment and property management in Mainland China, as
well as property investment and property management in Hong Kong.
The construction-related works for our property development projects
are outsourced to independent contractors who are subject to various
relevant environmental laws and regulations, including those relating
to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land,
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste, efficient use of
energy, water and other raw materials, noise pollution control, air
pollution control, water pollution control, sewage drainage system
and waste treatment. We work closely with our contractors to achieve
creative, elegant and green designs while being compatible and
sensitive to our environmental and social responsibilities.

This report does not include the disclosure of all the environmental
KPIs as they are not considered material or relevant as a conclusion of
our stakeholders” engagement as well as management’s view. Instead,
we have discussed our general approach and effort to reduce the
Group’s environmental footprint in various aspects.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES (CONTINUED)
Emissions (Aspect A1)

The Group is not involved in any manufacturing activities and direct
participating in construction works. Emissions produced directly
by the Group only related to the 75 (2017: 73) executive passenger
vehicles in Hong Kong and Mainland China. These are used for senior
staff’s local travel only as well as for entertainment. It is therefore that
the scale and usage are immaterial given the size of the Group’s assets
and staff.

Except for the emissions, hazardous and non-hazardous wastes
generated by our engaged contractors, which will be subject to their
own environmental statistics and management, the other emissions
produced by our direct businesses are mostly on a “second degree”
basis as incurred during occasional business travels which is
infrequent and the hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are also very
rarely produced by our office operations.

For the property development business, we keep track of the relevant
national and regional laws and regulations, such as the Environmental
Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Law of the
People’s Republic of China on Environmental Impact Assessment, the
Ambient Air Quality Standards of the People’s Republic of China, the
Environmental Quality Standard for Noise of the People’s Republic of
China, etc. The Group strictly monitors and supervises our contractors
to go beyond the minimum requirements of the relevant laws and
regulations and avoid the violation made in our projects. During
2018, the Company has no material violation of the relevant laws and
regulations in relation to above environmental aspects.

The activities of the property investment and property management
businesses are mostly carried out locally in project offices in Mainland
China and Hong Kong. In line with our policy to minimise air and
greenhouse gas emissions, the offices in most cities are equipped with
video conferencing facilities to minimise the need for face to face
meetings and keep business travelling to a minimum. Only a small
percentage of employees travel for business is noted. There are no
relevant laws and regulations applicable to our business on this aspect.



BRE #HEREAERS

KL EREARRAR
2018F %,

59

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

BEREA(BHEA2) K
BRERRAARER(EBHEHA3)

HAIE BRI — R 51 AN BB BT BUR R AR Fr LASR
SEFEE(BIEER - KERAAR)HIWEE © B
RAEEHEAF,429(ZZF—+4F : 1,980) %8
T BfEEASENRAR  AEIERZ
EER BMPEEEREFRRERIERIE

FE FKEXTEEHETIXEBEATEZ
HFE - MARBM EBLTERK -

BRANEE MR B 2 IR (RE S| B A
EHEAIBEREEEREE TEM - Fln - 12
2B TR TIE » Rk o H 3% A B R R pME(A
AJREZ A BEF A R R RE - MRTRE
BB SRR AESREAER KR T
—N\F AEBEZBEREENAE24(ZF—F
F:314)BBETER -

B-ZE-WFE+ AR AEERHRAKERE
REREFEXHETRR  REHARZE
B RFARRIEZERELERERAET
KENWMLERMGEXMN  URSEFEN

AEERNDERATEBRE - SMEFTRE R
AR

— BFRITEE
— WRAERBELAMZEWEE K&

— ABETIRERRBETA -

A. ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES (CONTINUED)

Use of Resources (Aspect A2) and
The Environment and Natural Resources (Aspect A3)

We have adopted a series of internal control policies and procedures
to enhance the efficiency in consumption of resources including
energy, water and paper. With 1,429 (2017: 1,980) staff across the
Group, we consume considerable amounts of electricity and paper
and with the efficient use of such, we hope to minimise our impact on
the environment whilst we grow our businesses. Water consumption
is not material to our business as it relates mainly to the personal
consumption of our staff or for their personal hygiene.

Environmental protection guidelines in relation to energy savings and
reduction in paper consumption are circulated to all staff at head
office and project offices. For instance, staff are reminded to switch
off lights and equipment after work, during lunch break or during
the time working outside the office and wherever possible. Energy
efficient office equipment is always preferred in making purchase
decisions. During 2018, the Group’s total electricity consumption was
approximately 32.4 (2017: 31.4) million kWh.

Since December 2014, electronic board paper systems have been
promoted and implemented throughout the Group, allowing our
directors of the Company to access meeting papers online anytime,
anywhere with the use of portable electronic devices, improving

Board efficiency whilst saving papers.

Throughout the Group, the following business processes were
implemented to improve efficiency and to reduce paper usage:

— electronic bank statements;
— recycling schemes of office equipments and supplies; and

— internal electronic administration and communication platform.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES (CONTINUED)

Use of Resources (Aspect A2) and
The Environment and Natural Resources (Aspect A3)
(continued)

For the property development business, the Group encourages and

implements the green design by strictly control the contractors to

implement various environmental protection management measures.
The contractors are requested to comply with the relevant laws and
regulations and are required to:

sprinkle the construction sites regularly to reduce the dust raising;
wash the cars and trucks when entry in and out the sites;

install temporary noise barriers and strictly follow operation
hours;

build waste water collection pipes and pools to collect household
and construction waste water and ensure that hazardous waste
water is properly discharged;

separate recyclable and non-recyclable construction wastes and
ensure they are properly treated; and

request to use energy saving systems and facilities, such as
solar panel, LED light, electric sensor system, double layer glass
window, external wall with thermal insulating material and
natural lighting concept, etc, in order to meet our green design
idea.



KL EREARRAR
20184 %

BRE #HEREAERS

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

A RIEZRE #) A. ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES (CONTINUED)
ERER(BEA2) R Use of Resources (Aspect A2) and
RERRARER(EHEA3) The Environment and Natural Resources (Aspect A3)
(&) (continued)

IMEREEMEERFZHME - BRARR
LENBETEPEREEZERNAR EE
REM

ZERRBE These include:
— HEERIEFERAKIGESMR - LEERFEE -  use of solar panels on the roof top to generate clean energy in
IRSIRELE supporting operation;

i

- RERRES ETNMERAREPHEERAR -

61

For the property investment and property management businesses,
eco-friendly options are often considered and where possible/
appropriate are implemented in operations and maintenance works.

install sensors to turn off lighting and air-conditioning

Z=5 automatically when not in use;

— FLEDEREFEEE - replace energy wasting lights with LED lights;

— FHARERRAMRCEERER - LURD use of double layer glass window for better thermos-insulating
BEREAE effects to reduce energy consumption;

BFERE B BAENETRIFTRE

EERUEMERIWAE  LBEBHRMNE
TREPZEMDIEREH &

use of reclaimed water for toilet flushing where appropriate;

place the recycling bins in the prominent place to encourage
waste separation awareness amongst our staff and customer; and

— THBRERE  THRKERS  BHLEX check the lighting, air-conditioning and water pipe systems
REIRZITK ° regularly to prevent the lost of natural resources.
Br Fat BN NEEZ EFBERBRRAEIR  Except for the abovementioned, the Group’s business has no direct

WEEETE

impact on the environment and natural resources.
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B. SOCIAL ISSUES

Employment, Health and Safety and Labour Standards
(Aspects B1, B2, B4)

The Company is substantially an investment holding company and
with subsidiaries involve in the development of apartments, villas,
office buildings and commercial properties, property investment
and property management in Mainland China, as well as property
investment and property management in Hong Kong. Our people are
our most important assets that drive the long term development and
sustainability of the Company. The Group’s policy on employment is
as follows:

— observing relevant laws and regulations;

— being an equal-opportunity employer, implementing fair
practices relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment
and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity,
diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare for
our staff;

— providing a safe, healthy and quality workplace and protecting
employees from occupational hazards;

—  promoting a good work-life balance for staff;
— investing in training and professional development of our staff
for the purpose of improving their knowledge and skills for

discharging duties at work;

- maintaining an open dialogue with our staff, facilitating a
transparent two-way communication; and

- preventing child and forced labour.
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B. SOCIAL ISSUES (CONTINUED)

Employment, Health and Safety and Labour Standards
(Aspects B1, B2, B4) (continued)

In Mainland China, staff employment is subject to the Labour Law of
the People’s Republic of China and the Labour Contract Law of the
People’s Republic of China. In Hong Kong, the Group’s employment
of staff is subject to the Employment Ordinance, the Minimum Wage
Ordinance, as well as the Employee’s Compensation Ordinance.
The Group has no known non-compliance with the above relevant
regulations.

Our compensation and benefits (including working hours, rest
periods, welfare) need to be competitive with other peers in the
similar sectors and in general exceeds the minimum as required by
the relevant regulations. Owing to the nature of our businesses, work
related injuries, occupational health issues and the incurrence of
child labour are not significant risk factors.

Further information on the Group’s human resources is also detailed
in the section headed “Directors’ Report” on page 93 of this annual
report.

The Group endeavours to provide a safe and pleasant working
environment for our staff. On top of this, well-being programs such
as those promoting a good work-life balance are regularly offered to
staff.

As at 31st December, 2018, the Group employs a total of 1,429 (2017:
1,980) staff in Mainland China, Hong Kong and Australia.

Number of staff breakdown

RURE D
By Gender

2018

21 Female
W 51 Male
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Employment, Health and Safety and Labour Standards
(ETHB1 > B2~ B4)(#)

(Aspects B1, B2, B4) (continued)

BRERAR B
By Age Group
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B. SOCIAL ISSUES (CONTINUED)
Development and Training (Aspect B3)

The Group is committed to fostering a culture of continuous learning
in our organisation. Heavy emphasis is placed on staff training which
is tailored to equip our workforce with the necessary knowledge
and skills relevant for their work, as well as to build our talent pool.
Management is involved, together with professional trainers, in
designing training programmes to meet the demands of the workplace.
Training content and topics are set to cover the key aspects of our
operations. Management development initiatives currently include
courses on the second language training, prevention of bribery,
bankruptcy laws, data privacy, technical skills, debt collection skills,
product knowledge, computer skills, customer service techniques,
communication and complaints handling. Workshops for managerial
and supervisory staff are provided and are intended to enhance our
employees’ career development. There are also workshops specifically
for managerial staff on career development, team building and people
management skills.

On top of internal training, the Group also provides a study subsidy
for staff to advance their education outside of office works. During
2018, staff training across the Group amounted to 3,661 (2017: 8,187)
hours in total.

Training hours breakdown

g dalE )
By Gender

2018

46%
2Z1% Female
B 3t Male
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B. SOCIAL ISSUES (CONTINUED)
Development and Training (Aspect B3) (continued)

Training hours breakdown (continued)

RERB D
By Grade

2018

—#ZB T General staff

B EIEEE T Managerial staff

66%

Supply Chain Management (Aspect B5)

The Group’s main business suppliers include designers, contractors,
constructors, construction material suppliers, sales and leasing
agents, services providers, providers of information technology and
communication, legal and other business services as well as vendors
for office supplies. Their prices, suitability and reputation are the
main factors in engagement and procurement decision making.

The Group only engages local contractors with possession of relevant
qualification in relevant aspect and level of the construction works.
At least three independent potential contractors and suppliers
would make or be invited to make the tender for site projects and
we conduct tendering procedures on the assessment and selection.
We have well defined policies on selecting of suitable contractors
and suppliers by checking their registered licenses, qualification
level, relevant experience and our project size. Those contractors
and suppliers are selected carefully based on track record of good
practices, reputation and are subject to benchmarking, audits and
rotation.
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B. SOCIAL ISSUES (CONTINUED)
Supply Chain Management (Aspect B5) (continued)

In order to ensure the quality of the construction works, products
and services supply, our construction as well as products and
services supply contracts typically contain warranties for quality and
completion time. The contractors are also responsible to supervise
and monitor the construction works seriously. Our engineering
department regulates and monitors the cost control and construction
progress closely during construction with periodic on-site inspection
and stringent quality control procedures. The suppliers are required
to be evaluated and screened by the Group based on established
procedures for the quality of products and services as prescribed
by the contracts. We also set out provisions to the contractors and
suppliers for occupational safety, good environmental practices and
social responsibility and ensure they have no violation of the relevant
laws and regulations of Mainland China.

Product Responsibility (Aspect B6)

For the property development business in Mainland China, our
projects follow the relevant guidelines, laws and regulations
on property quality announced by the provincial and Central
governments. Our project engineers regularly inspect the building
materials and construction works so as to ensure the constructors
strictly abide by the relevant national laws and regulations to
construct reasonable quality and safety building and meet the
acceptable reliability level. During 2018, there were no known cases
of non-compliance with the above laws or regulations.

For the property rental and management services, the Group
enhances our facilities and equipment to improve service quality. We
endeavour to maintain a close relationship with our customer and
pursue customer satisfaction.

Owing to the nature of the property development business where
a high price product is involved, reputational risk monitoring and
preventions are of utmost importance. We have various measures
in place to minimise risks. Results and response to property quality
are monitored on a timely basis. The Group provides comprehensive
after-sale services including handling customer complaints and
supervising the repair and ongoing maintenance of the properties
developed. During the defect liability period, we forward the defect
to our engineering department or contractors to follow up all the
substandard works reported by the purchasers. Contractors engaged
for construction are tightly monitored as discussed above.
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B. SOCIAL ISSUES (CONTINUED)
Product Responsibility (Aspect B6) (continued)

For the business of property rental and management services, we have
a reception desk in property management office for each project. We
pay close attention to the customer dissatisfaction and forward the
complaint to relevant departments for follow-up. During 2018, the
complaint rate is low and most of the complainants accepted or were
satisfied with our replies. The Group put the best effort to response
instantly to the problem and complaint submitted by the tenant.

Servicing the property purchaser and tenant in Mainland China and
Hong Kong, we place a very high priority to uphold the customer
data privacy. Measures and clear guidelines are in place to ensure
customer’s relevant data are protected against unauthorised or
accidental access, processing or erasure. Appropriate levels of security
protection were implemented by appropriate physical, electronic and
managerial measures to safeguard and secure customer’s personal
data. In addition, our Employee Manual requires employees to keep
confidential of the information which includes customer information
and states the proper procedures of handling customer data.

Anti-corruption (Aspect B7)

A Whistle Blower Policy has been established to facilitate employees’
direct reporting of any unlawful conduct, any incident of corruption,
avoidance of internal controls, incorrect or improper financial or
other reporting to senior management. This policy is either circulated
to employees periodically or included in the Employee Manual of the
Group to facilitate employees’ easy access and refresh employees’
awareness of reporting. During 2018, there were no known cases of
non-compliance with the above laws or regulations.
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B. SOCIAL ISSUES (CONTINUED)
Community Investment (Aspect B8)

We strive to excel for our customers and undertake the responsibility
of a good corporate citizen contributing to the community by
encouraging our staff to enrol in charity and social services.

In Hong Kong, we participated in Skip-A-Meal in June 2018 and
Mooncakes for Charity in September 2018. The volunteering
activities were recorded proactive participation. We hope that
through the volunteer activities, we can help the underprivileged
in the community, like low-income senior citizens, senior citizens
living alone, children education, environmental conservation, etc, by
offering our care and concern.

Total donations of HK$1,151,000 (2017: HK$1,163,000) were paid to
charitable institutions during 2018.
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TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED

The board of directors of the Company (“Board”) presents its annual
report and the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively “Group”) for the year
ended 31st December, 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal
activities and details of its principal subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures as at 31st December, 2018 are set out in notes 51, 52 and 53
to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

The Group’s revenue for the year was derived mainly from activities
carried out in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”). The breakdown
by principal activities of the Group’s revenue and the contribution to
profit before taxation for the year ended 31st December, 2018 is set
out in note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Detailed review of the Group’s business is set out in the Managing
Director’s Statement (“MDS”) on page 6. Future development of the
Company’s business is set out in the MDS on page 7. An analysis
of the Group’s performance during the year using financial key
performance indicators is provided in the MDS and Management
Discussion and Analysis on pages 4 to 14.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group adopts a comprehensive risk management framework.
Risk management policies and procedures are regularly reviewed
and updated to react to changes in market conditions and the
Group’s business strategy. The audit committee of the Company
(“Audit Committee”) reviews risk-related policies and scrutinises that
management has performed its duty to have effective risk management
and internal control systems necessary for monitoring and controlling
major risks arising from the Group’s business activities, changing
external risks and the regulatory environment, and reports to the
Board on the above.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)
Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continued)
Financial Risk

Financial risk includes market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.
Market risk concerns that the value of an investment will change due
to movements in market factors and which can be further divided
into interest rate risk, foreign currency risk and other price risk. Credit
risk is the risk of losses arising from clients or counterparties failing
to make payments as contracted. Liquidity risk concerns that a given
security or asset cannot be traded readily in the market to prevent a
loss or make the required profit. Further discussion on financial risk
management is outlined in note 49b “Financial Risk Management
Objective and Policies” to the consolidated financial statements.

Operational Risk

Operational risk is concerned with possible losses caused by
inadequate or failed internal processes, people, systems or external
events. Operational risk is mitigated and controlled through
establishing robust internal controls, setting out clear lines of
responsibility, proper segregation of duties and effective internal
reporting and contingency planning. It is our corporate culture that
the business and operating line management are fully aware of, and
responsible for, managing the operational risks of their business
units on a day-to-day basis. Independent monitoring and reviews are
conducted by the Internal Audit Function of the Group which reports
regularly to the Chairman of the Board and the Audit Committee.

Uncertainties

The Group’s business and profitability growth in the year under
review are affected by the volatility and uncertainty of macro-
economic conditions in China. The policy change, interest rate
change, reserve requirement ratio change, demand-supply imbalance,
house price indexes and the overall economic conditions may induce
a material adjustment on the Group’s business, financial position and
results.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)
Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group is committed to the long term sustainability of the
environment and communities in which it operates. Acting in an
environmentally responsible manner, the Group endeavours to
comply with the laws and regulations regarding environmental
protection legislated by the local government for developing and
managing the properties. The Group meets the criteria and standard
of noise pollution control, air pollution control, sewage drainage
system and construction waste treatment for construction as well as
encourages to make green in our projects.

The Group is also committed to building an eco-friendly corporation.
It is the Group’s aim to reduce the impacts of its operations on the
environment. The environmental policies of the Group include
minimising consumption of paper and electricity, reducing waste and
promoting the use of electronic communication and storage.

Further information on the Group’s environmental issues also detailed
in the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” on pages 55 to
69.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

As far as the Board and management are aware, the Group has
complied in material respects with the relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the business and operation of the
Group. During the year, there was no material breach of or non-
compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group are set out in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss on page 103 and in the accompanying notes to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Board has declared an interim dividend of HK20 cents per share
(in lieu of a final dividend) for the year ended 31st December, 2018
(2017 interim dividend (in lieu of a final dividend): HK20 cents per
share) payable on or around Wednesday, 17th April, 2019 to the
shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”) whose names appear
on the register of members of the Company on Tuesday, 2nd April,
2019. Details are set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

During the year, the Group acquired investment properties totalling
approximately HK$4,016,000 in value and certain inventories of
completed properties to a value of HK$432,920,000 were transferred
to investment properties. The Group revalued all of its investment
properties as at the year end date. The surplus arising on the
revaluation amounted to HK$430,420,000 and has been recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Details of these and other movements in the investment properties of
the Group during the year are set out in note 18 to the consolidated
financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment
totalling approximately HK$5,073,000.

Details of these and other movements in property, plant and
equipment of the Group during the year are set out in note 17 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTIES

Particulars of major properties of the Group as at 31st December,
2018 are set out on pages 23 to 32.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARES ISSUED

Details of movement in the share capital of the Company during the
year are set out in note 39 to the consolidated financial statements.

DEBENTURES
The Group has not issued any debentures during the year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements that will or may result in the Company
issuing shares or that require the Company to enter into any
agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing shares
were entered into by the Company during the year or subsisted at the
end of the year.

BORROWINGS

Bank loans and other borrowings which are repayable within one year
or on demand are classified as current liabilities. Repayment analysis
of interest-bearing and interest-free borrowings are set out in notes 37
and 38 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company (“Directors”) during the year and up to
the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:
Song Zengbin
Patrick Lee Seng Wei
Ma Sun
Edwin Lo King Yau
Tao Tsan Sang
Lee Shu Yin
(resigned on 4th January, 2018)

Non-Executive Directors:
Lee Seng Hui
Moses Cheng Mo Chi

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Francis J. Chang Chu Fai

Jin Hui Zhi

Ngai Wah Sang

Lisa Yang Lai Sum

In accordance with Article T05(A) of the articles of association of the
Company (“Articles of Association”), Messrs. Patrick Lee Seng Wei,
Ma Sun, Tao Tsan Sang and Jin Hui Zhi shall retire from office by
rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

A list of names of all the directors who have served on the boards
of the Company’s subsidiaries during the year are available on the
website of the Company under the “Corporate Governance” section.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Executive Directors

Song Zengbin, aged 64, was appointed the Deputy Chairman and a
Non-Executive Director of the Company in June 2008 and was re-
designated as an Executive Director of the Company in April 2010.
He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Song
graduated from the Civil Engineering Department of Dalian University
of Technology with a Master’s Degree in Engineering and is a state
registered construction engineer. He has more than thirty years of
experience in the fields of engineering and management by serving in
various senior roles in a design institute, several large state companies
and municipal government. Mr. Song has also been invited as a guest
professor for Dalian University of Technology since 2003.

Patrick Lee Seng Wei, aged 67, was appointed an Executive Director
of the Company in June 1996 and became the Chairman and
the Acting Managing Director of the Company in February 2004
and December 2005 respectively. He relinquished his role as the
Chairman and was re-designated from the Acting Managing Director
to the Managing Director of the Company in April 2007. He is also a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Being an architect,
he worked for IBM Australia before becoming involved in property
development in Malaysia and Hong Kong more than thirty years
ago. He has extensive experience in the property field. Mr. Lee is
the chairman and an executive director of Asiasec Properties Limited
(“ASL”), a non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. He is a
cousin of Mr. Lee Seng Hui (the Chairman of the Company).

Ma Sun, aged 78, was appointed an Executive Director of the
Company in April 2003 and became an additional Deputy Managing
Director of the Company responsible for organising the investment
and development of the cyberpark projects of the Company in April
2009. Mr. Ma joined Sun Hung Kai Securities Limited (now known
as Everbright Sun Hung Kai Company Limited) in 1984 and was then
transferred to the Group in 1985. He is also a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. Besides holding a Bachelor’s Degree
in Electrical Engineering, he has extensive experience in electrical
engineering and over thirty years of experience in China commercial
business, financial investment and property development.
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TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Executive Directors (continued)

Edwin Lo King Yau, aged 58, was appointed an Executive Director
of the Company in August 1999. He is also a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Lo holds a Master’s Degree in
Applied Finance from Macquarie University, Australia and is a
chartered company secretary. He had served various executive roles
in several companies in Hong Kong including as company secretary
for public listed companies. Mr. Lo is also an executive director of
each of Allied Group Limited (“AGL”), a substantial shareholder of the
Company, and ASL, a non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

Tao Tsan Sang, aged 54, was appointed an Executive Director of
the Company in October 2009. He is also the Financial Controller
and a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. He joined the
Company in May 1994. Mr. Tao holds a Master’s Degree in Business
Administration from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University and is an
associate of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and The Chartered Institute of Management Accountants. He has
extensive experience in accounting, financial management and China
business field. Mr. Tao is an executive director of ASL, a non wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company.

Non-Executive Directors

Lee Seng Hui, aged 49, was appointed the Chairman and a Non-
Executive Director of the Company in April 2007. He is also a director
of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Lee graduated from the
Law School of the University of Sydney with Honours. Previously, he
worked with Baker & McKenzie and N M Rothschild & Sons (Hong
Kong) Limited. Mr. Lee is also the chief executive and an executive
director of each of AGL and Allied Properties (H.K.) Limited, both
are substantial shareholders of the Company. He is a non-executive
director of APAC Resources Limited (“APAC Resources”) and the non-
executive chairman of Mount Gibson Iron Limited (“Mount Gibson”).
Mount Gibson is a company listed on the Australian Securities
Exchange. Mr. Lee was previously the chairman and non-executive
director of ASL, a non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. He
is a cousin of Mr. Patrick Lee Seng Wei (the Managing Director of
the Company) and the brother-in-law of Mr. Chew Chee Choong (the
Group Chief Operating Officer of the Company).
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Non-Executive Directors (continued)

Moses Cheng Mo Chi, aged 69, was appointed an Independent
Non-Executive Director of the Company in May 1997 and was re-
designated as a Non-Executive Director of the Company in September
2004. He is a practising solicitor and the consultant of P. C. Woo &
Co., a Hong Kong firm of solicitors after serving as its Senior Partner
from 1994 to 2015. Dr. Cheng is currently the chairman of the
Insurance Authority. He is also a member of each of the Financial
Leaders Forum and the Aviation Development and Three-runway
System Advisory Committee. Dr. Cheng was the founding chairman of
the Hong Kong Institute of Directors of which he is now the Honorary
President and Chairman Emeritus. He was a member of the Legislative
Council of Hong Kong and the chairman of the Main Board Listing
Committee and the GEM Listing Committee of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited and a remuneration committee member of the
Financial Reporting Council in Hong Kong. He was also the chairman
of the Education Commission, the Free Kindergarten Education
Committee, the Advisory Committee on Post-office Employment for
former Chief Executives and Politically Appointment Officials, the
Advisory Committee on Post-service Employment on Civil Servants.
He also serves on the boards of various listed companies in Hong
Kong as independent non-executive director and non-executive
director, including China Mobile Limited, China Resources Beer
(Holdings) Company Limited, Guangdong Investment Limited, K. Wah
International Holdings Limited, Kader Holdings Company Limited,
Liu Chong Hing Investment Limited and Towngas China Company
Limited. Dr. Cheng was appointed an independent non-executive
director of The Hong Kong and China Gas Company Limited in
January 2019. He was previously an independent non-executive
director of ARA Asset Management Limited (which was formerly listed
in Singapore).

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Francis Johnson Chang Chu Fai, aged 64, was appointed an
Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company in September
2004. He holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Commerce from Concordia
University in Montreal, Canada since 1976 and a Master’s Degree
in Business Administration from York University in Toronto, Canada
since 1977. He has over forty-one years of experience in banking,
corporate finance, investment and management and has held various
executive positions at financial institutions and directorships of listed
companies. Mr. Chang is currently the managing director of Ceres
Consultancy Limited and an independent non-executive director of
APAC Resources.
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TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Independent Non-Executive Directors (continued)

Jin Hui Zhi, aged 58, was appointed an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company in April 2010. He holds a Master’s Degree
in Business Administration. He has extensive experience in the
business market. Mr. Jin is currently the chairman of Shanghai
Horizon Investment Co. Ltd. (“Shanghai Horizon”) and the deputy
president of the Youth Entrepreneur Association of Shanghai.
Shanghai Horizon is a company principally engaged in the investment
of three major industries, namely bio-engineering, environmental
protection and energy-saving and medical. Mr. Jin was formerly chief
member of Youth Work Ministry, chief member and deputy director
of Research Department, member of Standing Committee and minister
of Youth Work Ministry of China Communist Youth League Shanghai
Committee.

Ngai Wah Sang, aged 60, was appointed an Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company in September 2004. He holds a
Bachelor’s Degree in Science from the University of London in United
Kingdom and is a fellow of The Institute of Chartered Accountants
in Australia and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants in Hong Kong respectively. He has broad experience
in auditing, accounting, financial management and dealing with
business development and investments and previously worked for
international accounting firms and listed companies in Hong Kong
and overseas. Mr. Ngai was appointed an independent non-executive
director of Real Nutriceutical Group Limited in January 2019. He was
previously the deputy chairman and the chief executive officer of
Earnest Investments Holdings Limited (now known as Core Economy
Investment Group Limited).

Lisa Yang Lai Sum, aged 52, was appointed an Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company in November 1999 and was re-
designated as a Non-Executive Director of the Company in September
2004. She was re-designated from a Non-Executive Director to an
Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company in July 2007.
She graduated from the University of Sydney with a Bachelor’s
Degree in Law and Economics and is also qualified as a solicitor in
Australia and England. She is a practicing solicitor in Hong Kong and
a consultant of ONC Lawyers. Ms. Yang is also an independent non-
executive director of each of AGL, a substantial shareholder of the
Company, and ASL, a non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.
She was appointed an independent non-executive director of China
Medical & HealthCare Group Limited in December 2018.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Senior Management

Chew Chee Choong, aged 47, is the Group Chief Operating Officer
and a member of Executive Committee of the Company since January
2019. He joined the Group in October 2005 and was previously the
General Manager of the Group. Mr. Chew is also a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. He has over twenty years of experience in
the fields of property construction and development. Mr. Chew is the
brother-in-law of Mr. Lee Seng Hui (the Chairman of the Company).

Hu Aimin, aged 70, is the Director — Special Projects of the Group.
He joined the Group in April 2010 and was previously Deputy
Chairman and an Executive Director of the Company from April 2010
to September 2012. He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of
the Company. Mr. Hu graduated from the Hunan University of China
with a Master’s Degree in Management. He has over forty years of
experience in administrative management, corporate governance and
human resources management.

Chen Saifang, aged 67, is the General Manager of the Southern
China Region. She joined the Group in April 2004. She is also a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Ms. Chen was
graduated with specialization in finance. She worked at the provincial
level institutions and listed companies in the mainland and Hong
Kong for more than forty years. She has extensive exposure and
working experience in finance, investment, project and corporate
management.

Song Zhu Feng, aged 58, is the General Manager of the Contracts
Department of the Group. He joined the Group in December 2003.
He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr.
Song graduated from The Civil Engineering Department of Tsing Hua
University in Beijing with a Bachelor’s Degree in Engineering. He
has over twenty years of experience in the fields of engineering and
property development.

Zhou Zhimin, aged 58, is the General Manager of the Property
Management Department of the Group. He joined the Group in April
1998. He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr.
Zhou graduated from the University of Mannheim in Germany with a
Licentiate’s Degree in International Economic Relations. He has over
twenty years of experience in the fields of real estate development
and property management.
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Name of Directors ~ Name of companies

R ZA/NC|

Lee Seng Hui the Company
DEMEARA
(FEE i’@FJ)

Asiasec Properties
Limited (“ASL")

ZA/NC)
the Company

S
Ma Sun

EEREHIE
ASL

shares interested

TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting (“AGM”) has an unexpired service contract
with the Group which is not determinable by the Group within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

TERMS OF OFFICE FOR THE NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

All the Non-Executive Directors (including the Independent Non-
Executive Directors (“INEDs”)) were appointed for a specific term of
two years which shall continue until 31st December, 2020 but subject
to the relevant provisions of the Articles of Association or any other
applicable laws whereby the Directors shall vacate or retire from their
office.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

As at 31st December, 2018, Messrs. Lee Seng Hui and Ma Sun,
Directors, had the following interests in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept
under Section 352 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”):

BEERGOR
ARG ZEA
Number of
shares and
underlying

HEBSRTRG
HE BB
Approximate %

of the relevant
total number of
issued shares

BEME

Nature of interests

733,269,096 48.66% HihfEzs

zap) Other interests
(Note 1)

930,376,898 74.96% H e

(Hiaz2) Other interests
(Note 2)

47,945 0.003% & A a

Personal interests

(WESHEEAFNES)

(held as beneficial owner)

6,232 0.001% & A2

Personal interests
(NEZHEEATHER)

(held as beneficial owner)
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS (CONTINUED)

Notes:

1. Mr. Lee Seng Hui together with Ms. Lee Su Hwei and Mr. Lee Seng Huang are
the trustees of Lee and Lee Trust, being a discretionary trust. The Lee and Lee
Trust controlled approximately 74.95% of the total number of issued shares
of Allied Group Limited (“AGL”) (inclusive of Mr. Lee Seng Hui’s personal
interests) and was therefore deemed to be interested in the shares of the
Company in which AGL was interested through Allied Properties (H.K.) Limited
(“APL"), its 74.99%-owned subsidiary.

2. Mr. Lee Seng Hui, by virtue of his interests in the Company, was deemed
to be interested in the shares of ASL, a non wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company and therefore an associated corporation of the Company within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO.

3. All interests stated above represent long positions.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31st December, 2018, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company had any interests or
short positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations, within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO, as recorded in the register required to be kept
under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company
and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”)
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“Listing Rules”).
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES

During the year and up to the date of this report, the following
Directors (not being the INEDs) are considered to have interests in the
businesses listed below which compete or are likely to compete with
the businesses of the Group pursuant to the Listing Rules as set out
below:

1. Messrs. Patrick Lee Seng Wei, Edwin Lo King Yau and Tao Tsan
Sang are, and Mr. Lee Seng Hui (a former director of ASL resigned
on 4th January, 2018) was, director(s) of ASL which, through
certain of its subsidiaries, is partly engaged in the businesses of
property investment and property management;

2. Mr. Lee Seng Hui is a director of APL which, through certain of its
subsidiaries, is partly engaged in the businesses of money lending,
property development and investment and property management;

3. Mr. Lee Seng Hui is a director of a non wholly-owned subsidiary
of Sun Hung Kai & Co. Limited (“SHK”) which is engaged in the
business of money lending;

4. Mr. Lee Seng Hui is a director of APAC Resources which, through
its subsidiary, is partly engaged in the business of money lending;

5. Messrs. Lee Seng Hui and Edwin Lo King Yau are directors of
AGL which, through certain of its subsidiaries, is partly engaged
in the businesses of money lending, property development and
investment and property management. Mr. Edwin Lo King Yau is
a director of AG Capital Limited (a subsidiary of AGL) which is
partly engaged in the business of money lending; and

6. Mr. Lee Seng Hui is one of the trustees of Lee and Lee Trust
which is a deemed substantial shareholder of each of AGL, APL,
SHK, APAC Resources and ASL. AGL, APL and SHK through
their subsidiaries, are partly engaged in the businesses of money
lending, property development and investment and property
management. APAC Resources, through its subsidiary, is partly
engaged in the business of money lending. ASL, through certain
of its subsidiaries, is partly engaged in the businesses of property
investment and property management.
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DIRECTORS’” INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES
(CONTINUED)

Although the above-mentioned Directors have competing interests in
other companies by virtue of their respective common directorship or
shareholding, they will fulfil their fiduciary duties in order to ensure
that they will act in the best interests of the Shareholders and the
Company as a whole at all times. Hence, the Group is capable of
carrying on its businesses independently of, and at arm’s length from,
the businesses of such companies.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which the
Directors or an entity connected with the Directors had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year
or at any time during the year.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save for employment contracts and the agreements relating to the
sharing of administrative services and management services as
detailed in the section headed “Continuing Connected Transactions”
on pages 88 to 92, no other contracts, relating to the management
and/or administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company were entered into or subsisted during the
year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association provides that every Director or other
officer of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the
assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities which he/she
may sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties of his/her
office or otherwise in relation thereto. In addition, the Company has
maintained appropriate directors and officers liability insurance in
respect of relevant legal actions against the Directors.
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FERREREMALT ES SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS

MEBEMAM R-ZE—/\FEF+-A=+—H"  To the best of Directors’ knowledge, as at 31st December, 2018,
RIEELS RS GOE36IERTEITELZE  the following Shareholders had interests in the shares or underlying

DS HAARRAFMMEAEIMIERZ 2  shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept
MR under Section 336 of the SFO:

EERORAERD 2HE

Number of shares and underlying shares interested

(EPN £ T
(LBRERA 5B EERE R
BHEAR) LSt

Personal Corporate BABS
Interests Interests Approximate %
(held as (interest of HipfEz HEXME  of the relevant
REER beneficial controlled Other Total total number of
Name of Shareholders owner) corporation) Interests Interests issued shares

A E(BS)BRAR ([MAE]) - 733,269,096 - 733,269,096 48.66%
Allied Properties (H.K.) Limited (“APL") (Hriz1) (Hi7z2)
(Note 1) (Note 2)
A EBERAR([HMaER]) - 733,269,096 - 733,269,096 48.66%
Allied Group Limited (“AGL") (H1723) (Hi7z2)
(Note 3) (Note 2)
Lee and Lee Trust - 733,269,096 - 733,269,096 48.66%
(Hiit4) (fia2)
(Note 4) (Note 2)
Penta Investment Advisers Limited - - 301,109,570 301,109,570 19.98%
(AREEEA (H1725)
FFHE) (Note 5)
(held as
investment
manager)
Credit Suisse Group AG (“Credit Suisse”) - 169,510,000 - 169,510,000 11.25%
(47%8) (HHE)
(long position) (long position)
169,510,000 169,510,000 11.25%
(%E) (%#=)
(short position) (short position)
(Hiize)

(Note 6)
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Vigor Online Offshore Limited
(“Vigor Online”)

China Spirit Limited (“China Spirit”)

4+~

AEZET
Chong Sok Un

SKK Special Situation Fund (“SKK”)

Argyle Street Management Limited
(“Argyle Street Management”)

Argyle Street Management Holdings
Limited (“Argyle Street Holdings”)

PR {2
Chan Kin

Sun Hung Kai International Commodities
Limited (“SHK Commodities”)
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS (CONTINUED)

BAER
(NBREBA
5B5EE)
Personal
Interests

(held as
beneficial
owner)

108,920,000

99,420,400

BEEROREBRG ZHE

Number of shares and underlying shares interested

EEREE
(RE+EE
ZHER)
Corporate
Interests
(interest of
controlled
corporation)

108,920,000

110,920,000

99,420,400

99,420,400

HAtiRE s
Other
Interests

99,420,400
(AREBEEEA
SR
(held as
investment
manager)

82,441,000
(LA 3 S
BEAEHD
Fa)

(held as holder
of security
interest)

B

EERE#1T
MR ERZ
BMABDE

Approximate%
of the relevant

Total total number of

Interests

108,920,000

108,920,000
(Kizt7)
(Note 7)

110,920,000
(Kizts)
(Note 8)

99,420,400

99,420,400
(Kia#9)
(Note 9)

99,420,400
(Bia#10)
(Note 10)

99,420,400
(Hia£11)
(Note 11)

82,441,000
(Hia£12)
(Note 12)

issued shares

7.23%

7.23%

7.36%

6.60%

6.60%

6.60%

6.60%

5.47%
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Name of Shareholders

FBRECHERERAR
(MFREEREE])

Sun Hung Kai Financial Group Limited
(“SHK Financial Group”)

KARBLZERERERABT(EAZE])
Everbright Securities Financial Holdings
Limited (“Everbright Financial”)

KARBEHFBROBARAR ([EAES])
Everbright Securities Company Limited
(“Everbright Securities”)

Hist

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS (CONTINUED)

BAER
(LBREEA
5REE)
Personal
Interests

(held as
beneficial
owner)

Notes:

BERGREBERE 2HE

Number of shares and underlying shares interested

EE RS
(RELE
ZRER)
Corporate
Interests
(interest of
controlled
corporation)

82,441,000

82,441,000

82,441,000

Hiiie s
Other
Interests

RERAE
Total
Interests

82,441,000
(B1:#13)
(Note 13)

82,441,000
(Hiiz14)
(Note 14)

82,441,000
(Bizt15)
(Note 15)

EEBEERT
R EE 2

i SR
Approximate %
of the relevant
total number of
issued shares

5.47%

5.47%

5.47%

AR EFine Class Holdings LimitedZ & & HI/&
A @China Elite Holdings Limited ([ China Elite |)#¥
B MAENABAMEZZENBAT - s
HhEE AR {EYE R China ElitefTH5 8 2 IR 1D 2 e o

LB FIEE A ERA 2 A —16733,269,096 1% 1%

,(/'\ ol

A RERABARECETRAGREL
74.99% BB IERER S BEFHAEZIRHZ
RS -

EETREBLAERZRELIRFTRELEY
#lee and Lee Trust(ZHEFE) Z54EA © Lee and
Lee TrustiZEHilEt & S EE BTN A2 L74.95%
(BREZEBEEZAAER)  SRREEREE
SEFTRA 2’ 2 s o

The interest was held by China Elite Holdings Limited (“China Elite”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Fine Class Holdings Limited which in turn was a wholly-
owned subsidiary of APL. APL was therefore deemed to have an interest in the
shares in which China Elite was interested.

The figure refers to the same interests of APL in 733,269,096 shares.

AGL owned approximately 74.99% of the total number of issued shares of APL
and was therefore deemed to have an interest in the shares in which APL was
interested.

Mr. Lee Seng Hui, a Director, together with Ms. Lee Su Hwei and Mr. Lee
Seng Huang are the trustees of Lee and Lee Trust, being a discretionary trust.
The Lee and Lee Trust controlled approximately 74.95% of the total number
of issued shares of AGL (inclusive of Mr. Lee Seng Hui’s personal interests)
and was therefore deemed to have an interest in the shares in which AGL was
interested.
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14.

15.

16.

ZERELSBLFA(i) 282,554,570 0% (0 2 HERE ¢ K (ii)
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS (CONTINUED)

These include (i) an interest in 282,554,570 shares; and (ii) an interest in
unlisted cash settled derivatives of the Company equivalent to 18,555,000
underlying shares of the Company.

Based on the information provided by Credit Suisse, the interests include the
holding of (i) 169,510,000 shares (long position); and (ii) 169,510,000 shares
(short position), of which included unlisted cash settled derivatives of the
Company giving rise to the interest in 17,420,000 underlying shares (short
position) of the Company as at 31st December, 2018.

China Spirit owned the entire issued share capital of Vigor Online and was
therefore deemed to have an interest in the shares in which Vigor Online was
interested.

Ms. Chong Sok Un owned the entire issued share capital of China Spirit and
was therefore deemed to have an interest in the shares in which China Spirit
was interested.

Based on the information provided by Argyle Street Management, Argyle Street
Management owned the entire issued voting share capital of SKK and was
therefore deemed to have an interest in the shares in which SKK was interested.

. Argyle Street Holdings owned the entire issued share capital of Argyle Street

Management and was therefore deemed to have an interest in the shares in
which Argyle Street Management was interested.

. Mr. Chan Kin owned approximately 50.94% interests in the issued share

capital of Argyle Street Holdings and was therefore deemed to have an interest
in the shares in which Argyle Street Holdings was interested.

Based on the information provided by SHK Commodities, SHK Commodities
was interested in 82,441,000 shares as at 31st December, 2018.

. SHK Financial Group, through its wholly-owned subsidiaries Everbright Sun

Hung Kai Company Limited and Sun Hung Kai Bullion Company Limited,
owned the entire issued shares of SHK Commodities. SHK Financial Group was
therefore deemed to have an interest in the shares in which SHK Commodities
was interested.

Everbright Financial owned 70% interests of the total number of issued shares
of SHK Financial Group and was therefore deemed to have an interest in the
shares in which SHK Financial Group was interested.

Everbright Securities owned the entire issued shares of Everbright Financial
and was therefore deemed to have an interest in the shares in which Everbright
Financial was interested.

. Save for the short positions of Credit Suisse, all interests stated above as at 31st

December, 2018 represent long positions as recorded in the register required
to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 7th
February, 2017 and the 2017 Annual Report of the Company,
the Company entered into a renewed sharing of administrative
services and management services agreement (“Services
Agreement”) with AGL on 7th February, 2017, pursuant to
which the Company agreed to reimburse AGL the actual costs
incurred in respect of (i) the administrative services, including
the corporate secretarial services, provision of registered office
address, utilities services including water, electricity, telephone
(including international telephone services) and internet,
photocopying, postal, courier, delivery and other services
ancillary to the day-to-day administration and operation of the
Group provided by AGL (“Administrative Services”) and (ii) the
management services, including the management, consultancy,
strategic, internal audit, management information system
consultancy and business advice services provided by the
senior management and the selected staff of AGL to the Group
(“Management Services”) for a period of three years commenced
from 1st January, 2017 to 31st December, 2019.

Mr. Lee Seng Hui, by being the Chairman and a Non-Executive
Director of the Company, a member of the management staff
providing the Management Services and also one of the trustees
of Lee and Lee Trust, being a discretionary trust which, together
with his personal interests, indirectly owned approximately
74.95% interests in the total number of issued shares of AGL as at
31st December, 2018, is deemed to be interested in the Services
Agreement. Mr. Edwin Lo King Yau, by being an Executive
Director of the Company and a member of the management staff
providing the Management Services, is deemed to be interested in
the Services Agreement.

The aggregate amount of the costs paid by the Group in respect
of the Management Services provided by AGL under the Services
Agreement for the year ended 31st December, 2018 was
HK$57,340,000.00.
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30th May, 2016 and 28th September, 2018 and the 2017
Annual Report of the Company (where applicable), four leasing
agreements (“Leasing Agreement |”, “Leasing Agreement Il”,
“Leasing Agreement V” and “Leasing Agreement VI”) were
entered into between Dalian Tian An Tower Co., Ltd., an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as lessor and United
Asia Finance (Free Trade Zone Dalian) Limited (“Dalian UAF”),
an indirect non wholly-owned subsidiary of SHK, as lessee on
30th May, 2016, in relation to the leasing of office premises
in Dalian Tian An International Building, No. 88 Zhongshan
Road, Zhongshan District, Dalian, Liaoning Province, PRC for
a term commenced from 1st July, 2016 to 30th June, 2018 at
the monthly considerations of RMB24,003.12, RMB32,525.83,
RMB212,239.34 and RMB15,977.17 respectively.

On 28th September, 2018, the same parties entered into a leasing
agreement (“2018 Leasing Agreement V”) to renew Leasing
Agreement V for a term commenced from Tst July, 2018 to 30th
June, 2019 at the monthly consideration of RMB212,239.34.

The considerations paid under the Leasing Agreement |, Leasing
Agreement Il, Leasing Agreement V, Leasing Agreement VI and
2018 Leasing Agreement V (collectively “Leasing Agreements”)
for the year ended 31st December, 2018 were RMB144,018.72,
RMB195,154.98, RMB1,273,436.04, RMB95,863.02 and
RMB1,273,436.04 respectively. The aggregate consideration paid
under the Leasing Agreements for the year ended 31st December,
2018 was RMB2,981,908.80.

Considerations of the Leasing Agreements include rental and
management fee.



90 TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Report 2018

EEERSE
DIRECTORS’ REPORT

FERERS(#)
(CONTINUED)
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As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 31st
March, 2017 and the 2017 Annual Report of the Company,
on 31st March, 2017, (i) the Company as tenant entered into a
sub-tenancy agreement (“Sub-Tenancy Agreement 1”) with AP
Administration Limited (“AP Administration”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of APL, as landlord; (ii) the Company as tenant entered
into a sub-tenancy agreement (“Sub-Tenancy Agreement I1”)
with AGL as landlord; and (iii) ASL as tenant entered into a sub-
tenancy agreement (“Sub-Tenancy Agreement IIl”) (collectively
“Sub-Tenancy Agreements”) with AP Administration as landlord.
Pursuant to Sub-Tenancy Agreement I, AP Administration agreed
to sublet to the Company a portion of office premises in Allied
Kajima Building, 138 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
(“AKB”) for a term commenced from Tst April, 2017 to 31st
March, 2019 at the monthly consideration of HK$29,100.00 (from
1st April, 2017 to 31st May, 2017) and HK$33,400.00 (from 1st
June, 2017 to 31st March, 2019) respectively. Pursuant to Sub-
Tenancy Agreement Il, AGL agreed to sublet to the Company
certain portions of office premises in AKB for a term commenced
from 1st April, 2017 to 31st March, 2019 at the monthly
consideration of HK$215,400.00. Pursuant to Sub-Tenancy
Agreement I, AP Administration agreed to sublet to ASL a portion
of another office premises in AKB for a term commenced from 1st
June, 2017 to 31st March, 2019 at the monthly consideration of
HK$122,200.00.

The considerations paid under the Sub-Tenancy Agreement I,
Sub-Tenancy Agreement Il and Sub-Tenancy Agreement Il for
the year ended 31st December, 2018 were HK$400,800.00,
HK$2,584,800.00 and HK$1,466,400.00 respectively. The
aggregate consideration paid under the Sub-Tenancy Agreements
for the year ended 31st December, 2018 was HK$4,452,000.00.

Considerations of the Sub-Tenancy Agreements include rent,
management and air-conditioning charges.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

AGL is the holding company and hence an associate of APL (which
is a substantial shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the
Company). Dalian UAF is a subsidiary of SHK, which in turn is a
subsidiary of APL, and hence an associate of APL. AP Administration
is a subsidiary of APL and hence an associate of APL. Therefore,
AGL, APL, SHK, Dalian UAF and AP Administration are regarded as
connected persons of the Company. Accordingly, the entering into
of the Services Agreement, the Leasing Agreements, the Sub-Tenancy
Agreements and the transactions contemplated thereunder constituted
continuing connected transactions for the Company under Rule
14A.31 of the Listing Rules. The transaction regarding the sharing of
the Administrative Services is fully exempt under Rules 14A.73(8) and
14A.98 of the Listing Rules. The transactions contemplated under the
Leasing Agreements and the Sub-Tenancy Agreements are subject to
the reporting, annual review and announcement requirements but are
exempt from the independent shareholders’ approval requirements
under the Listing Rules. Whereas, the transaction regarding the
sharing of the Management Services are subject to the reporting,
annual review, announcement and independent shareholders’
approval requirements under the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the INEDs have reviewed
the continuing connected transactions regarding (i) the sharing of the
Management Services; and (ii) the transactions contemplated under
the Leasing Agreements and the Sub-Tenancy Agreements, and have
confirmed that the transactions were entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(i) on normal commercial terms or better; and
(iii) according to the respective agreements governing the transactions

on terms that were fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Shareholders as a whole.
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TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the continuing
connected transaction regarding the sharing of the Management
Services and the continuing connected transactions contemplated
under the Leasing Agreements and the Sub-Tenancy Agreements in
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or
Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference
to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued
its unqualified letter confirming that nothing has come to its attention
that cause it to bring to the attention of the Board pursuant to Rule
14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor's letter has been
provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

OTHER INFORMATION
Financial assistance to affiliated companies

Since that the financial assistance by the Group to affiliated
companies and guarantees given by the Group for facilities granted
to affiliated companies together in aggregate exceeded 8% under the
assets ratio defined under Rule 14.07(1) of the Listing Rules continued
to exist as at 31st December, 2018, the Group is required to comply
with Rule 13.22 of the Listing Rules. The following is a summary
of unaudited combined statements of financial position of those
affiliated companies prepared from their financial statements as at
31st December, 2018 and adjusted, where appropriate, to conform
with the Group’s accounting policies:

TEx
HK$’000

B EE Non-current assets 17,665,265
MENEE Current assets 29,901,437
mENEE Current liabilities (15,210,929)
EREEE Non-current liabilities (19,647,029)
JEFE AR A Non-controlling interests (137,433)
BEFE Net assets 12,571,311
rEERGEEFRE Net assets attributable to the Group 5,136,869
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EMPLOYEE AND TRAINING

As at 31st December, 2018, the Group including its subsidiaries
but excluding associates and joint ventures, employed 1,429 (31st
December, 2017: 1,980) persons. The Group maintains a policy of
paying competitive remuneration packages and employees are also
rewarded on performance related basis including salary and bonus.
The Group recognises the importance of continuing professional
education and development, and appropriate courses are arranged on
a periodical basis as well as subsidies are granted to employees who
take job-related courses.

The profile of the Group’s management staff as at 31st December,
2018 is listed below:

REBEEL
University
Graduates

55 AT
Age 55 or Below

55BR A L
Age Over 55

6 28 (76%) 31 (84%) 24 (65%) 13 (35%)
Hong Kong

B35l 21 (81%) 24 (92%) 23 (88%) 3 (12%)
Northern China

FEHR 74 (67%) 82 (74%) 100 (90%) 11 (10%)
Eastern China

R 20 (69%) 25 (86%) 28 (97%) 1 (3%)

Southern China

Biet : FEMAMFEREBASR SR 2 ADLL

EREEE T AKE AR BILEE
RERNBBABIEIRE - BOEFARET
MMISEENEHE THRAER - T2EE
ABHMEFREAMIBHRRMTEIS 14
47 °

FREFREER

RER  REBZAKRAUEE 2 HEATHE N K
SESRARMNEEEZRKBRBES R ALTER
THE AR MR AR HI3% 8% °

BREF - AL FDE TR BEE%IA
FMEE ST BEBREAREARE L E
WA RS AR 4R R B P A 2
i -

Note: The numbers in bracket show the percentage of management staff in the

region.

Quality staff has always been the Group’s indispensable intangible
asset. Training programmes were organised during the year to ensure
that both the market sensitivity of the front line people and the cost
consciousness of the back office staff were well maintained. The
emoluments of key management personnel can be seen by reference
to notes 13, 14 and 47 to the consolidated financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s five
largest customers and the aggregate purchases attributable to the
Group’s five largest suppliers were approximately 3% and 8% of the
Group's sales and purchases respectively.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholders,
which to the knowledge of the Directors owned more than 5% of the
Company’s total number of issued shares, had a beneficial interest in
any of the Group's five largest suppliers and customers.
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TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES

During the year ended 31st December, 2018, neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s shares.

DONATIONS

The Group made charitable donations of HK$1,151,000 during the
year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance practices. Information on the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 33 to 54.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this
report, the Company has maintained sufficient public float as required
under the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

A resolution will be submitted to the AGM to re-appoint Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu as the auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Lee Seng Hui
Chairman

Hong Kong, 15th March, 2019
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Deloitte
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TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tian
An China Investments Company Limited (the "Company") and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the "Group") set out on pages
103 to 271, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31st December, 2018, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss, statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31st
December, 2018, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the "Code"),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a

separate opinion on these matters.

BAREZER
Key Audit Matter

EMRELTEERRERSEZA X

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RFRRUE  BRIVIEGFEURCRIVEFEZMGE
Valuation of properties for development, inventories
of properties under development and inventories of
completed properties

BAK BEREZHFERME(GERRDE]  ZRTY
¥ ERTPYEDRERINEFE((HEEWED
MEEEERAREZSFE AABERERME AN
B RERTPYERFEHEM R 2 AR FE( AR
FEDSRERHE - R=_F—\F+=_A=+—H ' &
SEEBEATEREYES 81833300087 - BERHPWE
1,797,689,00078 7T & £ 85 & ¥1 3 3,993,950,0007% 7T (4117
(%] BmESRNRFEARKME(THE]) - FE
KB o

We identified the valuation of the Group's properties
for development ("PFD"), inventories of properties under
development ("PUD") and inventories of completed
properties ("PFS") as a key audit matter due to the
significant judgments involved in the determination of
the recoverable amount of PFD and the net realisable
value ("NRV") of PUD and PFS. As at 31st December,
2018, the Group had PFD of HK$3,818,333,000, PUD
of HK$1,797,689,000 and PFS of HK$3,993,950,000
(collectively referred to the "Properties"), all of which are
situated in the People’s Republic of China (the "PRC"),
Hong Kong and Australia.

BHABEEETAGFERYDE BERTOEMMHED
RZhEZFHERFEE

Our procedures in relation to evaluating management’s
assessment of the valuation of PFD, PUD and PFS
included:

o HARHERIZBSED - BEO REEIE
e Evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the Valuers;

s FRUBERBBTEMETSEE  HEGEER
EZ2B(BRMEDE BREE FAEHIEHN
RERERFHARMRAZBRER) 2 G

e Evaluating the reasonableness of the valuation
techniques and the significant inputs including
properties market price, gross development value,
developer's profit and discount rate adopted by
management and the Valuers by comparing to
entity-specific information and market data;

o BBHEGERGERRMENRBERPVEZGERELK
A BREBEUMRZERFAERAR - b %
RAZ &Y &

e Evaluating the reasonableness of the estimated future
cost to completion of PFD and PUD, on a sample
basis, by comparing them to actual development
costs of similar properties of the Group; and
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Key Audit Matter

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

EMRELTRERRERSERZA X

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

FRRYE  BRETUEFEURECRINEFEZMGE
(%)

Valuation of properties for development, inventories
of properties under development and inventories of
completed properties (continued)

BEEREBELSERIRNE([FHEE ) ET2REE
BEERBRRYEZARESELERTMEZ IR F
B RERERSRERBHE cETERS2H  BEE
RABE FAEHIRMEERE - ILsh BEESE &
SECRTIRB 2 ERAERANG ERTFRRYE R #
RAMEZ KRR

Management determined the recoverable amount of PFD
and the NRV of PUD based on valuations performed
by independent and qualified professional valuers (the
“Valuers”). The valuations are dependent on certain
significant inputs that involve management’s judgments,
including gross development value, developer’s profit
and discount rate. In addition, management estimated
future cost to completion of PFD and PUD with
reference to the actual development cost of the Group’s
completed projects.

BEBERETHR  BREETE - FE RN ZHERE
BZBUMEBRSBUNEMG O OMER - £2FH
HEMRZGAmEETHEEMR 2 AIEHFE -
Management determined the NRV of PFS with reference
to the estimated market prices of PFS, which takes into
account a number of factors including recent prices
achieved for similar property types in the same project
or by similar properties in the PRC, Hong Kong and
Australia.

HRERE 2 BE-T—\FT-A=+—ALF
[ - HEHEYE 2 RE4,014,0008 TR B RHER o
Based on management’s assessment, the write-down of
PFS of HK$4,014,000 was recognised in profit or loss for
the year ended 31st December, 2018.

s BBEZEHEEANAELBYEMRS LT ER
MEEEMAHEENE2AEEZERL B
RiIELFY BEREEGERDE - FEREMNEHHE
MG R FEEREMAZAELBME 2 EA
1 o

e Assessing the appropriateness of the estimated
selling prices of PFS used by management with
reference to recent market prices achieved in
the same projects or by comparable properties,
including an evaluation of the appropriateness of
the comparable properties used by management
based on our knowledge of the Group’s businesses
and the real estate markets in the PRC, Hong Kong
and Australia.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

EMRELTERERRERSEZA X

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

REWMEZEE

Valuation of investment properties

BB REDE 2 HERRSBRESLSTE  RRSES
HRERAMBHRRERM S EELERABEEAAEBEY
KERHE -

We identified the valuation of investment properties as
a key audit matter due to the significance of the balance
to the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
combined with the significant judgments associated with
determining the fair value.

IR A M IS MR T 18FKE - EEEZREME
BAUNTE  EERRBEZHIE  FES  ETEM
RBE AT \F+_A=+—BZRAREBEA
13,622,280,000/8 7T °

As disclosed in note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group's investment properties which
represent office buildings, car parking spaces, residential
units and hotel located in the PRC, Hong Kong and
the United Kingdom were carried at fair value of
HK$13,622,280,000 as at 31st December, 2018.

ERBZMBRENEINSEFEMET ZBERRAE
BEE - REDE  HEMBZEERRREIB2HZF
IBRERE B TS IRRMI 180 5R - (MEXRBER S REEEH
Bz ETEZRRLIZ2E  BEEHKREE  EHRK
BRIEA 2 TI5EMES - MIHEMHEEER - &
RE &M ERERE - BERE - BRELMHEEES -

All of the Group's investment properties are measured
at fair value with reference to the valuations performed

by the Valuers. Details of the valuation techniques,
significant assumptions and key inputs used in the
valuations are disclosed in note 18 to the consolidated
financial statements. The valuations are dependent
on certain significant assumptions and key inputs that
involve management’s judgments, including term vyield,
reversionary yield, market unit rent of individual unit,
market unit sales rate, developer’s profit and risk rate,
discount rate, growth rate and estimated rent.

HABERERENRZBEZRF A
Our procedures in relation to evaluating the valuation of
investment properties included:

o GHARHEEDZBSES - BB REEIM
e Evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the Valuers;

o EFIEMZEEBRERITE  METBIRR A
BN EZRER  MEMHAZERABRE T
E280:

e Understanding the Valuers' valuation process and
methodologies, the performance of the property
markets, significant assumptions adopted, critical
judgmental areas and key inputs used in the
valuations;

o WHHETERBZTEARBRZAENE &
e Evaluating the reasonableness of the methodologies
and assumptions to industry norms; and

s FRUBEBBEZAHMEMSHE FHEEER
AHEEBIATR Nz T E2 B At -

* Assessing the reasonableness of the key inputs
adopted by management and the Valuers by
comparing to entity-specific information and market
data.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company (“Directors”) are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the Directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor's report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the Directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors' use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters
in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor's report is Keung To Wei, David.

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 15th March, 2019
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For the year ended 31st December, 2018
2018 2017
Bt e FExT FAT
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
A Revenue 5 3,291,719 1,112,881
SHE R Cost of sales (1,909,020) (504,974)
EF Gross profit 1,382,699 607,907
H A A Rz Other income and gains 7 320,912 149,944
Mg RDIEER Marketing and distribution expenses (54,060) (86,850)
1TEE F Administrative expenses (342,400) (305,972)
Hihe:B8 &R Other operating expenses (20,532) (105,485)
HIEEEREANAREEYZ  Netdecrease in fair value of held-for-
FRD trading investments _ (15,444)
FBBEE AR BER®E  Net decrease in fair value of financial
ZERMEBEZANEE assets at fair value through
FRD profit or loss (68,246) _
BPBHIRAAEEREE  Net decrease in fair value of equity
ZBRARFE SR AAEE securities at fair value through profit or
FRD loss (29,597) -
ERTIYEFTEERS Fair value gain on transfer of inventories
REWEZ AREE of completed properties to investment
Wz properties 18 229,137 115,313
BEMENRBEZ Increase in fair value of investment
=0 properties 18 201,283 338,453
ERTYEGFEZCRE) (Write-down of) reversal of write-down of
AR E] inventories of completed properties (4,014) 1,020
BRI Amortisation of properties for
5y development (26,111) (35,802)
HE—RMBARZWE  Gain on disposal of a subsidiary 8 - 1,633,977
ZEWE—HNEBARZ  Gain on bargain purchase of
e a subsidiary 9 - 60,856
BhE R AR Finance costs 10 (155,964) (153,841)
FE(EEE 2R A& A Share of profit of associates 55,688 99,148
JE(E A &R A Share of profit of joint ventures 378,774 253,219
R A5 A Profit before tax 1,867,569 2,556,443
TIE Taxation 11 (609,458) (464,337)
KE i F) Profit for the year 12 1,258,111 2,092,106
REEHMNEETT Profit for the year attributable to:
FiN/NET )5 323 Owners of the Company 1,251,202 2,054,142
FEPER AR S Non-controlling interests 6,909 37,964
1,258,111 2,092,106
BT BT
HK$ HK$
BREAT Earnings per share 15
HAKR Basic 0.83 1.36
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

BE
For the year ended 31st December, 2018
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2018 2017
THET THET
HK$’000 HK$’000
RE i F) Profit for the year 1,258,111 2,092,106
Hitt2E(BR) K= Other comprehensive (expense) income
TEEFHEEERT Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:
IEH
BERENEMmES Exchange differences arising on translation to
ERER presentation currency (314,492) 575,923
JE(EEEE N a A& ¥ Share of other comprehensive (expense) income
ZEMEE(BR) K of associates and joint ventures (64,920) 113,986
FBHMEmWIRASL  Net change in fair value of investments in
BERELIRATA equity instruments at fair value through other
REARBEZFE comprehensive income (66,636) -
FBBEMEEREILZAAR  Deferred tax effect on change in fair value of
ﬁTEFEEEZHXKIﬂ investment in an equity instrument at fair value
BRRBEZES through other comprehensive
ukfﬁlﬁm@’ income 3,603 -
PRSI EYHER 2 Surplus on revaluation of properties and
M RIANHER prepaid lease payments upon transfer to
BHAR investment properties 4,210 10,007
REBREREMERZ Deferred tax effect on revaluation of
M E 2 RIE properties upon transfer to
BiER S investment properties (6,039) (6,848)
(444,274) 693,068
BRI mIREE DR E Items that may be reclassified subsequently to
BmmIER - profit or loss:
MEIBINEISES 2 Exchange differences arising on translation of
ERER foreign operations (67,605) 19,231
AHBERERREEZ  Net change in fair value of available-for-sale
R investments = (119,376)
AR ERE ZEEE  Impairment loss on available-for-sale investments
HIRE B classified to profit or loss = 78,168
—H/ituquT SN RfE[EZ  Deferred tax effect on change in
a2k L%RIEEI’J%% fair value of available-for-sale investments - 2,338
/\ﬁﬁ Others 763 -
(66,842) (19,639)
NEFHMEE(ER)WES Other comprehensive (expense) income for the year (511,116) 673,429
AEEEEWEEEE Total comprehensive income for the year 746,995 2,765,535
AFEE2EWE(ER)4E  Total comprehensive income (expense) for the year
FEIETT - attributable to:
N/NET] S Owners of the Company 759,152 2,725,766
IR Non-controlling interests (12,157) 39,769
746,995 2,765,535
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At 31st December, 2018
2018 2017
Bt 5 FExT FET
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
FRBEE Non-current assets
) E N i Property, plant and equipment 17 234,312 258,871
S-S /ES Investment properties 18 13,622,280 13,100,399
FREYE Properties for development 19 3,818,333 3,485,361
iR Deposits for acquisition of properties for
& development 193,245 236,196
T AEZBNTEER  Prepaid lease payments on land use rights 20 39,212 58,281
HihBE—FEEn Other assets — properties interests 17,225 18,142
N AN W T Interests in associates 21 2,891,331 2,939,345
RE &P s Interests in joint ventures 22 5,304,245 2,950,262
FEWE TR Loans receivable 31 264,305 122,972
A HERE Available-for-sale investments 23 = 292,370
BBBRIEAAEMEEIE 2 Financial assets at fair value through
SREE profit or loss 24 114,790 -
BREMBEWREIL AR Equity instruments at fair value through
BEREZIRATA other comprehensive income 25 211,698 -
(e Club memberships 10,500 -
ELEFIBEE Deferred tax assets 42 116,962 98,698
26,838,438 23,560,897
REBEE Current assets
MEFE Inventories of properties 26
— B RS — under development 1,797,689 1,762,245
—B%T — completed 3,993,950 3,557,462
HEiiFE Other inventories 27 415 1,952
Bt N EIR R Amounts due from associates 28 202,792 223,992
BEDERR Amounts due from joint ventures 29 1,333,437 1,789,769
FRERA R Amounts due from non-controlling
KRR shareholders 30 18,391 18,832
FEE TR Loans receivable 31 1,369,144 664,471
T 5 N EH A EWER R - Trade and other receivables, deposits and
e RIERHK prepayments 32 331,494 441,271
TH R 2 TN ESK  Prepaid lease payments on land use rights 20 892 898
BIEEERE Held-for-trading investments 33 - 81,527
FHIBIBRIE A A EMEEIE 2 Financial assets at fair value through
TREE profit or loss 24 229,885 -
FBIBEIE A A BERE 2 Equity securities at fair value through
NS profit or loss 34 49,390 -
TEBITHIE Prepaid tax 2,791 84,170
FEERIR Z SRITER Pledged bank deposits 48 552,663 186,202
RITEFERRE Bank balances and cash 2,293,386 4,782,753
12,176,319 13,595,544
REBAE Current liabilities
T 5 M E b FEABR IR Trade and other payables 35 1,859,071 1,536,349
AHaE Contract liabilities 36 1,991,420 _
EERS Pre-sale deposits = 2,491,148
RIBEE Tax liabilities 1,431,416 1,182,993
B BAETR Interest-bearing borrowings 37 1,328,035 865,566
R BMER Interest-free borrowings 38 950,768 20,281
7,560,710 6,096,337
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CONS?LIBATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)
RZF—N\F+=-A=+—8

At 31st December, 2018

2018 2017
Pt EE FExT FHT
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
REEEFE Net current assets 4,615,609 7,499,207
HEERRBER Total assets less current liabilities 31,454,047 31,060,104
BAR#EE Capital and reserves
R 7R Share capital 39 3,788,814 3,788,814
E Reserves 40 20,094,264 19,636,466
RABIRREGEZ Equity attributable to owners of the
G-y Company 23,883,078 23,425,280
IR Non-controlling interests 1,369,933 1,459,760
fESEE Total equity 25,253,011 24,885,040
FRBEE Non-current liabilities
i BAE R Interest-bearing borrowings 37 3,402,238 3,513,564
—ZMPZIEIEA S U A Deferred rental income from a tenant 41 24,800 33,845
MPzHEEs Rental deposits from tenants 22,145 15,932
EEFRITBEE Deferred tax liabilities 42 2,751,853 2,611,723
6,201,036 6,175,064
31,454,047 31,060,104

FISNEI103EEE271 B2 80 KHRAERN  The consolidated financial statements on pages 103 to 271 were
—E-NEFE=A+HBLESFTLFEARIZET approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 15th

o WH NIEERERESE March, 2019 and are signed on its behalf by:
Patrick Lee Seng Wei Edwin Lo King Yau

FHE BRh

Director Director

EE EF
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ARARRER
Attributable to owners of the Company
BRlE  TPEG FBRER
e Special  Exchange  EfREE  AMEE  ZHEH Non-  EHEH
Share capital  translation  Revaluation Other  Retained @5 controlling Total
capital reserve reserve reserves reserves  earnings Total interests Equity
TR TR TR TR TiEn TR TR TR Tn
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(Frit40)
(Witii)
(note 40)
(Note ii)
RZE—t5-A-H At 1st January, 2017 3,768,814 1,417,669 232,124 97,985 (5170) 15,981,789 21,513,211 538,184 22,051,395
HERSIIGRHELL Exchange differences arising on
EREE translation to presentation currency - - 575,005 - - - 575,005 918 575,923
BEENEBREEL Exchange differences arising on
EREE translation of foreign operations - - 19,231 - - - 19,231 - 19,231
ERBeRaARA%RE2  Shareof other comprehensive income of
Ef2EkE associates and joint ventures - - 113,986 - - - 113,986 - 113,986
—Mﬁﬁﬁ REMLEE Net change in fair value of
328 available-for-sale investments - - - (119,915) - - (119,915) 539 (119,376)
NEHEREL Impairment loss on available-for-sale
HEERYERE am investments classified to profit or loss - - - 78,168 - - 78,168 - 78,168
TEHERENALBE Deferred tax effect on change
BB BRI in fair value of available-for-sale
PE investments - - - 2338 - . 2338 i 2336
RERZRENERY Surplus on revaluation of properties and
NEREMEER prepaid lease payments upon transfer
BfhEH to investment properties - - - 8,764 - - 8,764 1,243 10,007
REEZRENERL Deferred tax effect on revaluation of
MEERZEL properties upon transfer to
FibEtio 7 investment properties - - - (5,953) - - (5,953) (895) (6,848)
FERER Profitfor the year . : . . S 2054140 2,054,142 37,94 2,092,106
TEE2ENE(ER) Total comprehensive income (expense)
an for the year - - 708,222 (36,598) - 2054142 2,725,766 39,769 2,765,535
YiE—FNEAR Acquisition of a subsidiary
(Hrit9) (note 9) - - - - - - - 177895 177,895
RHE-HNBLEEEE  Transfer on disposal of a subsidiary
(Wists) (note 8) - - 23,176 - - (23,176) - - -
REE FE]%?EQT BEE  Transfer on disposal of an associate - - (11,305) - - 11,305 - - -
BRHE-FNAEREL  Partial disposal of a subsidiary without
ﬁ%m%ﬂ/ loss of control (Note i . . . - B3 SB5031) 814831 489,700
—FERELANRAEER  Share repurchased and cancelled
i of a subsidiary - - - - 1,134 - 1,134 (3,865) (2,731)
RENE Dividend recognised as distribution
(Hi16) (note 16) - - - - - (489,700)  (489,700) - (489,700)
REAET Dividend distributed to
SR ES non-controlling interests - - - - - - - (107,054)  (107,054)
RZE—tF+-A=FT—H  At31st December, 2017 3,768,814 1,417,609 952,217 61,387 (329,167) 17,534,360  23,425280 1,459,760 24,885,040
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mREE=Z® P X (H)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED)

BE-ZT—\Ft-A=1t—RHLFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2018

AORRRES
Attributable to owners of the Company
it EX
BAfk  YORRE FERER
BA&  Special  Echange  EfiftE  HbRE  ZiEA Non-  RHEH
Share capital ~ translation  Revaluation Other  Retained &3t controlling Total
capital reserve reserve reserves  reserves - earnings Total interests Equity
TR TR TR TR TR TR TR T Tin
HK$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
(i)
(i)
(note 40)
(Note ii)
At 31st December, 2017 3,788,814 1,417,669 952,217 61,387 (329,167) 17,534,360 23,425,280 1,459,760 24,885,040
Effect on changes in accounting policies (note 2) - - - (77,903) - 77,903 - - -
At st January, 2018 (restated) 3,788,814 1,417,669 952,217 (16,516)  (329,167) 17,612,263 23,425,280 1,459,760 24,885,040
BERZIISRAELL Exchange differences arising on
Efz2 translation to presentation currency - - (297,565) - - - (297565 (16927)  (314,492)
BESIERRELL Exchange differences arising on
ErizE translation of foreign operations - - (67,605) - - - (67,605) - (67,605)
EEBERARAR R Share of other comprehensive expense
EH2EER of associates and joint ventures - - (64,920) - - - (64,920) - (64,920)
EREMZENE ? DAEEREZ  Netchangein fair value of investments
BATARER in equity instruments at fair value
BEZ through other comprehensive income - - - (64,955) - - (64,955) (1,681) (66,636)
ﬁf@if@@&ﬁfﬁﬂﬁ{%ﬁ@z Deferred tax effect on change in fair value of
BATARALNR investment in an equity instrument at fair value
EZ“@“ZLLWEE?%’ g through other comprehensive income - - - 3,603 - - 3,603 - 3,603
E\“@?"i,xéhﬁ ¥4 Surplus on revaluation of properties and
NEREARER prepaid lease payments upon transfer
ERH {o investment properties - - - 3,156 = = 3,156 1,054 4210
V‘Eﬁ@'fiﬁ%% SMEERZ Deferred tax effect on revaluation of properties upon
ERENy 2 transfer to investment properties - - - (4,527) - - (4,527) (1,512) (6,039)
A Others - - - - 763 - 763 - 763
KR Profit for the year - . . . o512 1,251,202 6,909 1,258,111
FERAE(BR ) ELE Total comprehensive (expense) income for the year - - (430,09)  (62,723) 763 1251202 759152 (12,157) 746,995
RHEEBEMZAUERDAEE  Transfer of revaluation reserves to retained eamings
REBATERBREMERER upon disposal of equity instrument at fair value
Zitiafl through other comprehensive income - - - 4,601 - (4,601) - - -
REAEA "’ﬁ/éf Dividend recognised as distribution (note 16 = = = = - (301,354 (301,354) - (301,354)
REDR TR ER Dividend distributed to non-controlling interests - - - o o o o (77,6700 (77,670)
REE-NEt-A=1+-B At 315t December, 2018 3,788,814 1,417,669 522127 (74,638)  (328,404) 18,557,510 23,883,078 1,369,933 25,253,011
Mzt Notes:
i) RBE_Z—tF+_HA=+—RHIFEAR X () During the year ended 31st December, 2017, the Group distributed its
5= H3% B 9 R R A AR R (PABT EE 16 4% 58 ) 59 R RS 3B 15.77% equity interest in Asiasec Properties Limited (“ASL”) through

BHEER AR ([EEME])15.77% 2 s ©
BRI B Z AR BEEFERERETDEEINZ
325,131,000 T2 R HENES A2 i EE

distribution of special dividend as disclosed in note 16. The difference
of HK$325,131,000 between the fair value of the special dividend and
the increase in carrying amount of the non-controlling interests had been

ﬁﬁaﬂ ® recognised directly in equity under other reserves.
iy RZBE—N\EF—A-—BEK_ZE—NE+=-A=1+— (ii) Revaluation reserves of the Group as at 1st January, 2018 and 31st
B $E.E1ﬁfﬁ1ﬁ@?ﬁﬁLﬁfﬁ%ﬁ”i SRS/ December, 2018 comprise the investment revaluation reserve arising from
REBEEREZRATAE(R=_Z—\F—-F—H&K the fair value adjustment on equity instruments at fair value through other

FHéfi%,ﬁ\ﬂ%i&%i’éH‘J”9?ﬁﬁﬁlfxﬂﬁiﬂj%(FEH#\Hj
EDRAEERL AR BEFAEMELZRESMR
it ARSI SR AR REGTEEZ
Y E AR

comprehensive income (previously described as available-for-sale (“AFS”)
investments prior to the adoption of HKFRS 9 on 1st January, 2018) and
property revaluation reserve arising from revaluation of properties upon
transfer to investment properties.
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REBRERB K
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
BEZZ— \F+-A=T—HItFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2018
2018 2017
i TR THT
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
BERK OPERATING ACTIVITIES
R R Profit before tax 1,867,569 2,556,443
HE Adjustments for:
LGN Other income and gains
—REMA - Dividend income (3,767) (3,253)
— R LB E R ~ Interest income on bank deposits and
FEWA loans receivable (273,035) (76,216)

—~REGELEZHSHA — Interest income from joint ventures (8,008) (22,252)
AHRHELE2 Impairment loss on available-for-sale

HEEE investments = 78,168
HEEERARNABEY Net decrease in fair value of

R held-for-trading investments - 15,444
BRERRAABERE L8  Net decrease in fair value of financial

BELRIABEIAD assets at fair value through profit or loss 68,246 -
BBBEREAABEREZRA  Net decrease in fair value of equity securities

EHL AR EBEFRD at fair value through profit or loss 29,597 _
—SHP RIS WA Deferred rental income from a tenant (8,267) (8,461)
BERINEFEBEE Fair value gain on transfer of inventories

RENF AABE of completed properties to investment

hen properties (229,137) (115,313)
REMERABEZEM Increase in fair value of investment properties (201,283) (338,453)
BRTYEGFEY Write-down of (reversal of write-down of)

BECHERD) inventories of completed properties 4,014 (1,020)
RIZRER Allowance for bad and doubtful debts = 22,989
g NG sl Share of profit of associates (55,688) (99,148)
ElEAECEET Share of profit of joint ventures (378,774) (253,219)
BB A Finance costs 155,964 153,841
WER#H Depreciation and amortisation 47,272 58,677
HE—RMRBAR 2 Gain on disposal of a subsidiary 8 = (1,633,977)
ZEWE—HRBEAR 2 Gain on bargain purchase of a subsidiary 9 - (60,856)
PERTHEDE  BMERREZ  (Gain) loss on disposal and write-off of property,

(W) B plant and equipment (78) 97

HEESEEA L Operating cash inflows before movements in

EERBMA working capital 1,014,625 273,491
MEFTERD(Em) Decrease (increase) in inventories of properties 904,598 (829,008)
FERMERBEFEE Increase in properties for development and deposits

M RRIEM for acquisition of properties for development (2,271,092) (140,114)
Hib &R GEm) Decrease (increase) in other inventories 1,537 (1,266)
R o REM BN - Decrease (increase) in trade and other receivables,

B RBEATURD (20) deposits and prepayments 145,121 (38,781)
ERRERAABEREL Decrease in equity securities at fair value through

BAEHRLD profit or loss 1,739 -
RE 2 BIFFRD Decrease in restricted bank deposits 470,112 207,097
X5 REMENRTIEM Increase in trade and other payables 358,094 167,922
BERSE Increase in pre-sale deposits - 733,909
aHaEHY Decrease in contract liabilities (442,460) _
MEzRLRSEMCHD) Increase (decrease) in rental deposits from tenants 6,579 (11,096)
RESEXB I RE Cash from operations 188,853 362,154
ERFEMEMRSE - THIEETR  PRC Enterprise Income Tax, Land Appreciation Tax

([H3i2ER ) - BIMER (“LAT"), overseas tax and Hong Kong Profits

EBHER Tax paid (103,771) (148,114)
B ERTERRTT PRC Enterprise Income Tax refunded 397 3,011
REEELBECHLFE NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 85,479 217,051
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

HE—T—\F+-A=+—HILFE

For the year ended 31st December, 2018

2018 2017
i TERT FAT
NOTES HK$'000 HK$’000
REXHK INVESTING ACTIVITIES

2IFE Interest received 248,511 110,108
BRORBEE D RINRE Dividends received from associates = 154,123
BUCREEEENRE Dividends received from joint ventures 245,708 9,047

RO Tﬁ%ﬁﬁhéﬁ’] Dividends received from available-for-sale

% & investments = 3,253
Eqﬁﬂiﬁ%ﬁ@ﬁm%@%éfﬁﬁ Dividends received from equity instruments at fair

BERERATANRS value through other comprehensive income 2,101 -
ElRBERBREANEE Ei ¥ Dividends received from financial assets at fair

ZTREENRE value through profit or loss 657 -
BENE  BELEHE Purchase of property, plant and equipment (5,073) (21,659)
HEME - BE R Proceeds on disposal of property,

Bl plant and equipment 476 737
BEIREME Purchase of investment properties (4,016) (694,722)
HEREMEMR Proceeds from disposal of investment properties,

BERME net of value added tax 12,548 2,008
Yis—FNBRRMEES Net cash outflow arising on acquisitions of

BembFE a subsidiary 9 = (131,522)
BARAZHERT Capital contribution to associates = (11,717)
WHE—EaehE Acquisition of a joint venture (1,495,701) (18,072)
BERIFEERE Purchase of held-for-trading investments - (5,941)
BEABERRAABMEREL  Purchase of financial assets at fair value through

SREE profit or loss (396,855) -
BEABEMEZANGIZLAERE  Purchase of equity instruments at fair value through

REZBRATA other comprehensive income (42,134) -
REEBEMEZEWERAREE  Proceeds from return of capital of an equity instrument

REZBATEMERRERS  atfair value through other comprehensive income 28,919 -
HEREREREME Proceeds from disposal of held-for-trading investments = 11,260
RELE-RHEARZ Net cash inflow from disposal of

ReRANFE a subsidiary 8 = 1,071,943
ERHENBELRZ Deposits refunded in relation to disposal of

ZeRE subsidiaries = (182,256)
A**ﬁ%ﬁ?x Advances to joint ventures (441,933) (447,992)

BERREN Repayment from joint ventures 61,182 266,230
Hﬁ?%@ BEN Repayment from associates 121,454 _
BREX Loans repaid 265,678 364,047
BYES Loans advanced (1,112,476) (625,153)

RIEER 2 RITFRZ R Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits 179,075 87,310
BRSBTS ZEA Placement of pledged bank deposits (550,000) (3,721)
BARREXBZRLFE NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (2,881,879) (62,689)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

BE—ZT—\Ft-A=1T—HLLFE

For the year ended 31st December, 2018

2018 2017
FET TAL
HK$/000 HK$'000
MEER FINANCING ACTIVITIES
BAFIE Interest paid (203,961) (186,189)
ERRE Dividend paid (301,354) -
BT IR R E Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders (77,670) (107,054)
%ﬂﬂﬁﬂﬂ&ﬁ‘rﬁzgm New bank and other loans raised 1,557,395 2,681,230
FRIFTNEMER Repayment of bank and other loans (1,087,483) (1,868,741)
—EHBARMRDEERFEE  Share repurchased and cancelled of a subsidiary = (2,731)
REHEDAE ?A Advances from associates 6,128 _
REAEDERT Advances from joint ventures 932,111 10,789
% EAM/&%F*” Repayment to joint ventures (3,128) -
FE—EAELEKFER Repayment to a joint venture partner - (70,588)
REMEEK RS FE NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 822,038 456,716
ReRBLEAEER NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH
(R B InFE AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (1,974,362) 611,078
R—B—-BzEERK CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Re%EER AT 1ST JANUARY 4,194,781 3,559,907
MNERARRE 2 HE Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (44,893) 23,796
R+=A=1+-8z CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
e RBLEAEER AT 31ST DECEMBER 2,175,526 4,194,781
ReRBSERE ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES OF CASH AND
BRERDM CASH EQUIVALENTS
BIORFLRRS Bank balances and cash 2,293,386 4,782,753
B RIRE 2 SRITER(E) Less: restricted bank deposits (Note) (117,860) (587,972)
2,175,526 4,194,781

Bt - ;\;ﬁ SAGZAEESITEERES - ZAES Note: The restricted bank deposits are included in bank balances and cash which

BEREAREENYXERIEAR -

can only be applied in the designated property development projects.
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TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE-Z-\F+-_A=t—RALFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2018

1. B

RZPEREERAR(ARADR—RER
AEMKLZ AR ETBERAR  ERHDES
BMERZAERAR(BRPT]) £ - AR
) R % 22 BE H Ak TR R 3 B M B A AN
W ABER | —HRRKE -

ARRIREMBAR (MBI AEE ) ETERE
MEZRRIIE - REMEEERREER -
ARBZNEEEBARETARE]) - AA
SEZABOEBHEPEARKMBE([F
BDEZ - REPHREAFTEEE(ET))
25 EERARFNDEEEEATE - TR
BARRBZz LTy - ARRZER(EE])
RRAETLNERBBEZE2ER -

2. ERAEBMBHRERERN(FEMK
|ELER ) 2 HET RAERT A

RAEAFEBRBER 2B RBYHREER
ZHE] RAEET A

RAFEE  AEECEREATIIBELER
EhAE([EEGEAE ) RMHZ B EMER
EERZFET RIERTA

BERKR
BER KR

TRIA

RERPANMRARIAREE
HES

IR B RBMNRE

ERERIFIE

EREBIF155

B (ERMGRERE
ZE8)-R2EFLR

BEM GRS E B REENRN R S8 0
F2IREFTA BRitE

BEM RS E BEAMBEREEAB4TIR
FARIERTA REO—-GERNBEHE

FERAFIREHTA
ERBEMBRELN T

—MEE-T-RFESZ

FEMEZ B
BERANE

BRGRHERF285
CHEN

AR EERSE405
CHES

1. GENERAL

Tian An China Investments Company Limited (“Company”) is
a public limited company incorporated in Hong Kong and its
securities are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“Stock Exchange”). The address of the registered office which is
also principal place of business of the Company is disclosed in the
“Corporate Information” section of the annual report.

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) are property development
and investment, provision of property management and investment
holding. The functional currency of the Company is Renminbi
(“RMB”) as the Group conducts most of its operations in the People’s
Republic of China (“PRC”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in the currency of Hong Kong (“Hong Kong Dollars”)
which is different from the functional currency of the Company, as
the directors of the Company (“Directors”) consider that Hong Kong
Dollars is the most appropriate presentation currency in view of its
place of listing.

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

The Group has applied the following new and amendments to HKFRSs
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) for the first time in the current year:

HKFRS 9
HKFRS 15

Financial Instruments

Revenue from Contracts with Customers
and the related Amendments

HK (IFRIC) — Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and
Advance Consideration

Classification and Measurement of Share-
based Payment Transactions

Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

with HKFRS 4 Insurance Contracts

Amendments to HKFRS 2

Amendments to HKFRS 4

Amendments to HKAS 28  As part of the Annual Improvements to

HKFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle

Amendments to HKAS 40  Transfers of Investment Property
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

HE-Z— \F+-A=+—HLFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2018

2. EAEEMBHREREN(EFEME
HEERQ ) 2 FET RAEFT A (48)

REFEBRFERZEBYBHREER
ZHTR] RAERT A (48)

BRI ATLE SN - AFERAE SRS R
IR RAEFTAB AR EERANFE SR EFE
ZHBRB RN, HERZEGA PR
RZBPBXWBERTE -

21 ERUBHEERNERRAEFS
31: 0L N

AEBERAFEEREATEMHHRELER
F155% - FRUBRELNF15RRAETES
RPEAIF18H WAL - BAGH BRI
[ZEEEH | MIRMERE -

AEECEPERABEBYBEREERNE155E
YR -F—\F-A-BEREAAERER
FERZERNRFFE - REXER A OER
ZENPV R (REENE MBS - 10
ER)ER ML BREMLARES - I RE
BEMBEREERNF15RAEREMGEI - AEE
EEEREPERAZENR T N\F—A—
BRARTREEL o Bt - BT HLERER AT
BELE  AREBEHTDIREEESER
F18RMA I RFBEHEYF115R2ES
M IRAEREmRSR -

AEBYEAT EERIREREA

o HEDRIYXE

o HEWA(TEZTEMBHREERIFI55
MEER)

s MEEEERKA
BRAKEERE SN B RE LR FI55RME

EZBHOBEERSTBERNER D BRI &3
M5HFE o

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (continued)

Except as described below, the application of the new and
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material
impact on the Group’s financial performance and positions for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

2.1 HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The Group has applied HKFRS 15 for the first time in the current year.
HKFRS 15 superseded HKAS 18 “Revenue”, HKAS 11 “Construction
Contracts” and the related interpretations.

The Group has applied HKFRS 15 retrospectively with the cumulative
effect of initially applying this standard recognised at the date of
initial application, Tst January, 2018. Any difference at the date of
initial application is recognised in the opening retained earnings
(or other components of equity, as appropriate) and comparative
information has not been restated. Furthermore, in accordance with
the transition provisions in HKFRS 15, the Group has elected to apply
the standard retrospectively only to contracts that are not completed
at 1st January, 2018. Accordingly, certain comparative information
may not be comparable as comparative information was prepared
under HKAS 18 “Revenue” and HKAS 11 “Construction Contracts”
and the related interpretations.

The Group recognises revenue from the following major sources:

Sales of completed properties

Rental income (not within the scope of HKFRS 15)

e Property management fee income

Information about the Group’s performance obligations and the
accounting policies resulting from application of HKFRS 15 are
disclosed in notes 3 and 5 respectively.
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TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

HE-Z— \F+-A=+—BLFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2018

2. BAEEMBHREREN(EEMK
WEREQ ) 2 FET RAEFT A (48)

2.1 ERAMBREERFISEREEFRFS
BB (&)

BEAXEHE BRI BHEERE15FTEEL
Ry EZHE

EREEMBREERE15RENAFERWK
AHEEREREEIR - \F—A—ANZ
FhEAMY EERTE -

EHR T \F— A - BHEEMBERREK
PR CRRIELIATHRE - RESAXED
TENIAE ©

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

2.1 HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(continued)

Summary of effects arising from initial application of HKFRS 15

The application of the HKFRS 15 has no significant impact on the
timing and amounts of revenue in the current year and retained
earnings at Tst January, 2018.

The following adjustments were made to the amounts recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position at 1st January,
2018. Line items that were not affected by the changes have not been
included.

B AR BiE
—E—+tF ERMBHRE
+=-A=+-—H ERIZE155
2z R=Z-—N\&F
RREE —A—B2Z
Carrying AREE
amounts Carrying
previously amounts under
reported at HKFRS 15 at
31st December, BEHoE 1st January,
2017 Reclassification 2018
FABT FAT T
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
REBBEE Current liabilities
BELS Pre-sale deposits 2,491,148 (2,491,148) -
aHBIE Contract liabilities - 2,491,148 2,491,148

RERERE @ BEEWETREMKEA R
ERA TEEIRSE 52,491,148,000/8 7T ° = FE
REBYGHELDE 155 - LAEREHD

BEAMAE-

At the date of initial application, pre-sale deposits of
HK$2,491,148,000 related to the consideration received from sales
of properties to customers. This balance was reclassified to contract
liabilities upon application of HKFRS 15.
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2.1 BEARAMBREERFISERBEEFRFS
BB (&)

BEAXERE BRI BEHEERE155TEE
IEZHE ()

TR EBEENFREEANE15HFHAE
BR—Z-NF+-A=+—BHEaHBER
MERPEBE-_T—\F+_A=1T—HLFE
HERERBRERFENTHACEE - &
REABMGHREERE 1 REAEEGSER
REMEHRSERTBEAZE KREEARE
HHTENEAR -

HEEMBRRERZTE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

2.1 HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(continued)

Summary of effects arising from initial application of HKFRS 15
(continued)

The following tables summarise the impacts of applying HKFRS 15
on the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position as at 31st
December, 2018 and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year ended 31st December, 2018 for each of the line items affected.
Application of HKFRS 15 did not have any impact on the Group’s
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income for the current year. Line items that were not affected by the
changes have not been included.

Impact on the consolidated statement of financial position

RER
BEENBRE
ZERISE155%
ZEEE
Amount
23R without
As EFH7%¥  application of
reported Reclassification HKFRS 15
FET FET FHT
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
mEBE Current liabilities
EERE Pre-sale deposits - 1,991,420 1,991,420
sEHAaE Contract liabilities 1,991,420 (1,991,420) -

EREBEAVBRELELNFISHER  EE
EMETFTEFAMUBNAEHRBzESRS
1,991,420,0008 TEF D HEEERLHBE -

Upon application of HKFRS 15, pre-sale deposits of
HK$1,991,420,000 related to the consideration received from sales of
properties to customers was reclassified to contract liabilities.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2018

2. EAERUEREEN(EFAEBHE 2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
WEERA ) 2HET RIEETAR(E) TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

2.1 EERBELZBEISERBEEFS 2.1 HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

WA (&) (continued)
BEAREREBYBEHEERE155EL  Summary of effects arising from initial application of HKFRS 15
VRSB HE(E) (continued)
HRERERBRZTE Impact on the consolidated statement of cash flows
KIER
ERMB®RE
FERIE155%
ZeH
Amount
2% without
As EFSE  application of
reported Reclassification HKFRS 15
FAT FAT FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BEXRY OPERATING ACTIVITIES
EERE R Decrease in pre-sale deposits - (442,460) (442,460)
EHaERD Decrease in contract liabilities (442,460) 442,460 -

ERABBMBHREELFE 155 - THEILS  Upon application of HKFRS 15, decrease in pre-sale deposits of
S 442,460,000 TEF D EEZ AL BMEM  HK$442,460,000 was reclassified to decrease in contract liabilities.
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2. EAEEMBHREREN(EFEME
HEERQ ) 2 FET RAEFT A (48)
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ORI BT A | REMEBFEM RS LT
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—N\F-A—HERUIERNTARERZE
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HIM REHa M M s e Bt B 0 #ERR - 1 L
BRI ARED -
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ERRERE G ERE3GRI BT A : #
RBEGHE RS

ERERETEMBRELENFIR & TA]
PREEM ST R BERHIES -

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

2.2 HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

In the current year, the Group has applied HKFRS 9 “Financial
Instruments” and the related consequential amendments to
other HKFRSs. HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for (i) the
classification and measurement of financial assets and financial
liabilities; (ii) expected credit losses (“ECL”) for financial assets and
other items (for example, lease receivables and financial guarantee
contracts); and (iii) general hedge accounting.

The Group has applied HKFRS 9 in accordance with the transition
provisions set out in HKFRS 9, i.e. applied the classification and
measurement requirements (including impairment under ECL model)
retrospectively to instruments that have not been derecognised as at
1st January, 2018 (date of initial application) and has not applied the
requirements to instruments that have already been derecognised as at
1st January, 2018. The difference between carrying amounts as at 31st
December, 2017 and the carrying amounts as at Tst January, 2018 are
recognised in the opening retained earnings and other components of
equity, without restating comparative information.

Accordingly, certain comparative information may not be comparable
as comparative information was prepared under HKAS 39 “Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”.

Accounting policies resulting from application of HKFRS 9 are
disclosed in note 3.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

22 EBEBELRBIOESETE(Z) 2.2 HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

BEAERE BRI BHEEREITTEL
Ry E R

Summary of effects arising from initial application of HKFRS 9

The table below illustrates the classification and measurement of
financial assets and other items subject to ECL under HKFRS 9 and
HKAS 39 at the date of initial application, 1st January, 2018.

TRFABBRBEB BT RS LR FIFRRES
ST EAFERREXERAR T —N\F—A
—BEXIEREEEEYENSREEREM
BEZDHERGTE -

ERRE
RAABERE
ZREES
(RARIEA
KERERE)
Equity EREM
securities PERER
at fair value EBRE  ALBEEE
through profit ZAABERE  ZRAIR
orloss — ZE&REE Equity
(previously Financial ~ instruments
THHEERE classified assetsat  at fair value
Available- as held- fairvalue  throughother ~ E&HE%E EfifRE Epv
for-sale for-trading  through profit - comprehensive Club  Revaluation Retained
investments  investments) o loss income  memberships reserves earnings
TEL TR T TEL TEL TEL TEL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(Wita) (Hstb) (Hiita) (Hita) (Hita) (Hita) (Wita)
(Note a) (Note b) (Note a) (Note a) (Note a) (Note a) (Note a)
RIZ—+ET-A=1-H Closing balance at
RIS 31st December, 2017
-EREIEEN - HKAS 39 292,370 81,527 - - - 61387 17,534,360
ENAE Reclassification (292,370) - 12,566 269,304 10,500 (77,903) 77,903
RZZ-NGE—-A—-BZEMEH  Opening balance at Tst January, 2018 - 81,527 12,566 269,304 10,500 (16,516) 17,612,263
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BEAERE BRI BB EEREINTEE
G EE ()

paz -

(a)

(b)

AEHERE
AR & 2 IR R E 0 ERT M

AEERENEME2EEE( EM2mizsl) 25
FBEERESBEANHEERENRETREN AR
BREE  ZERETEHERE - TTHEHRN
A RREE - REBHHREERESHRAE X
JEF B + 269,304,0007% 7T &% 12,566,000/ 7T 5 Bl
HAMEHEREEN S REEREME2EERZEA
AEEEE([EREME2ERSZEARBERE])
ZRATARBBREBZEAABEER([BBES
BARBEERE])ZCREE - ZTEFMHERSE
BHOABREARBEREZRATANEE
2Z AR EBEUEE49,529,00078 T E 2t R E G
i REHMOEEERERERANEBEREZ®
REEMREZ AR BEEE2650008 TR
—N\F—A-AREARFEERZZ:5F - F51
RN A HEEIRE CRERER SRS ER
FORNEASBEMEAKRSEANBEEE Y
RATER)ZMEEE78,168,000/8 TR - —N\
F—A—BRBaFEBEESEEE o it - K
£ EAELEIES 510,500,000 TR AIHEEZ &
REESTNOBESELLEE -

ERBRRAABEEEZRAFTS

FIEFEBENRABFREARBE BN EREER
FIORNBABRBEREAABERE - EAEE
MM EERNEIRY AZEEERBOERSE
WA -
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

2.2 HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

Summary of effects arising from initial application of HKFRS 9
(continued)

Notes:

@)

(b)

AFS investments
Reclassification of AFS equity investments

The Group elected to present in other comprehensive income (“OCl”) for
the fair value changes of all its equity investments previously classified as
available-for-sale investments. These investments are not held for trading
and not expected to be sold in the foreseeable future. At the date of initial
application of HKFRS 9, HK$269,304,000 and HK$12,566,000 were
reclassified from available-for-sale investments to equity instruments at fair
value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) and financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) respectively. The fair value gains of
HK$49,529,000 relating to those investments reclassified to equity instruments
at FVTOCI continued to accumulate in revaluation reserves. The fair value
losses of HK$265,000 relating to the investment reclassified to financial asset
at FVTPL were transferred from revaluation reserves to retained earnings as
at 1st January, 2018. Impairment loss previously recognised on available-for-
sale investments now classified as equity instrument at FVTOCI under HKFRS
9 of HK$78,168,000 was transferred from retained earnings to revaluation
reserves as at Tst January, 2018. In addition, the Group’s club memberships
of HK$10,500,000 were reclassified from available-for-sale financial assets to
club memberships.

Equity securities at FVTPL

Investments are equity securities held for trading which are required to be
classified as FVTPL under HKFRS 9. There was no impact on the amounts
recognised in relation to these assets upon the application of HKFRS 9.



120

Annual Report 2018

e MB®RWNE (E

TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

HE-Z— \F+-A=+—BLFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2018

2. BAEEMBHREREN(EEMK
WEREQ ) 2 FET RAEFT A (48)

22 BEBRMHRELENEREMTAE)

BEAERE BRI BHEEREITTEL
Ry B (E)

Hiet : ()
(0 FEHEEEBERXTHRE

AEBERRAEEFEREERNF IR IENUG
EEMERER - ARMERZRURSFRB RS
BEHEEER - HTAEEREEER  XHEH
ERHERBARNEERREHED A -

BEBERASR B ERAENERBEEIER
EEMBYIRS KRS - BEERNRITER R
17877 - AERE HERF]FHERERRFUA
REWES - WRE12{EANBEREREEE( 128
AMEHEEEEDE @ MEERRK A ERER
&I AAGREIE N ©

ERBEEMBHREEANFOREARERNSRE
ERERBERR T \F— A —BNRHENIL
BEATE -

23 ERETERNEIOREITAERRE
LUE S

REERIARE  BRERERAKRENES
ZHEMERENEXETETEREYMEN
EFE - WARBIHARDHNENEE - %5
ERIARE—HBIE - BR BT ERIF405R
FREVIERSN - ISR A ERRE BB AR
& MAERYMENREAIELIRAERNENER
(BN TNMERRBERTMHERBRNE) o

REXRERE  AEBEREZ A FENBERT
HETHEIER  MER_T-\F—HA—H
MWOBIWETE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

2.2 HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

Summary of effects arising from initial application of HKFRS 9
(continued)

Notes: (continued)
(c) Impairment under ECL model

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measure ECL which uses
a lifetime ECL for all trade receivables. To measure the ECL, trade receivables
have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics.

Loss allowances for other financial assets at amortised cost mainly comprise
of other receivables and deposits, pledged bank deposits, bank balances,
amounts due from joint ventures/associates/non-controlling shareholders and
loans receivable are measured on 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) basis and there
had been no significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.

The application of the HKFRS 9 has no significant impact on the provision
of impairment of financial assets in the current reporting period and retained
earnings at 1st January, 2018.

2.3 Amendments to HKAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property

The amendments clarify that a transfer to, or from, investment
property necessitates an assessment of whether a property meets, or
has ceased to meet, the definition of investment property, supported
by evidence that a change in use has occurred. The amendments
further clarify that situations other than the ones listed in HKAS 40
may evidence a change in use, and that a change in use is possible
for properties under construction (i.e. a change in use is not limited to
completed properties).

At the date of initial application, the Group assessed the classification
of certain properties based on conditions existed at that date, there is
no impact to the classification at 1st January, 2018.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

2.4 Impacts on opening consolidated statement of financial
position arising from the application of all new standards,
amendments and interpretation

As a result of the changes in the Group’s accounting policies above,
the opening consolidated statement of financial position had to be
restated. The following table shows the adjustments recognised for
each individual line items affected. Line items that were not affected
by the changes have not been included.

(RER) (&%)
—E—tF —E-N\E¥
+t=ZA=t+—H —HA—H
(Audited) FEBHBEE BEUERE (Restated)
31st December, ZBIZE155% B ZE95E 1st January,
2017 HKFRS 15 HKFRS 9 2018
FET FET FHET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FRBEE Non-current assets
AHHERE Available-for-sale investments 292,370 - (292,370) -
FBBBFRAABEREY  Financial assets
TREE at FVTPL - - 12,566 12,566
FEBHEMEEmESRARL  Equity instruments
BEEERATLA at FVvTOCI - - 269,304 269,304
GESik Club memberships - - 10,500 10,500
wEAE Current liabilities
BERS Pre-sale deposits 2,491,148 (2,491,148) - -
BHBE Contract liabilities - 2,491,148 - 2,491,148
RAR e Capital and reserves
BILFHE Revaluation reserves 61,387 - (77,903) (16,516)
S vl Retained earnings 17,534,360 - 77,903 17,612,263
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments

to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 16
HKFRS 17
HK(IFRIC)-Int 23

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 9

Amendments to HKFRS 10

and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 19

Amendments to HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRSs

A W oN o

Leases’

Insurance Contracts?

Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments’

Definition of a Business*

Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation’

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture?

Definition of Material>

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement!

Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint
Ventures!

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2015-2017 Cycle!

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2019

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2021

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined
Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for which the

acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual period beginning

on or after 1st January, 2020

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2020

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below,

the Directors anticipate that the application of all other new and

amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the

consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
(continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the identification
of lease arrangements and accounting treatments for both lessors and
lessees. HKFRS 16 will supersede HKAS 17 “Leases” and the related
interpretations when it becomes effective.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts on the basis of
whether an identified asset is controlled by a customer. In addition,
HKFRS 16 requires sales and leaseback transactions to be determined
based on the requirements of HKFRS 15 as to whether the transfer
of the relevant asset should be accounted as a sale. HKFRS 16 also
includes requirements relating to subleases and lease modifications.

Distinctions of operating leases and finance leases are removed for
lessee accounting, and is replaced by a model where a right-of-use
asset and a corresponding liability have to be recognised for all leases
by lessees, except for short-term leases and leases of low value assets.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and subsequently
measured at cost (subject to certain exceptions) less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, adjusted for any remeasurement
of the lease liability. The lease liability is initially measured at the
present value of the lease payments that are not paid at that date.
Subsequently, the lease liability is adjusted for interest and lease
payments, as well as the impact of lease modifications, amongst
others. For the classification of cash flows, the Group currently
presents upfront prepaid lease payments as investing cash flows
in relation to leasehold lands for owned use and those classified
as investment properties while other operating lease payments are
presented as operating cash flows.

Upon application of HKFRS 16, lease payments in relation to lease
liability will be allocated into a principal and an interest portion
which will be presented as financing cash flows by the Group, upfront
prepaid lease payments will continue to be presented as investing or
operating cash flows in accordance to the nature, as appropriate.

Other than certain requirements which are also applicable to
lessor, HKFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting
requirements in HKAS 17, and continues to require a lessor to classify
a lease either as an operating lease or a finance lease.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
(continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS 16.

As at 31st December, 2018, the Group has non-cancellable operating
lease commitments of HK$1,915,000 with remaining lease term to
be ended within one year as disclosed in note 43. A preliminary
assessment indicates that these arrangements will meet the definition
of a lease. Upon application of HKFRS 16, the Group will apply
practical expedient to account for these leases as short-term leases.

The application of new requirements may result in changes in
measurement, presentation and disclosure as indicated above.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution
of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture

The amendments to HKFRS 10 “Consolidated Financial Statements”
and HKAS 28 “Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures” deal
with situations where there is a sale or contribution of assets between
an investor and its associate or joint venture. Specifically, the
amendments state that gains or losses resulting from the loss of control
of a subsidiary that does not contain a business in a transaction with
an associate or a joint venture that is accounted for using the equity
method, are recognised in the parent’s profit or loss only to the
extent of the unrelated investors’ interests in that associate or joint
venture. Similarly, gains and losses resulting from the remeasurement
of investments retained in any former subsidiary (that has become
an associate or a joint venture that is accounted for using the equity
method) to fair value are recognised in the former parent’s profit or
loss only to the extent of the unrelated investors’ interests in the new
associate or joint venture.

The amendments are to be applied prospectively to transactions
occurring in annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined. The Directors anticipate that the application of these
amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 may have an impact on the
Group’s consolidated financial statements in future periods should
such transactions arise.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
(continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2015-2017 Cycle

The annual improvement packages amended the following four
standards.

HKAS 12 Income Taxes

The amendments clarify that an entity should recognise the income
tax consequences of dividends in profit or loss, other comprehensive
income or equity according to where the entity originally recognised
the transactions that generated the distributable profits. This is the
case irrespective of whether different tax rates apply to distributed
and undistributed profits.

HKAS 23 Borrowing Costs

The amendments clarify that if any specific borrowing remains
outstanding after the related asset is ready for its intended use
or sale, that borrowing becomes part of the funds that an entity
borrows generally when calculating the capitalisation rate on general
borrowings.

HKFRS 3 Business Combinations

The amendments clarify that when an entity obtains control of a
business that is a joint operation, the entity applies the requirements
for a business combination achieved in stages, including remeasuring
its previously held interest in the joint operation at fair value. The
previously held interest to be remeasured includes any unrecognised
assets, liabilities and goodwill relating to the joint operation.

HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements

The amendments clarify that when a party that participates in, but
does not have joint control of, a joint operation that is a business
obtains joint control of such a joint operation, the entity does not
remeasure its previously held interest in the joint operation.

The Directors anticipate that the application of these amendments
may have an impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements
in future periods should such transactions arise.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for certain properties and financial
instruments, that are measured at fair values at the end of each
reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies set out
below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of consideration
given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated to use another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability
if market participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-
based payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2
“Share-based Payment”, leasing transactions that are within the scope
of HKAS 17 “Leases”, and measurements that have some similarities
to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in
HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value in use in HKAS 36 “Impairment of
Assets”.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

For investment properties which are transacted at fair value and a
valuation technique that uses unobservable inputs is to be used to
measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation technique
is calibrated so that the results of the valuation technique equal the
transaction price.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements
are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which
the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety,
which are described as follows:

e Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date;

e Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly; and

e Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below:
Inventories of properties

Inventory of completed properties held for sale and inventories
of properties under development for sale are stated at the lower
of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises the cost of land,
development expenditure, other attributable costs and borrowing
costs capitalised. Net realisable value is determined by reference to
the management estimates based on prevailing market conditions.
Inventories of properties are transferred to investment properties at fair
value when there is a change in use, evidenced by commencement of
an operating lease. The difference between the carrying amount and
the fair value at the date of transfer is recognised directly in profit or
loss.

Properties for development

Properties for development is stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any identified impairment loss. Cost comprises the
consideration for acquisition of land use rights and other costs are
directly attributable to bringing the leasehold land to the condition
necessary for it to be capable of development of the properties. The
consideration for acquisition of land use rights represent leasehold
land held for future development. The costs that are directly
attributable to bringing the leasehold land to the condition necessary
for it to be capable of development of the properties are capitalised as
costs of properties for development.

Amortisation of properties for development are recognised in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Investment properties

Investment properties are properties which are held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation or both. Investment properties include
land held for undetermined future use, which is regarded as held for
capital appreciation purpose.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at their fair value. All of the
Group's property interests held under operating leases to earn rentals
or for capital appreciation purposes are classified and accounted for
as investment properties and are measured using the fair value model.
Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment
properties are included in profit or loss for the period in which they
arise.

Construction costs incurred for investment properties under
construction are capitalised as part of the carrying amount of the
investment properties under construction.

Transfer from investment property to property, plant and equipment
will be made when there is a change in use, evidenced by
commencement of owner occupation. Transfer from investment
property to property under development will be made where there is
a change in use, evidence by the commencement of construction for
property for sale. For a transfer from investment property carried at
fair value to owner-occupied property, the property’s deemed cost for
subsequent accounting are determined by reference to its fair value at
the date of change in use.

Inventory of properties is transferred to investment property when it
is evidenced by the inception of an operating lease to another party.
The difference between the fair value and the carrying amount at the
date of transfer is recognised in profit or loss.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use or no future
economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss
arising on derecognition of the property, calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset, is included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the
year in which the item is derecognised.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit before tax as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss because income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is
calculated to use tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition,
deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates,
and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and interests are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and
they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or
the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred
tax assets for investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed
to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is
rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment property is
depreciable and is held within a business model whose objective is to
consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment property over time, rather than through sale.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets
and liabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax is recognised to profit or loss, except when
it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, in which case the current and deferred tax are
also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in
the accounting for the business combination.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Impairment losses

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible assets with finite useful lives to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of tangible assets are estimated individually,
when it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are
also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the
highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value
in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss
that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro
rata to the other assets of the unit. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount
of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating
unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers (upon application of
HKFRS 15 in accordance with transitions in note 2)

Under HKFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods
or services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle
of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time
by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

e the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group’s performance as the Group performs;

e the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the Group performs; or

e the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on output method, which is to recognise
revenue on the basis of direct measurements of the value of the
goods or services transferred to the customer to date relative to the
remaining goods or services promised under the contract, that best
depict the Group’s performance in transferring control of goods or
services.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers (upon application of
HKFRS 15 in accordance with transitions in note 2) (continued)

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the promised
amount of consideration for the effects of the time value of money if
the timing of payments agreed (either explicitly or implicitly) provides
the customer or the Group with a significant benefit of financing the
transfer of goods or services to the customer. In those circumstances,
the contract contains a significant financing component. A significant
financing component may exist regardless of whether the promise of
financing is explicitly stated in the contract or implied by the payment
terms agreed to by the parties to the contract.

For contracts where the period between payment and transfer of the
associated goods or services is less than one year, the Group applies
the practical expedient of not adjusting the transaction price for any
significant financing component.

Revenue recognition (prior to 1st January, 2018)

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable and represents amounts receivable for goods sold and
services provided in the normal course of business, net of tax and
discounts.

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can be reliably
measured; when it is probable that future economic benefits will flow
to the Group and when specific criteria have been met for each of the
Group's activities, as described below.

Income from properties developed for sale is recognised when the
significant risks and rewards of ownership of the properties are
transferred to buyers, which is when the construction of relevant
properties has been completed and the properties have been
delivered to the purchasers and collectibility of related receivables is
reasonably assured. Profit or loss arising from the outright sale of an
entire development property prior to completion is recognised when
a binding sales contract becomes unconditional and the risks and
rewards of the ownership have been transferred to the buyer.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Revenue recognition (prior to 1st January, 2018) (continued)

Deposits received from sales of properties prior to meeting the above
criteria for revenue recognition are carried in the consolidated
statement of financial position under current liabilities.

Sales of other goods are recognised when goods are delivered and
title has passed.

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a time basis, by
reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest
rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated
future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to
that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the Group’s
rights to receive payment have been established.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

e has power over the investee;

e is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired
or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss from the date the Group gains control until
the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests are having a deficit
balance.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the Group’s
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately
from the Group’s equity therein, which represent present ownership
interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net assets of
the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result in
the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as
equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s relevant
components of equity and the non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries,
including re-attribution of relevant reserves between the Group and
the non-controlling interests according to the Group’s and the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of
the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any)
are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and
is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the
fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any
retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary are attributable
to the owners of the Company. All amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss
or transferred to another category of equity as specified/permitted
by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in
the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as
the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under
HKFRS 9/HKAS 39, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of
an investment in an associate or a joint venture.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. Acquisition related costs are generally recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

e deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities related
to employee benefit arrangements are recognised and measured
in accordance with HKAS 12 “Income Taxes” and HKAS 19
“Employee Benefits” respectively;

e liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree or share-based payment
arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree are measured
in accordance with HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment” at the
acquisition date; and

e assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in
accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations” are measured in accordance with that
standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net amount of the identifiable
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as at acquisition date. If,
after re-assessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum
of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously
held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially
measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Business combinations (continued)

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair
value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains
control), and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit
or loss or other comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts
arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that
has previously been recognised in other comprehensive income and
measured under HKFRS 9/HKAS 39 would be accounted for on the
same basis as would be required if the Group had disposed directly of
the previously held equity interest.

Interests in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have
joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the
joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing
of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions
about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties
sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and joint ventures
are incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using the
equity method of accounting. The financial statements of associates
and joint ventures used for equity accounting purposes are prepared
using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under the equity
method, an investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost
and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit
or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate or joint
venture. Changes in net assets of the associate/joint venture other than
profit or loss and other comprehensive income are not accounted for
unless such changes resulted in changes in ownership interest held by
the Group. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate or joint
venture exceeds the Group's interest in that associate or joint venture
(which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part
of the Group’s net investment in the associate or joint venture), the
Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional
losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred
legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate or joint venture.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Interests in associates and joint ventures (continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for using
the equity method from the date on which the investee becomes an
associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in an
associate or a joint venture, any excess of the cost of the investment
over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is
included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess
of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after reassessment, is
recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that
the interest in an associate or a joint venture may be impaired.
When any objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount
of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets” as a single asset
by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair
value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment
loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the investment.
Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with
HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an associate
or joint control over a joint venture, it is accounted for as a disposal
of the entire interest in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. When the Group retains an interest in
the former associate or joint venture and the retained interest is a
financial asset within the scope of HKFRS 9/HKAS 39, the Group
measures the retained interest at fair value at that date and the fair
value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition. The difference
between the carrying amount of the associate or joint venture at the
date the equity method was discontinued, and the fair value of any
retained interest and any proceeds from disposing the relevant interest
in the associate or joint venture is included in the determination of the
gain or loss on disposal of the associate or joint venture. In addition,
the Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that associate or joint venture on
the same basis as would be required if that associate or joint venture
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a
gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income by
that associate or joint venture would be reclassified to profit or loss on
the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies
the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification
adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of the relevant associate or
joint venture.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Interests in associates and joint ventures (continued)

The Group continues to use the equity method when an investment
in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture or an
investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in an associate.
There is no remeasurement to fair value upon such changes in
ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate or a
joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity method, the
Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss
that had previously been recognised in other comprehensive income
relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related
assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture of
the Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the
associate or joint venture are recognised in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the associate or
joint venture that are not related to the Group.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention
in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS
15 since 1st January, 2018. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on
initial recognition. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts and payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life
of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (upon
application of HKFRS 9 in accordance with transitions in note 2)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at FVTOCI:

e the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows
and selling; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (upon
application of HKFRS 9 in accordance with transitions in note 2)
(continued)

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL, except
that at the date of initial application/initial recognition of a financial
asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes
in fair value of an equity investment in OCI if that equity investment
is neither held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised by
an acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 “Business
Combinations” applies.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the
near term;

e on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together and has a
recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

e itis a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging
instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that are required to be measured at the amortised cost or FVTOCI as
measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an
accounting mismatch.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (upon
application of HKFRS 9 in accordance with transitions in note 2)
(continued)

(i) Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for
financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost and debt
instruments/receivables subsequently measured at FVTOCI. Interest
income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the
amortised cost of the financial asset from the next reporting period. If
the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so
that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting
period following the determination that the asset is no longer credit
impaired.

(ii) Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are subsequently
measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes in fair
value recognised in OCI and accumulated in the revaluation reserve;
and are not subject to impairment assessment. The cumulative gain or
loss will not be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity
investments.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (upon
application of HKFRS 9 in accordance with transitions in note 2)
(continued)

(ii) Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI (continued)

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are recognised
in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive the dividends is
established, unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of part
of the cost of the investment. Dividends are included in the “other
income and gains” line item in profit or loss.

(iii) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at
amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as FVTOCI are measured at
FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each
reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses recognised in
profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes
any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is included
in the “net increase (decrease) in fair value of financial assets at
FVTPL” and “net increase (decrease) in fair value of equity securities
at FVTPL” line items.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 in
accordance with transitions in note 2)

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on financial assets
which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9 (including trade and
other receivables, amounts due from joint ventures/associates/non-
controlling shareholders, pledged bank deposits, bank balances, lease
receivables, financial guarantee and loan receivable). The amount of
ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk
since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12m ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible within 12
months after the reporting date. Assessment are done based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that
are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting date as well
as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables and
lease receivables. The ECL on these assets are assessed individually
for debtors with significant balances and/or collectively using a
provision matrix with appropriate groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk
of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 in
accordance with transitions in note 2) (continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;

e significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit
risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

e existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

* an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor; and

e an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 in
accordance with transitions in note 2) (continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a debt instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition if the debt instrument is determined to have low credit
risk at the reporting date. A debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk if (i) it has a low risk of default; (ii) the borrower has
a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in
the near term and (iii) adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.
The Group considers a debt instrument to have low credit risk when
it has an internal or external credit rating of ‘investment grade’ as per
globally understood definitions.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Group becomes
a party to the irrevocable commitment is considered to be the date
of initial recognition for the purposes of assessing the financial
instrument for impairment. In assessing whether there has been
a significant increase in the credit risk since initial recognition of
financial guarantee contracts, the Group considers the changes in the
risk that the specified debtor will default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to
identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk
and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable
of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount
becomes past due.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 in
accordance with transitions in note 2) (continued)

(i) Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event
of default occurs when information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account
any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has
occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate
that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

(i) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events of
default that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial
asset is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons
relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted
to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not

otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy
or other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 in
accordance with transitions in note 2) (continued)

(iv) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when
the counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered
into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off may still
be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate. A
write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries
are recognised in profit or loss.

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default,
loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of
default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash
flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition. For a lease
receivable, the cash flows used for determining the ECL is consistent
with the cash flows used in measuring the lease receivable in
accordance with HKAS 17 “Leases”.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is required to make
payments only in the event of a default by the debtor in accordance
with the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed. Accordingly,
the expected losses is the present value of the expected payments to
reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts
that the Group expects to receive from the holder, the debtor or any
other party.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 in
accordance with transitions in note 2) (continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts for which the effective
interest rate cannot be determined, the Group will apply a discount
rate that reflects the current market assessment of the time value of
money and the risks that are specific to the cash flows but only if, and
to the extent that, the risks are taken into account by adjusting the
discount rate instead of adjusting the cash shortfalls being discounted.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for cases where

evidence at the individual instrument level may not yet be available,
the financial instruments are grouped on the following basis:

e Nature of financial instruments;

Past-due status;

e Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the
constituents of each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.



150

Annual Report 2018

e MB®RWNE (E

TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

HE-Z— \F+-A=+—BLFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2018

3. ERERRE#E)
ERMIAE)
EHEEE)

TRMEEZRE(REBHME2PHBEKIER
BRUBREERFEIR) (F)

() BHIEEERGERER (&)

MEWAREREENREAENE @ FRIFZ
CREEAGEERERBI  FEBARRER
BEMBEHKAE -

RMBEREAR - BRBEEREEEVHR
SREAUFIFMEBENEBRBRESE L G RME
REY D BB YE (R B © R A REH A (A&
) Z PR ERIER o

BEMBERARN  AEERAESRTARN
MERNREBEERBEAER - WRAEERE
B RTRBEEER 2 BEARBENER
B RtER o

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 in
accordance with transitions in note 2) (continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit impaired, in
which case interest income is calculated based on amortised cost of
the financial asset.

For financial guarantee contracts, the loss allowances are recognised
at the higher of the amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9; and the amount initially recognised less,
where appropriate, cumulative amount of income recognised over the
guarantee period.

Except for financial guarantee contracts, the Group recognises an
impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments
by adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception of trade
receivables where the corresponding adjustment is recognised
through a loss allowance account.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (before
application of HKFRS 9 on 1st January, 2018)

The Group’s financial assets are classified into one of the three
categories, including financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss, loans and receivables and available-for-sale financial assets. The
classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets
and is determined at the time of initial recognition. All regular way
purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets are classified as at fair value through profit or loss
when the financial assets are (i) held for trading, or (ii) it is designated
as at fair value through profit or loss, or (iii) contingent consideration
that may be received by an acquirer as part of a business combination
to which HKFRS 3 applies.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

e it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the
near future;

e it is a part of an identified portfolio of financial instruments that
the Group manages together and has a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking; or

e itis a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging
instrument.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (before
application of HKFRS 9 on 1st January, 2018) (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured at
fair value, with changes in fair value arising from remeasurement
recognised directly in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend
earned on the financial assets.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables (including
trade and other receivables, loans receivable, amounts due from
associates, amounts due from joint ventures, amounts due from non-
controlling shareholders, pledged bank deposits and bank balances
and cash) are carried at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method, less any identified impairment losses.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either
designated as available for sales or are not classified as financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables or held-to-
maturity investments.

Equity securities held by the Group that are classified as available-
for-sale and are traded in an active market are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period except for unquoted equity
investments whose fair value cannot be reliably measured. Changes
in the carrying amount of available-for-sale debt instruments relating
to interest income calculated, using the effective interest method,
are recognised in profit or loss. Dividends on available-for-sale
equity investments are recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s
right to receive the dividends is established. Other changes in the
carrying amount of available-for-sale financial assets are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated under the heading
of investment revaluation reserves. When the investment is disposed
of or is determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss
previously accumulated in the revaluation reserve is reclassified to
profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (before application of HKFRS 9 on 1st
January, 2018)

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators
of impairment at the end of the reporting period. Financial assets are
considered to be impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a
result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition
of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the financial
assets have been affected.

For an available-for-sale equity investment, a significant or prolonged
decline in the fair value of that investment below its cost is considered
to be objective evidence of impairment.

For the other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could
include:

e significant financial difficulties of the issuer or counterparty;

e breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or
principal payments; or

e it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy
or financial re-organisation.

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade receivables,
assets that are assessed not to be impaired individually are, in
addition, assessed for indicators of impairment on a collective basis.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, an impairment loss is
recognised in profit or loss when there is objective evidence that the
asset is impaired, and is measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash
flows discounted at the original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception
of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through
the use of an allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount
of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss. When a
trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off against
the allowance account. Subsequent recovery of amounts previously
written off are credited to profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (before application of HKFRS 9 on 1st
January, 2018) (continued)

When an available-for-sale financial asset is considered to be
impaired, cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss in the period.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent
period, the amount of impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
losses was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is
reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount
of the asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed
what the amortised cost would have been the impairment which has
not been recognised.

In respect of available-for-sale equity investments, impairment losses
previously recognised in profit or loss are not reversed through profit
or loss. Any increase in fair value subsequent to an impairment loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated under
the heading of investment revaluation reserve.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to
control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest
in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to
pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to
recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised
borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the
Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at FVTOCI
upon application of HKFRS 9, the cumulative gain or loss previously
accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve is not reclassified
to profit or loss, but is transferred to retained earnings.

On derecognition of an available-for-sale financial asset, the
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the revaluation
reserve is reclassified to profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities
or as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

All financial liabilities that include interest-bearing and interest-free
borrowings, trade and other payables are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer
to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in
accordance with the original or modified terms of a debt instrument.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)
Financial guarantee contracts (continued)

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are initially
measured at their fair values and, if not designated as at fair value
through profit or loss, are subsequently measured at the higher of:

(i) the amount of obligation under the contract, as determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9 (since 1st January, 2018)/HKAS 37
“Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets” (before
application of HKFRS 9 on 1st January, 2018); and

(i) the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised over the guarantee period.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognized and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the statement of financial
position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Land and buildings transferred from investment properties are stated
at deemed cost equal to its fair value at the date of change in use. The
transferred properties are depreciated over their unexpired lease term.

Depreciation is recognised to write off the cost of items of property,
plant and equipment less their residual value over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line method, at the following rates per
annum:

Land and buildings Over the unexpired lease term or
40 years, whichever is shorter
20% — 30% or over the lease term,

whichever is shorter
20% — 33%

Leasehold improvements

Furniture, fixture and equipment
and motor vehicles
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Property, plant and equipment (continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is included
in the profit or loss in the period in which the item is derecognised.

If an item of property, plant and equipment becomes an investment
property because its use has changed as evidenced by the end of
owner-occupation, any difference between the carrying amount and
its fair value of that item at the date of transfer is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in property revaluation
reserve. On the subsequent sale or retirement of the asset, the relevant
revaluation reserve will be transferred directly to retained profits.

Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the
lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on
a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct
costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments, including the cost of acquiring land held
under operating leases, are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Benefits received
and receivable as an incentive to enter into an operating lease are
recognised as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term on a
straight-line basis. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases
are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Leases (continued)
Leasehold land and buildings

When the Group makes payments for a property interest which
includes both leasehold land and building elements, the Group
assesses the classification of each element as a finance or an
operating lease separately based on the assessment as to whether
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of each
element have been transferred to the Group, unless it is clear that
both elements are operating leases in which case the entire property is
accounted as an operating lease. Specifically, the entire consideration
(including any lump-sum upfront payments) are allocated between the
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to the relative
fair values of the leasehold interests in the land element and building
element at initial recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an
operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease payments on land
use rights” in the consolidated statement of financial position and is
amortised over the lease term on a straight-line basis except for those
that are classified and accounted for as investment properties under
the fair value model. When the lease payments cannot be allocated
reliably between the leasehold land and building elements, the
entire property is generally classified as if the leasehold land is under
finance lease.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualified assets, which are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets until such
time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchanges
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items
carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value
was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on settlement of monetary items, and on
the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they arise except for exchange differences on
foreign currency borrowings relating to assets under construction for
future productive use, which are included in the cost of those assets
when they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs on those
foreign currency borrowings.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group’s entities are translated into
the Group presentation currency (i.e. Hong Kong Dollars) at the rate
of exchange prevailing at the end of the reporting period, and their
income and expenses are translated at the average exchange rates
for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the
period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates
of transaction are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity under the heading of exchange translation reserve (attributed
to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group’s
entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss
of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, a
disposal involving loss of joint control over a joint venture that
includes a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of significant
influence over an associate that includes a foreign operation), all of
the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation which are attributable to the owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans, state-
managed retirement benefit schemes and the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to
them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses the
related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the Directors are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting
policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the Directors have made in the process
of applying the entity’s accounting policies and that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting
policies (continued)

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax arising from investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the Directors
have reviewed the investment property portfolios of the Group and its
associates and joint ventures and concluded that investment properties
held by the Group and its associates and joint ventures are not held
under a business model whose objective is to consume substantially
all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment properties
over time, rather than through sale. Therefore, in determining the
deferred taxation on investment properties of the Group and its
associates and joint ventures, the Directors have determined that
the “sales” presumption that the carrying amounts of investment
properties measured using the fair value model are recovered entirely
through sale is not rebutted. As a result, the Group has recognised the
deferred taxes on changes in fair value of investment properties as the
Group is subject to income taxes and LAT on the fair value changes of
the investment properties on disposal.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year.

Revenue recognition from sales of completed properties at a
point in time

Under HKFRS 15, control of the asset is transferred over time when
the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative
use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date. Significant judgment is required
in determining whether the terms of the Group’s contracts with
customers in relation to create an enforceable right to payment for the
Group. The Group has considered the relevant local laws that apply
to those relevant contracts. Based on the assessment of the Group’s
management, the terms of the relevant sales contracts do not create
an enforceable right to payment for the Group. Accordingly, the sales
of completed properties is considered to be performance obligation
satisfied at a point in time.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Valuation of properties for development and inventories of
properties

Properties for development of HK$3,818,333,000 (2017:
HK$3,485,361,000) are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation
and any identified impairment loss, while inventories of properties
of HK$5,791,639,000 (2017: HK$5,319,707,000) are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. The management determined
the recoverable amounts of properties for development and the net
realisable value of inventories of properties under development
based on valuations performed by the independent and qualified
professional valuers. The valuations are dependent on certain
significant inputs that involve the management’s judgments,
including gross development value, developer’s profit and discount
rate. Besides, the management estimated future cost to completion
of properties for development and inventories of properties under
development with reference to the actual development cost of the
Group’s completed projects.

The management determined the net realisable value of inventories
of completed properties with reference to the estimated market prices
of inventories of completed properties, which takes into account
a number of factors including recent prices achieved for similar
property types in the same project or by similar properties in the PRC
and Hong Kong.

Based on the management’s assessment, the write-down of inventories
of completed properties of HK$4,014,000 was recognised in profit or
loss for the year ended 31st December, 2018.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Fair value measurements and valuation processes

Some of the Group’s assets and liabilities are measured at fair value
for financial reporting purposes. The Directors have to determine
the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair value
measurements.

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses
market-observable data to the extent it is available. Where Level
1 inputs are not available, the Group engages third party qualified
valuers to perform the valuation. The Directors work closely with
the qualified external valuers to establish the appropriate valuation
techniques and inputs to the model.

The Group uses valuation techniques that include inputs that are not
based on observable market data to estimate the fair value of certain
types of financial instruments.

When determining the fair values of investment properties,
assumptions and key inputs that involve significant judgements,
including term yield, reversionary yield and market unit rent, are
adopted.

Notes 18 and 49(c) provides detailed information about the valuation
techniques, inputs and key assumptions used in the determination of
the fair value of various assets.

Land Appreciation Tax

PRC LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60%
on the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds of sales of
properties less deductible expenditures including sales charges,
borrowing costs and all property development expenditures.

The Group is subject to LAT in the PRC. The details of implementation
have been announced by local tax bureaux in certain major
cities, however, the Group has not finalised its LAT calculation
and payments with local tax bureaux in those cities in the PRC.
Accordingly, significant judgements are required in determining
the amount of land appreciation and its related taxes. The Group
recognises these liabilities based on the management’s best estimates
according to the understanding of the tax rules. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax
provisions in the period in which such determination is made.
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5. WA
BE-T-\F+-A=t+—HILEE

5. REVENUE

For the year ended 31st December, 2018

(i) UAZHE (i) Disaggregation of revenue

2018
THERT
HK$’000

e S EESISE At a point in time
BRTYHHE Sales of completed properties 2,627,241

B B Over time

L EA=RL Property management 128,400
Hfth 58 Other operations 33,290
B RARTEUA Revenue from goods and services 2,788,931
HeWA Rental income 502,788
3,291,719

(i) EFEXIHEHNEIE

HREFSEIDENBRARETFIEERTY
EnEslg(NEXNEEHETHIIAZE
RIMENEBREMEETER ) WS HEHE

7
e ©

FEBA EWARRGIEZE - EWEHE
BRERNGEVBAINKRZRDEEANZINBE
MafE-

MEERERRARRTHIBEROETHE
ERER EER - AAEF RESWE|WHFEAE
B TR RE M e

(ii) Performance obligations for contracts with customers

Revenue from properties developed for sale is recognised at a point
in time when the customer obtains the control of the completed
properties, which is the completed property stated in the sale and
purchase agreement being delivered and its title being passed to the
customer.

Deposits received from sales of properties prior to meeting the above
criteria for revenue recognition are presented as contract liabilities
in the consolidated statement of financial position under current
liabilities.

Property management fee income is recognised over time by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation, as the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs.
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5. REVENUE (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31st December, 2018 (continued)

(iii) Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligation for contracts with customers

The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) regarding contracts for
sales of properties as at 31st December, 2018 and the expected timing
of recognising revenue are as follows:

FTERT

HK$’000

—F A Within one year 2,046,552
ZR—FETEEMF More than one year but not more than two years 16,625
ENTEES More than two years 5,315
2,068,492

MEEERBIANBETRENFY - AREY
PRt IR & A% B E S BAIIRE - A%
EERERAAITHNREZ  AKREAEL
ABZ 2 SRERWA - REFEMBREE
AIF15RRTE - PEERFRBITANNRS
BT IAREE -

Contracts for the property management services have various year
terms in which the Group bills fixed amount for each month of
service provided. The Group elected to apply the practical expedient
by recognising revenue in the amount to which the Group has right to
invoice. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated
to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.
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5. WA &)
BE-Z—tH5+-A=t+—HILEE

AEBERFRNWADITT

5. REVENUE (CONTINUED)
For the year ended 31st December, 2017

An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year is as follows:

2017

TR

HK$’000

Bk TYIHHEE Sales of completed properties 495,608

AEHA Rental income 463,214
MERETEREMEERA Income from property management and

other operation 154,059

1,112,881

6. PHER

AEERAFERZWATEREETENREE
PR E 2% - AEBE 2 EMER c EFER
THEIBER  NEER  DERERHEME
B(IZ2REMXER) - Rt RERTA
RAMTER(RELERRE)RERSER
FHARR BB M Z A KB R 2R E D BTN
STRUL=ZIBEBX - WPERENE - H
BRE-—HLETHNYERENB AR ZEEE
8 ARBYERZ ELTOERENBRAZ
A2/NEEDHIFAEY) - ARAEKRRAF
fEmsE - HXHE BERBENEAKEZH
MERRE RS —HRE SR -

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s revenue for the year was derived mainly from activities
carried out and located in the PRC and Hong Kong. The Group’'s
basis of organisation is determined based on three main operations:
property development, property investment and other operations
that comprises mainly property management. Similarly, the Group’s
reportable and operating segments, reported to the Executive
Directors of the Company, the chief operating decision maker, for
the purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment,
also focused on these three main operations. For the property
investment segment, it includes business activities of a listed property
investment subsidiary. No reportable and operating segments of the
listed property investment subsidiary are separately presented as
its results, assets and liabilities are prepared and reviewed together
with the Group’s other property investment activities for the internal
performance assessment purposes.
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6. TEER(#E)

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

REERAFEZRAREETEZRBEF The Group’s revenue for the year and assets are derived mainly from
NEBAKE 2 - ZEBZHEUWA ~ ¥ activities carried out and located in the PRC and Hong Kong. An

B BERBERAZMELLHESHTIN  analysis of the Group’s segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities

™ by reportable and operating segment is as follows:
MEZR MERE Hith&&E
Property Property Other &bt
development  investment  operations Consolidated
TET TET TET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BE-Z-N\F+=A For the year ended 31st December,
=t-BLEE 2018
DEBA SEGMENT REVENUE
HIMEE External sales 2,627,241 502,788 161,690 3,291,719
ES RESULTS
DERF(EE) Segment profit (loss) 861,912 682,936 (7,414) 1,537,434
H A R dzs Other income and gains 320,912
REENE 7 M¥EER Unallocated corporate expenses (269,275)
BEKA Finance costs (155,964)
FEMREE 2 NE(E18)% M Share of (loss) profit of associates (589) 56,277 = 55,688
[EhE &R ET Share of profit of joint ventures 186,949 167,673 24,152 378,774
B AR A Profit before tax 1,867,569
R=Z-N\&F As at 31st December, 2018
+t=ZA=t+-H
gE ASSETS
NEEE Segment assets 9,998,416 13,796,057 47,582 23,842,055
REE &N R 2 B Interests in associates 209,618 2,681,713 - 2,891,331
REBNE 2R Interests in joint ventures 2,284,224 2,827,431 192,590 5,304,245
NSNS Amounts due from associates 2,563 200,229 - 202,792
BELERR Amounts due from joint ventures 1,264,933 = 68,504 1,333,437
Kb bEEE Unallocated corporate assets 5,440,897
EHREE Consolidated total assets 39,014,757
=L LIABILITIES
nEaE Segment liabilities 4,603,578 2,404,756 108,316 7,116,650
KeEDBz hEEE Unallocated corporate liabilities 6,645,096
B RAEE Consolidated total liabilities 13,761,746
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PEHER ) 6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
LE 3 MERE HipgE
Property Property Other a6t
development  investment  operations Consolidated
THET THEx FTHEx THET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BZE-Z-\¥t+=8 For the year ended 31st December,
=+—-HLEFE 2018
Hitn& OTHER INFORMATION
BHERDEE M Amounts included in the measure of
BRINDEENEL segment profit or loss or segment
TR assets:
IERENVEE 2 Addition to non-current assets 2,313,345 5,873 1,227 2,320,445
e N EH Depreciation and amortisation 31,515 12,555 3,202 47,272
HEMFHEYWE - BER  Loss (gain) on disposal and write-off
it R () of property, plant and equipment 10 (110) 22 (78)
ERINFEFEERE Fair value gain on transfer of
REMEZNABE inventories of completed
Wi properties to investment properties - 229,137 - 229,137
BEWMEAREEZ Increase in fair value of investment
&N properties = 201,283 = 201,283
BERIMEFEZ Write-down of inventories of
AE completed properties 4,014 = - 4,014
FAB/BFHAAEERE  Net decrease in fair value of
W T AN ) equity securities at fair value
e through profit or loss - - 29,597 29,597
BRBREANBER Net decrease in fair value of
LERMBEEZAR F{E financial assets at fair value
FR through profit or loss - - 68,246 68,246
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PEER(E) 6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
MEERE MERE Hih &8
Property Property Other A
development investment operations  Consolidated
FHET THT FTAT FET
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
BEZ-Z2—tF+=8 For the year ended 31st December,
=t—-HLEFE 2017
2EBA SEGMENT REVENUE
HIMHE External sales 495,608 463,214 154,059 1,112,881
ES RESULTS
a1yl Segment profit 1,762,715 684,499 8,646 2,455,860
HAWA R zs Other income and gains 149,944
Regn o bEBER Unallocated corporate expenses (247,887)
BEKA Finance costs (153,841)
FEIEEEE R RIAA Share of profit of associates 97 99,051 - 99,148
JEEAEREEN(ER) Share of profit (loss) of joint ventures 189,405 126,641 (62,827) 253,219
BRI AR Profit before tax 2,556,443
RIE—t& As at 31st December, 2017
+t=ZA=+-H
BE ASSETS
DEBE Segment assets 9,393,975 13,296,194 46,772 22,736,941
N AN Fy Interests in associates 214,943 2,724,402 - 2,939,345
REEREZER Interests in joint ventures 568,604 2,219,029 162,629 2,950,262
NS Amounts due from associates 2,563 221,429 - 223,992
BEDLERK Amounts due from joint ventures 1,722,913 - 66,856 1,789,769
R E bEEE Unallocated corporate assets 6,516,132
AFREE Consolidated total assets 37,156,441
afE LIABILITIES
DESEE Segment liabilities 3,848,018 2,308,773 22,078 6,178,869
PN AR AT =N Unallocated corporate liabilities 6,092,532
AFREE Consolidated total liabilities 12,271,401
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6. TEHER#E)

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

MEER MERE Hith & i&
Property Property Other G
development investment operations  Consolidated
THET THT THT TET
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BE-Z—LF For the year ended 31st December,
TZA=t-HLEE 2017
Rt &R OTHER INFORMATION
BIER DR Amounts included in the measure of
BRIDHEEAEL segment profit or loss or segment
& assets:
IERENEE LM Addition to non-current assets 1,500,381 697,208 16,471 2,214,060
e R Depreciation and amortisation 41,002 14,697 2,978 58,677
HERMTHEME - BER (Gain) loss on disposal and write-off of
Bz (e ) e property, plant and equipment (233) 718 (388) 97
BERINEFEBES Fair value gain on transfer of
BEME AR EE inventories of completed properties
Wzs to investment properties - 115,313 - 115,313
REMELRBEZ Increase in fair value of investment
20 properties - 338,453 - 338,453
BERIVEFEZ Reversal of write-down of inventories
RERE of completed properties 1,020 - - 1,020
BEBERERNAEEZ  Netdecrease in fair value of
R held-for-trading investments - - 15,444 15,444
A ERERE Impairment loss on available-for-sale
B8 investments - - 78,168 78,168
HE—FINBARZHZE  Gain on disposal of a subsidiary 1,633,977 - - 1,633,977
ZEME—FEIEARZ  Gain on bargain purchase of
Wias a subsidiary 60,856 - - 60,856

Al 2 RS D BB G FTBUR BEA MY R 3 At
MARRESEBER— -

o b A (B8 15 &

The accounting policies of the reportable and operating segments

&> EBRER e A (E AR ETR) - B AL ED
BEMWA RS - BEKA - BIEBE QR
AR EN(EE) RREIBZEXE
Ao WHERTARBNTESHRERD LR
AHERRSBNZETE -

are the same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 3.
Segment profit (loss) represents the profit earned by (loss from) each
segment without allocation of other income and gains, finance costs,
share of profit (loss) of associates and joint ventures and unallocated
corporate expenses. This is the measure reported to the Executive
Directors of the Company for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment.
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6. DEER(E)

AREERBHINE P Z WA R D HTIRR TR
HIRB RN E MR E MIFRBEER
HEEH(TEERKRERREMERTA
BN REENAEE) HRZFEEN
WEAE - FEOT

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Geographical information

A geographical analysis of the Group’s revenue from external
customers based on the geographical location where the services
were provided or the goods were delivered, and information about the
carrying amount of non-current assets excluding loans receivable and
other financial instruments, club memberships and deferred tax assets
by the geographical location of the assets are detailed as follows:

HMEFBA FREEEREE
Revenue from Carrying amounts of

external customers non-current assets
2018 2017 2018 2017
F#ET FAT FHET FHT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
Y The PRC 3,196,388 1,033,856 20,916,978 17,696,240
v Hong Kong 56,327 58,504 4,008,078 4,078,152
HE United Kingdom 26,881 20,521 718,200 748,905
BN Australia 12,123 - 476,927 523,560
3,291,719 1,112,881 26,120,183 23,046,857

FEEFZER Information about major customers

REMEEE  AEBARAEHE—HINELT
S ZWAZEARE BB AT0%IA L -

No revenue from transaction with a single external customer is
amounted to 10% or more of the Group'’s revenue for both years.
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7. HiA R KES

7. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

2018 2017
FER FBT
HK$’000 HK$’000
AR B A Dividend income

—JE LR G — unlisted shares 2,111 2,254
sl — listed shares 1,656 999
RITIF R WA Interest income on bank deposits 51,195 36,773

FEUE SR F 2 Interest income from loans
WA receivable 221,840 39,443
REEETEZFEWA Interest income from joint ventures 8,008 22,252
RIE H A Net exchange gain = 18,976
TGN Subsidy income 103 828
H WA Other income 35,999 28,419
320,912 149,944

8. HE—EMEARzWE

REZE-_Z—+tE+-_A=+—HIEER
AREBEER BB AR 23 2 s MEE
HORRERT —BBIFE=F - ZHEZ
MEARNEEERESEMKY - UEER
—FE RSP R EMA NP EREERER Y
Aal([HFERAR)50%2 xS - MEHRT50%
ZRESTHASENS —HEBAREE - B
it HETKE  ZPBEARKARNEEN—
MEeLrE(SELEAR] -

8. GAIN ON DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

During the year ended 31st December, 2017, the Group disposed
of its entire equity interests in a subsidiary and assigned part of the
shareholders’ loans to an independent third party. The disposed
subsidiary is incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and holds 50%
equity interest in a company established in the PRC (“PRC Company”)
which is engaged in property development in the PRC and its
remaining 50% equity interest is also owned by another subsidiary of
the Group. As a result, the PRC Company became a joint venture (“JV
Company”) of the Group upon completion of this disposal.
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8. HE—EMBATZWEZR &) 8. GAIN ON DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (CONTINUED)
HEFBWAT : Details of the disposal are as follows:
SMBRARFEERNHERNT

The net liabilities of the subsidiary at the date of disposal were as

follows:

2017
FHET
HK$’000
HEFALE - Net liabilities disposed of:

M - B K& Property, plant and equipment 245
HERME Properties for development 914,558
BRPMEGFE Inventories of properties under development 971,778

R R Eb IR - Trade and other receivables,

’E RIERR deposits and prepayments 7,208
RITRTFLIRE Bank balances and cash 25,287
AR E Shareholders’ loans (1,004,906)
R 5 R H M ER AR Trade and other payables (763,674)
TEEEe Pre-sale deposits (13,056)
ff B fE R Interest-bearing borrowings (679,214)

HEFaE Net liabilities disposed of (541,774)
EERRER Assignment of shareholders’ loans 677,743
& e Gain on disposal 1,633,977
RE M B R RFIRE R Fair value of the remaining interests retained in the
DHEREBELEIERL subsidiary classified to interests in joint ventures
DA BEMN ) (Note i) (627,828)
HEMNRE Consideration on disposal 1,142,118
KRBT : Consideration satisfied by:
—-RBZE_T—+F+-A=+—H — Cash received for the year ended
EFEAREBEREES 31st December, 2017 419,487
— SR A R B AT R — Cash received for assignment of
bk shareholders’ loans 677,743
—RBEFERBERFT MR — Cash received in prior years as deposit 44,888
1,142,118

BRERTaN BN X B

(HiaEii)

Exchange translation reserve transferred to
retained earnings (Note ii) (23,176)
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8. HE—FEMNBARZWE @)

8. GAIN ON DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (CONTINUED)

2017
T
HK$’000
HEMEEZRSRAFE Net cash inflow arising on disposal:
REZE2-Z—+F+-_A=+—H Cash consideration received for the

IFEFEERWREAR & RE year ended 31st December, 2017 419,487

EEBIR R Cash consideration for assignment of
ReRE shareholders’ loans 677,743
HEZRITEENRE S Bank balances and cash disposed of (25,287)
1,071,943

Kt - Notes:

() RBEMBRAAFGBEGNEIEAREGELE
ZHEEZ AR BERENEN FH IR ZEE
547,169,000/ 7 * IRIEAHA-ZT—+tFRHAN
BZHRE  BHETKA=ZFARALEDERNT
UTER o

(i) ARBHENHBRRRARBNIIEEERER -
RELEMBARERESZIERHEMELZ
P E RN RENE LT ERE - AR ERKE
SRR EEREREET -

9. ZREWBE-—BWEAR 2K

RBE-E—t&+-_A=+—HIEER
ANES[E LA 278,246,00078 7T 2 AR B U EE A —
MBS A& Tian An Australia Limited([ XZ&R
M EEINGIA1.26% 2 o o WiETR - NEER
BRLBEMEI76.70%2 s - REBMAK AR
EEN B R - RBRMNAE—BIRMN E
MAR EXBEBEANBMNAEEMERR -
HERSRWE ST A ERREESAR -5
BALBRMZIEE  ~EBERHE—ARS
DR ZEHERERARERERLEMNZD
MENRNEBELAENSEREAEENE
HDBRR - RAEBEREBE (512 - T8
FIRFEEZ AR BEBBKEBRE  E4=
BB - REWEBRZTBMNATEENZE
W B W = ) £ 88460,856,00078 7T ©

(i) Included in the fair value of the remaining interest retained in the subsidiary
classified to interests in joint ventures is the present value of an agreed
distributable profit of HK$547,169,000 to be received from the JV Company
within three years from the date of completion of the disposal pursuant to a
letter of confirmation dated 8th May, 2017.

(ii) As the functional currencies of the disposed subsidiary and the Company are
the same, exchange differences arising from translation of items to presentation
currency accumulated in exchange translation reserve relating to the disposed
subsidiary are transferred from exchange translation reserve to retained
earnings at the time of disposal.

9. GAIN ON BARGAIN PURCHASE OF A SUBSIDIARY

During the year ended 31st December, 2017, the Group acquired
additional approximately 41.26% interest in an associate,
Tian An Australia Limited (“TIA”), for a total consideration of
HK$278,246,000. After acquisition, the Group holds approximately
76.70% equity interest in TIA and it becomes a subsidiary of the
Group. TIA is a listed entity in Australia and its principal businesses
is engaged in the property development in Australia. This transaction
has been accounted for as acquisition of business, using acquisition
accounting. In relation to the TIA acquisition, the Group had made
competitive offer price in acquiring the shares of TIA from the
existing shareholders. The intrinsic value of the properties had not
been reflected by the market price and also the offer price made by
the Group. After re-assessment by the management of the Group,
the fair value of net identifiable assets exceeded the purchase
consideration, resulting in gain on bargain purchase. The amount of
gain on bargain purchase arising as a result of the acquisition of TIA is
HK$60,856,000.
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9. ZEEWE—RBMHEB AT Z2UE 9. GAIN ON BARGAIN PURCHASE OF A SUBSIDIARY

(%) (CONTINUED)
RERLDEMNZZMEZ FEENT - The net assets acquired in TIA’s transaction are as follows:
REAE
WWEE A A
ZEREE
Acquirees’ nRaEE
carrying AR
amount before Fair value AREE
combination adjustments Fair value
TET FHT THET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(Krati)
(Note i)
BB HEE Net assets acquired:
VI - B MR Property, plant and equipment 1,525 = 1,525
R Properties for development 522,035 - 522,035
AEHERE Available-for-sale investments 38,282 - 38,282
BERTYHETE Inventories of completed properties 37,690 - 37,690
RS REMBEIIRR - Trade and other receivables,

B RIERRK deposits and prepayments 27,345 = 27,345
PREER 2 SRITFK Pledged bank deposits 3,721 = 3,721
RITRFLIRE Bank balances and cash 143,003 = 143,003
R 5 R HA R Trade and other payables (9,967) = (9,967)

763,634 - 763,634
e A s (M Atii) Non-controlling interests (Note ii) (177,895)
R E AR Z#25  Interest in an associate (246,637)
HEWE—EMHEB2ARZ Gain on bargain purchase of
Wiz a subsidiary (60,856)
B LRSI Consideration, satisfied by cash 278,246
WIEFTEE 2 RS Net cash outflow arising on
TEFE acquisition:
EXNZRERE Cash consideration paid 278,246
IREE 2 SR1T451F 384  Bank balances and cash acquired (146,724)
131,522
Mzt Notes:
(i) AEEZERELMERERZEKBARSHA () The management of the Group has assessed and determined that the acquirees’
ZEERBENRRENSNEERZ AR EE - carrying amounts of assets and liabilities before combination approximate to
the fair value at the acquisition date.
(i) PAUEE B B R 2 IR R A s i SF R ARt (i) The interests of non-controlling shareholders recognised at the acquisition date
Bl h 2 WK AR 2 FIBRIFEE AR EER were measured at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the fair
=4 value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
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9. ZEUNE—RHBHEARA 2WE

(%)

AREZBMNFERYFE - IHOERERE R
THEFERRBRLZEMNB Z AR EETR
EAREEIMBENBLEEREETG
/X A]—Property Valuation & Advisory (WA)
Jones Lang LaSalle Advisory Services Pty Ltd
RERETRE - FRERVEZAEIERRE
BRULBERRBBRSREONE - ARBER
BENERTIMEFE 2AETERERLEBX
R2ERRTSAESNALBHER S ME

on

AEEZEEERA/Z B RN —ER TN
BABAASENMEREAS - BHRAKR
HORRAERR B o

BERERBAI—_FZ—tF+t At -H)EHR
SRR - RZRIM A EIA 05 E B
FTAREEZWAZHF) ©

ELMWER -_T—+F—F—A%K A&
B FEZ LA E1,196,136,00087C © A K
ZEEERA2,099,627,0008 7T © #HEERHE
BHARR  URTIERTEWER =T —+
F—A—HEK  AEBHNEERAREESR
LB AEBARIEARKES -

9. GAIN ON BARGAIN PURCHASE OF A SUBSIDIARY
(CONTINUED)

The fair value of the properties for development, available-for-sale
investments and inventories of completed properties of TIA at the date
of acquisition of TIA have been arrived at on the basis of a valuation
carried out on that date by Property Valuation & Advisory (WA) and
Jones Lang LaSalle Advisory Services Pty Ltd, the firms of independent
and qualified professional valuers which are not connected with the
Group. The valuation of properties for development was principally
based on the direct comparison and residual cash flow analysis.
The valuation of available-for-sale investments and inventories
of completed properties was principally determined by direct
comparison approach by making reference to comparable sales
transactions as available in the relevant market.

The management of the Group considers that the acquisition offers a
good opportunity to expand the property investment portfolio of the
Group, which is expected to bring in returns to the shareholders in
the long run.

No revenue or profit was contributed by TIA to the Group’s revenue
or profit for the period between the date of acquisition on 22nd
December, 2017 and the end of the reporting period.

If the above acquisition had been completed on Tst January,
2017, total Group’s revenue for the year would have been
HK$1,196,136,000, and profit for the year would have been
HK$2,099,627,000. The pro forma information is for illustration
purposes only and is not necessarily an indication of revenue and
results of operations of the Group that actually would have been
achieved had the acquisition been completed on Tst January, 2017,
nor is it intended to be a projection of future results.
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10. BAE R 10.FINANCE COSTS
2018 2017
THERT FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT - Interest on:
RITER Bank loans 203,095 183,085
HA BN Other loans 2,907 2,725
ERLHE Loans arrangement fee 259 58
206,261 185,868
B BEAER Less: amount capitalised
BRPYE on properties under
G development (50,297) (32,027)
155,964 153,841
11. 818 11.TAXATION
2018 2017
THET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
XHBHE The charge comprises:
REARIE Current tax
—EBNEB — Hong Kong Profits Tax 10,676 4,546
—GINERIE — Overseas Tax 3,423 4,547
— R EPERER — PRC Enterprise Income Tax 265,983 157,121
— IR ER ~ LAT 160,867 80,266
440,949 246,480
BEFERE TR GBERER) Under (over) provision in
prior years
—BENEH - Hong Kong Profits Tax 50 (29)
— IR — Overseas Tax (1,196) -
— B EFTISH — PRC Enterprise Income Tax 2,993 (2,870)
1,847 (2,899)
442,796 243,581
EETIB (H15F42) Deferred tax (note 42) 166,662 220,756

609,458 464,337
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11.8%E &)

RZE—NE=ZA=-+—H FBILLER
B2017FEFI (BRT) (FB75%) GHER ([
=])  BHEMAHFSHESNE - ZEARRZ
E-—NFZAZFTN\BEIKEER  TRKX
BFZBRAED - EMAHFNESHREFET
HEERNEEEEANE2008 B THFER
1£8.25% % - MR iB2008 A T FE g%
16.5%EF o TFEFE ARG FIGHEGEERL
MEEZTEMNFEBEEILN16.5%0 85— =
B - Bt RAFER  BEFNESHEE
2008 B T B (h AT FE T B A 12 8.25% 5t E M
B iB2008 4 T A (& 5T E R A A5 1216.5%
=G

RIZR B EMEREMEEMSREE EIE
Bl REMEFERN - BRRTFEKERTN
TR E25% ©

BIMEIARIZARBEZIRTTHEE R R -

T HIRE T 2 B T IR AARE T B BUE ARG A
RIZHRERE - LHIBERREIREREST
R FFREIRIR R -

LR BEMERBBER 2 BE BT
2008 15% ' BZEZENF—H—HBAKR - R
BIRK S 2 Bt 2 Rl EE A5 F) 9 R T 3E R R %
EE 2 IREBEBMH B EERIARE S H
EMETHEEIR27IEERIINRIEE D E R
INHBEREERBRFEIMRERINEIRE
PERINHPEHFBEEEEN - KD IREF]
ZIRIERTE ST H 47,884,000 7T 69,418,000
BLTEosRRABEZE—_ZE—N\FEE_F—+tF
TZA=T—RLIEFREZEAEEERA °

11.TAXATION (CONTINUED)

On 21st March, 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed
The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (“Bill”) which
introduced the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill was signed
into law on 28th March, 2018 and was gazetted on the following day.
Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million
of profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and
profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of
group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime
will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%. Accordingly, starting
from the current year, the Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at 8.25%
on the first HK$2 million of the estimated assessable profits and at
16.5% on the estimated assessable profits above HK$2 million.

Under the laws of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax Law and
Implementation Regulation of the Enterprise Income Tax Law, the tax
rate applicable to the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

Overseas Tax is charged at the appropriate current rates of taxation
ruling in the relevant countries.

The provision for LAT is calculated according to the requirements
set forth in the relevant PRC tax laws and regulations. LAT has been
provided at ranges of progressive rates of the appreciation value, with
certain allowable deductions.

According to a joint circular of the Ministry of Finance and State
Administration of Taxation — Cai Shui 2008 No. 1, dividend
distributed out of the profits generated by its subsidiaries incorporated

l//

in the PRC to “non-residential” investors since Tst January, 2008
shall be subject to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax and withheld by
the PRC entity pursuant to Articles 3 and 27 of the Income Tax Law
Concerning Foreign Investment Enterprises and Foreign Enterprises
and Article 91 of the Detailed Rules for the Implementation of the
Income Tax Law for Enterprises with Foreign Investment Enterprises
and Foreign Enterprises. Deferred tax charge of HK$47,884,000 and
HK$69,418,000 on the undistributed earnings have been recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the years ended 31st

December, 2018 and 2017 respectively.
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1. 858 (%)

AFEEBES HEESIBERAEN 2 SR
L

11.TAXATION (CONTINUED)

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit per the
consolidated statement of profit or loss as follows:

2018 2017
FTET FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
FRIERTR A Profit before tax 1,867,569 2,556,443
REAEHRE25%TE Tax at the domestic income tax
(A ) rate of 25% (Note) 466,892 639,111
JEEEE N R RSB RN Tax effect of share of profit of
mmEE associates and joint ventures (108,616) (88,092)
L1 Tax effect of expenses not
MBS deductible for tax purpose 22,026 57,964
FERTIAZ Tax effect of income not taxable
HiEgE for tax purpose (27,018) (343,466)
REERTIEE B R EM Tax effect of tax losses and
AHRERERZ other deductible temporary
mEE differences not recognised 71,064 101,810
B ARERTIIE Tax effect of utilisation of taxes
B 48 2 HL M AT H0RK losses and other deductible
BRERZ temporary differences
HIETE previously not recognised (40,275) (58,096)
MEBARTREBE 2 Effect of different tax rates of
TE subsidiaries (13,083) (38,534)
ROIEERZ Withholding tax on undistributed
TELE earnings 47,884 69,418
THIBER 2 HE Effect of LAT 188,480 127,755
BEFERBTR Under (over) provision in prior
(FREERE) years 1,847 (2,899)
Hity Others 257 (634)
REEHIAXZ H Tax charge for the year 609,458 464,337

Mt AEBAERZEAR R AEE S L L
2R (BIFRBEBFEEHRBE) o

Note: The domestic tax rate (PRC Enterprise Income Tax rate) in the jurisdiction
where the operation of the Group is substantially based is used.
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12. X Em A 12.PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
2018 2017
THET FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000
RFEHH Profit for the year has been
el arrived at after charging
(FFA) (crediting):
M= - BB ERE Depreciation of property,
e plant and equipment 21,612 23,813
B BAMER Less: amount capitalised
BRPYZE in properties under
&R development (2,050) (2,753)
19,562 21,060
S Amortisation of:
HihBE Other assets
— MRS — properties interests 500 500
FFERME Properties for development
(Hreti) (Note i) 26,111 35,802
T E AR Prepaid lease payments on
BREER land use rights 1,099 1,315
rETEH Total depreciation and
4ARE amortisation 47,272 58,677
BETER(BEESM) Staff costs (including Directors’
(H1azii) emoluments) (Note ii)
—FekEMER — Salaries and other costs 174,798 177,717
—RIKEFIE B — Retirement benefits costs 22,904 16,278
— B BAMER — Less: amount capitalised in
ERPYE properties under
&R development (16,530) (20,461)
BT ERERE Total staff costs 181,172 173,534
KEREMEZ Gross rental income from
A ONE investment properties (502,788) (463,214)
B RERESE Less: direct operating expenses
HeWAZ from investment properties
REMER that generated rental
HELEER income during the year 111,183 88,247
(391,605) (374,967)
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12.PROFIT FOR THE YEAR (CONTINUED)

2018 2017
FTHERT TET
HK$’000 HK$’000
ZEEB Auditor’s remuneration 7,827 6,370
BFEZERAIEER Cost of inventories recognised
BRI as expenses 1,632,504 277,515
JFOE H B R (M) Net exchange loss (gain) 4,620 (18,976)
WETMERABR(BER Urban land use tax included in
Hith&EEER) other operating expenses 3,443 4,328
HE R (Gain) loss on disposal and
s MR 2 write-off of property,
(U zt) E1E plant and equipment (78) 97
ARt RETFZ Operating lease charges in
KEHERR respect of land and buildings 8,401 8,564
RIZAR Allowance for bad and doubtful
S debts - 22,989
Mzt - Notes:

0]

(ii)

FRRYFEENMABRERA BT HE HHER
MiE@EA - REaRGeBEaRNEMeEER
A e

BT &AW NBRENMT13 &M E47@RENE
BEOBTETEENRARRCEERETZE
HEEAE -

(i)  Amortisation of properties for development is recognised in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant land leases, and is included in
other operating expenses in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

(i) The staff costs do not include the apportionment of management fee
as disclosed in note 13 and note 47(a) for certain Directors as well as
management personnel who are not Directors or staff of the Company.
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13. EEM< 13.DIRECTORS” EMOLUMENTS
EfsEN T+ (ZZF—+F : +-fz)F The emoluments paid or payable to each of the twelve (2017: twelve)
E Sl ol Directors were as follows:
2018
¥e/ RikE XA RIKEH

REMEN ARzRE HIE e

Salaries/  Performance Retirement

EZWE  service fees related benefits
Directors’ and other incentive scheme @ct
fees benefits payments contributions Total
TET TET TER TER TER
HK$/000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$/000 HK$'000
(Krati)
(Note i)
BITEE Executive Directors
RIEH, Song Zengbin 10 2,160 420 — 2,590
ZHRE Patrick Lee Seng Wei 20 3,346 3,723 - 7,089
5e Ma Sun 10 3,589 2,688 318 6,605
B Edwin Lo King Yau 20 1,346 3,904 62 5,332
Mg Tao Tsan Sang 20 2,106 2,495 194 4,815
ZRB(#tii)  Lee Shu Yin (Note iii) - 88 220 2 310
80 12,635 13,450 576 26,741

FPRBRZHTESHE T EARHEEERARAFK  The Executive Directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for their

AEEEB 2R - services in connection with the management of the affairs of the Company and
the Group.
FHITES Non-Executive Directors
FE Lee Seng Hui 10 4,878 34,544 99 39,531
g5 Moses Cheng Mo Chi 10 = = - 10
20 4,878 34,544 99 39,541

FBRZIFNTESHE T ZEREEEALRAR  The Non-Executive Directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for their

R/FHMBLAR 2 EZ 2R - services as directors of the Company and/or its subsidiaries.
B FHAT Independent Non-Executive
Bz Directors

B8 (7t Francis ). Chang Chu Fai (Note ii) 10 86 - - 96

SEEMii) Jin Hui Zhi (Note i) 10 86 = - 96

WEL (H5tii) Ngai Wah Sang (Note i) 10 111 = - 121

BRI (Hrtii) Lisa Yang Lai Sum (Note ii) 20 172 = - 192
50 455 - = 505

FBRZBV N TEENE FERNREER The Independent Non-Executive Directors’ emoluments shown above were

ARAR/FEMBARZEE 2R - mainly for their services as directors of the Company and/or its subsidiary.

HER Total 66,787
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13.EEM 2 &) 13.DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)
2017

e/ REE iz iy RKAET

REAEH Bz #®e BEGEA

Salaries/  Performance Retirement

EE2ME  service fees related benefits
Directors’ and other incentive scheme =t
fees benefits payments  contributions Total
FHT FTAT TET FEHT FHT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Hizti)
(Note i)
HITES Executive Directors

NI Song Zengbin 10 2,080 500 - 2,590
TR Patrick Lee Seng Wei 21 3,221 3,705 22 6,969
5] Ma Sun 10 3,456 2,815 306 6,587
B2 Edwin Lo King Yau 21 1,298 3,852 60 5,231
HigA Tao Tsan Sang 21 2,028 2,850 187 5,086
FEB(H:Fi)  Lee Shu Yin (Note i) 10 1,150 - 53 1,213
93 13,233 13,722 628 27,676

HRBRHTEZHE I RBANKREEEARAR
AEEEB RS -

The Executive Directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for their
services in connection with the management of the affairs of the Company and
the Group.

FHITES Non-Executive Directors

T E Lee Seng Hui 21 6,151 33,881 75 40,128

BRE Moses Cheng Mo Chi 10 - - - 10
31 6,151 33,881 75 40,138

FRBRZIFNTEEME T EMNEZIEALART  The Non-Executive Directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for their

R/FEMBLRR 2 EE 2R - services as directors of the Company and/or its subsidiaries.

BIFHT Independent Non-Executive

= Directors

ERsRE (i) Francis J. Chang Chu Fai (Note ii) 10 86 - - 96

SBE(MEE)  )in Hui Zhi (Note ii) 10 86 - - 96

IR (W7tii) Ngai Wah Sang (Note i) 10 111 - - 121

BB (M) Lisa Yang Lai Sum (Note i) 18 153 _ _ 171
48 436 - - 484

TRBRBUFFMTEEME T BERRREEAL
RAR/SEMBRR 2 EEZ R -

1% Total

The Independent Non-Executive Directors’ emoluments shown above were
mainly for their services as directors of the Company and/or its subsidiary.

68,298

wiiz -

(i) ZABRERZFEACHAERSNTHEEESEZE
A —FEERNERES

(i BA-T—LFAL - BYFRTERDHESE
SEERERREL LR ERISTE - B
HFRTEELERR T ZRBENR T — \FE
7] °

(iiiy FHEBLEER_T—EF A THBRERRITE
ERR =T - N\F—ANBEE -

Notes:

(i

The amounts represent the actual discretionary bonus in respect of the
preceding year approved and paid to respective Directors during the year.

(i) The service fees of the Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely Mr.
Francis J. Chang Chu Fai, Mr. Jin Hui Zhi and Mr. Ngai Wah Sang remain
unchanged as compared with 2017. The service fee of the Independent Non-
Executive Director, namely Ms. Lisa Yang Lai Sum is revised in 2018.

(iii) Mr. Lee Shu Yin was re-designated as Executive Director on 15th June, 2017
and resigned on 4th January, 2018.
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FREXREBTARBTHRAR ZBE - IR
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RNBE-_ET—\E+-_A=t—BREE_Z
—+F+_A=+—"BILFE  UESHEKE
I -

ETEEN —"FRBEARGERERSEEZA
A E - ZARMAEBIREEERY
WHAEBRZEEEREMITIERRRIES
2 EBEABMIRRREKERERER 2T
BERCEEEM T/ BBEZERE M
o FMZEBBNNIREREAENALES
B2 EEEE WA okEE LlES -
4D & 58 544,833,000 T (T —+F :
44,771,000/87T) * WEBFEELERA °

13.DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Mr. Patrick Lee Seng Wei performs the function of the chief executive
of the Company and his emoluments disclosed above include those
for services rendered by him as the chief executive.

None of the Directors waived any emoluments in the years ended
31st December, 2018 and 31st December, 2017.

Certain Directors received remuneration from a company which
has significant beneficial interests in the Company. Such company
provided management services to the Group and charged the Group
a management fee, which is included in the management fee as
disclosed in note 47(a), for services provided by these Directors as
well as other management personnel who were not Directors of
the Company. The above-mentioned management fee is calculated
by reference to the time devoted by the management personnel on
the affairs of the Group and can be apportioned to the Directors
mentioned above. The total of such apportioned amounts, which
has been included in the above table, is HK$44,833,000 (2017:
HK$44,771,000).
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W EERSREEAEME

EEME

AEBLfUGREHEAL  EPOEML(ZF
—tF 2R RAEEER(BEAEETR
BE)  HMEC BN LAME13% - AR
—fI(ZF—tF  B)ALTHMESHT

14.EMPLOYEES” AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS

Employees’ emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, four
(2017: all) were Directors including the chief executive of the Group,
whose emoluments are included in note 13 above. The emolument of
the remaining one (2017: nil) individual was as follows:

2018 2017

FExT FA&T

HK$’000 HK$’000

e REMmER Salaries and other benefits 2,124 -
HREER Performance related incentive

®/e payments 3,115 -

RIRIEFIETE Retirement benefits scheme
R contributions 90 _
5,329 -
AT S OMmIT The emoluments of the individual were within the following band:

2018 2017

EEEH EEHAE

Number of Number of

employees employees

5,000,001/%87C£ 5,500,000/ 7T HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000 1 -

AEEOF N EER TS ERRITHMKF
AR BEEERRMERE THRBREE - 1M
EFEEHE  AEEYERNTUSSME AL
SAERERIMAREBR K INAREBZH
HELZE -

The remuneration policies of the Group are based on the prevailing
remuneration level in the market and the performance of respective
group companies and individual employees. During both years,
no emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest paid
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group.
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EREEAESME
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14.EMPLOYEES’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Senior management’s emoluments

Of the seventeen (2017: sixteen) senior management of the Group,
twelve (2017: twelve) were the Directors whose emoluments are
included in note 13 above. The emoluments of the remaining five
(2017: four) were as follows:

2018 2017

FET FHET

HK$’000 HK$’000

e RHAEF] Salaries and other benefits 5,402 4,431
LR Performance related incentive

®/e payments 4,758 3,948

RIKEFIETE Retirement benefits scheme
R contributions 275 250
10,435 8,629

FZEALZHE T

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

2018 2017

EEHE EEEE

Number of Number of

employees employees

1,000,000/ 7L A T HK$1,000,000 or below 1 1
1,000,001 7T 1,500,000/ 7T HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1 1
1,500,001 7C22,000,00078 7T HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 2 1
4,500,001 7T 25,000,000/ 7T HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 = 1
5,000,001 7T 25,500,000/ 7T HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000 1 -

SREBAEBKNBZBENREAFRIEEZLD
REREABZEAER | —EIAHEE

The biographies of members of the senior management are disclosed
in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” in this annual report.
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15. BREF

A VSR A 2 AR A E R T R B B
S

15.EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable to the
owners of the Company is based on the following:

2018 2017
THET T
HK$’000 HK$’000
87 Earnings
BIAFTEFIER Earnings for the purpose of
Bz B A basic earnings per share
NS E (profit for the year attributable
REL A to owners of the Company) 1,251,202 2,054,142
2018 2017
Fix Tz
000 ‘000
BE Number of shares
RUGtEERR Number of ordinary shares
EARERZ in issue during the year for
REFEET the purpose of basic earnings
e = per share 1,506,769 1,506,769

RZB-N\FER-_ZT—LFE  WREZT
BR#EERN BAR_ZT-/\FER-T
—EEEAWLERITEINBEE B -

No diluted earnings per share for both 2018 and 2017 were presented
as there were no potential ordinary shares in issue for both 2018 and

2017.
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16. B2 16.DIVIDEND
2018 2017
FHET THTT
HK$’000 HK$’000
RFEEANFERD KL Dividend recognised as
LS distributions during the year:
E‘JE —tFEEMPHRE Interim dividend (in lieu of
(ﬁ*a*?fi,ﬁﬁﬂxm) final dividend) paid in
(ZF—tF : |) respect of 2017 (2017: Nil) 301,354 -

T EFRETE

BRI S
(ZE—+F =T —
FEENFRIREA—ME
B AR ZBHDIK)

No special dividend paid
in respect of 2017
(2017: Special dividend paid
in form of distribution of
shares in a listed subsidiary

(H1#) in respect of 2016) (Note) = 489,700
301,354 489,700
BE kT R B Interim dividend declared of
%2081 HK20 cents (2017: HK20 cents)

(ZF—+%F : 20801)

per share 301,354 301,354

RBERRE EFSEMREFEZ_FT N\
F+oA=t—BHLVBRFEZTHRES

2078

=i
BII(ZZE—1F : 2081l) -

REBEE—_T—AR"F+_A=+t—BHULUREEZ
BRI E - DIRFEEEF100lR AR ARG ES IR
13REFEMERD ([EMDIR]) 2HLE - AEY
AERAFRNREDFME (KRR ZEEZERBR
7])2195,880,034 %M1 ([ SR BEHER M ]) - I
EREBE-ZT—tF+-A=+—HLHAAX
15 o IR EFMERGNEE2.587T(BIART
RZT—RNFUAEREEFMERRD2.758T 21
BEBADBERD - Wit RiEE iﬁzéa&t
on B M EE AR D 2578 L 2 SF B B AERAR) -
B 5K 2 58 # t@FHxﬁ%@{Eﬁiﬁﬁwwooooo
BT FEEROER32.5B 2 DK ©

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the interim dividend of
HK20 cents (2017: HK20 cents) per share in respect of the financial
year ended 31st December, 2018 has been declared by the Board.

Note: A special dividend in form of distribution in specie of 195,880,034 shares in
ASL, a non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, (“ASL Share(s)”) on the
basis of 13 ASL Shares for every 100 shares of the Company (“Distribution
in Specie”) in respect of the financial year ended 31st December, 2016 has
been paid during the year ended 31st December, 2017. Based on the price
HK$2.5 per ASL Share (being the price of HK$2.75 per ASL Share at which
the Company acquired the ASL Shares in 2016 and adjusted by the special
dividend of HK25 cents per ASL Share declared by ASL), the aggregate
value of the ASL Shares to be distributed under the Distribution in Specie
was approximately HK$489,700,000, which represented a distribution of
approximately HK32.5 cents per share of the Company.
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17.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

189

EEER
PEZPREN B HE-
IBRET RERRE
Land and Leasehold
buildings in the  improvements,
Hong Kong and furniture, RE
PRC on medium- fixtures and Motor @t
term lease equipment vehicles Total
THEL TATL TATL TAL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RAR CosT
RZZ—-+45-F—H At st January, 2017 360,395 167,195 37,648 565,438
A Exchange adjustments 9,181 4,844 1,307 15,332
BE Additions 1,316 16,435 4,027 21,778
WE-BMBARMIG(Hi9)  Acquired on acquisition of a subsidiary (note 9) - 179 1,346 1,525
BRERENE Transfer to investment properties (151,233) - - (151,233)
EREERTINERE Transfer from inventories of properties completed 63 - - 63
HE Rt Disposals and write-off (83) (1,104) (3,844) (5,031)
WZE—+FE+-A=+-H At 31st December, 2017 219,639 187,549 40,684 447 872
AR Exchange adjustments (4,680) 2,537) (839) (8,056)
BE Additions - 1,879 3,194 5,073
BRERENE Transfer to investment properties (3,267) - - (3,267)
HERFTHE Disposals and write-off - (1,192) (2,474) (3,666)
RoB-\F+-f=1-F At 31t Decernber, 2018 211,692 185,699 40,565 437,956
E DEPRECIATION
RZZ—+5-FA-H At Tst January, 2017 30,480 106,222 29,379 166,081
B A% Exchange adjustments 1,431 3,447 963 5,841
KEEHR Provided for the year 5,483 15,496 2,834 23,813
BEEHANE Transfer to investment properties (2,537) - - (2,537)
W E R GR Eliminated on disposals and write-off (65) (1,009) (3,123) (4,197)
RZF—tFt-A=1-A At 31st December, 2017 34,792 124,156 30,053 189,001
A Exchange adjustments (749) (1,941) (535) (3,225)
KEEHR Provided for the year 4,550 13,425 3,637 21,612
BERETENE Transfer to investment properties (476) - - (476)
REE RGHERHE Eliminated on disposals and write-off - (1,024) (2,244) (3,268)
RZE-N\E+-A=+-H At 31st December, 2018 38,117 134,616 30,911 203,044
BREE CARRYING VALUES
R-Z-\F+=-A=+-H At 31st December, 2018 173,575 51,083 9,654 234,312
RZE—+&+-A=1—H At 31st December, 2017 184,847 63,393 10,631 258,871
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18. REW = 18.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
2018 2017
THET FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
[REE FAIR VALUE
»n—HA—AH At 1st January 13,100,399 10,862,281
NE 7, A Exchange adjustments (296,825) 530,587
BE Additions 4,016 694,722
BREAYE  BEL Transferred from property, plant
Bl and equipment 4,991 156,749
EREE T ERE AN Transferred from prepaid lease
HEM payments on land use rights 19,818 21,553
R EEREG Transferred to properties under
IS development (61,674) -
HE Disposals (11,785) (2,008)
EREEERIME Transferred from inventories of
T8 completed properties 432,920 382,749
ERIMEFFEEREE Fair value gain on transfer of
BREWERZ inventories of completed
NAEE properties to investment
Wz properties 229,137 115,313
662,057 498,062
ERRERZ A AAEER Increase in fair value recognised
2 in profit or loss 201,283 338,453
BR+=—A=+—H At 31st December 13,622,280 13,100,399
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18. &M (%)

BRERREYEA13,153,280,000/8 T ( ==
—+% 1 12,565,399,000/87C) 2 2B TWEN
469,000,00078 7T (=& —+t 4 : 535,000,000
BI) 2 EBRPYE -

AEBZEEMERBRECRINERFE
WE - WELRER T EREZBENEER
ZAMR-_ZE-N\F+-_HA=1t—BZARE
ERERERNEEEEMRENE LA ER
BEFAEAR - EHERFEHERAA(ZE
—tF  ERERFEERIF)RNE BETT
MfEE - REEXTEERRESL  EERTHE
TR ARMNBEEDRBAESN - LERIZEN
WEMS  HEDRE—([EAMEER —KHE
MEFMNBRESEMSHESNMER2EZER
HEE - MEERTIMEFE - W% BER
wERTEREZANEEREREREY
EZWEMS  [EDERREE - FHIERME
ERKBZRZEEMENEETDRAKEEL
ENZENEBERBSZAAE S RMFAER
BT - Wat R FERKFEFIFER R ER A M F
b URMERTHREBENEE - BEFE
PR E AL RS -

WL A S EER - WEGRE RS
R AHERA -

PIAREBEMEZRUNTE - FERKRE @ IR
HEADMT

18.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Included in the investment properties are completed properties of
HK$13,153,280,000 (2017: HK$12,565,399,000) and properties
under development of HK$469,000,000 (2017: HK$535,000,000).

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at the date of
transfer from inventories of completed properties, property, plant and
equipment and prepaid lease payments on land use rights and as at
31st December, 2018 have been arrived at on the basis of a valuation
carried out on those dates by Norton Appraisals Holdings Limited
(2017: Norton Appraisals Holdings Limited), the firm of independent
and qualified professional valuers which is not connected with the
Group. The valuation was principally based on investment method
by taking into account the current rents passing and the reversionary
income potential of tenancies. For the properties which are currently
vacant, the valuation was based on each of the property interests by
capitalisation of the hypothetical and reasonable market rents with a
typical lease term and also make reference to the direct comparison
approach. For the properties which were transferred from inventories
of completed properties, property, plant and equipment and prepaid
lease payments on land use rights to investment properties, the
valuation was based on investment method. The valuations of
investment properties held for undetermined future use were arrived at
by the adoption of the residual approach on the basis that they will be
developed and completed in accordance with the latest development
proposals and having taken into account the construction cost that
will extent to complete the development to reflect the quality of
the completed development. There has been no change from the
valuation technique used in the prior years.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and best use
of the properties is their current use.

Investment properties are all located in the PRC, Hong Kong and
United Kingdom and comprise properties held under:

2018 2017
FHET FAT

HK$’000 HK$’000

KAKEB Freehold 718,200 758,160
RAIFEAY Long lease 4,838,617 5,777,441
R HATE A Medium-term lease 6,364,463 4,836,745
kG HATA &Y Short lease 1,701,000 1,728,053
13,622,280 13,100,399
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18.REMHE(®) 18.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)
TEREHNAEETIEREMEN AL BE
(HRIZFEANGEEREREE) - RIRAA
BEIELHENAERIEE BAAEETS

The following table gives information about how the fair values
of the major investment properties are determined (in particular,
the valuation techniques and inputs used), as well as the fair value

DEEARBELAFTFHNSERH(E—REE= hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are categorised
?&)E’Jéﬂ (Levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair
value measurements is observable.
rEERER EERER BrBRZHA
REME [NREE EEZH E:3:93 220 AREENEE
Investment & 5l Valuation Significant Relationship of
properties held Fair value  techniques unobservable unobservable
by the Group hierarchy  and key inputs inputs inputs for fair value
fIRER 2 F F=H REZ(ARERZE)  HUREX(ERITLEMERARUARR  HH kS R OE
Properties in Level 3 Investment method RERS TUROERRANEEERELE SEHLAEBET

Southern China

(term and reversionary
approach)

FR2HR
The key inputs are:

B %) 51.50%%6.50% ( —F—+F :
1.75%%6.50%)

Term yield, taking into account of yield
generated from comparable properties and

adjustment to reflect the certainty of term

s

The increase in the
term yield would
result in a decrease

income secured and to be received, of in fair value
1) kR 1.50% to 6.50% (2017: 1.75% to 6.50%)
(1) Term yield;
BREX(ZEIALBMENFEEL EH K R aE
(2) EFRaE= MEHSRARBEATE)R2.00%£7.00% BEBAAEBET
) Rever5|onary (ZZ—tF : 2.25%%7.00%) 3
yield; and Reversionary yield, taking into account  The increase in the
annual unit market rental income and unit reversionary yield
(3) MERIERHI TS market value of the comparable properties, would result in a
B of 2.00% to 7.00% (2017: 2.25% to 7.00%)  decrease in fair value

(3) Market unit rent of
individual unit

MSENHS BERTSA L ERYELE -

BENESMIE

WEFB M MEMERNRRK - MERKLE JJDA BHRAEE
- MERNNRE - FHDHECHESN B0

FHEFHARBABARBEGTIIKEA
360ARB (=T 15 : ¥ HABARA
REEGFHIAZA166 ARY)

Market unit rent compares with direct
market comparables and taking into account
of location and other individual factors
such as road frontage, size of property and
facilities. The range of average market unit
rent is from around RMB25 sq.m./month to
RMB360 sg.m./month (2017: RMB32 sq.m./
month to RMB166 sq.m./month)

The increase in the
market unit rent would
result in an increase in
fair value
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18.REWME (%)

AEEMER

RENF AfRfEE
Investment A
properties held Fair value
by the Group hierarchy
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18.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

EETER
TEZH
Valuation
techniques
and key inputs

EEEEEHEZY
Significant
unobservable
inputs

HrBERZ N
DABENER
Relationship of
unobservable
inputs for fair value

IRER 2% E=ZR
Properties in Level 3
Eastern China

REA(HS

%)

Investment method

(term and reversionary
approach)

The key inputs are:

) TR

Term yield;

BREREE
Rever5|onary

yield; and

(BRI ES vz
B

Market unit rent of
individual unit

HHREE (R LR E AR R
PR A8 B T U R ) A B U B i SE IR PR A
B ) /81.50%£6.50% (=T —+F :
1.50%%6.50%)

Term yield, taking into account of yield
generated from comparable properties and
adjustment to reflect the certainty of term
income secured and to be received, of
1.50% t0 6.50% (2017: 1.50% to 6.50%)

Bl EXR(ZRITHENENFEEN
MEHESRAREMTE)B1.75%E7.00%
(Z2—+5F : 1.75%%7.00%)
Reversionary yield, taking into account
annual unit market rental income and unit
market value of the comparable properties,
of 1.75% to 7.00% (2017: 1.75% to 7.00%)

MSENHS BERTS AL RYBELE -
WEBB M MEMERN AR - MERLE

H - MEAPRE - FHTHECEEN
FHBFHARERA2ARBEGTIKEA

1050 ARB(ZF—t%F : §FTAKFA20
ARBESTYIIREA29IARE)

Market unit rent compares with direct
market comparables and taking into account
of location and other individual factors
such as road frontage, size of property and
facilities. The range of average market unit
rent is from around RMB20 sq.m./month
to RMB1,050 sq.m./month (2017: RMB20
sq.m./month to RMB259 sq.m./month)

TH H R 28 A9 52 0
SERAAEET

The increase in the
term yield would result
in a decrease in fair
value

The increase in the
reversionary yield
would result in a
decrease in fair value

mHEBEMEERIE
MEeERRAAEE
0

The increase in the
market unit rent
would result in an
increase in fair value
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18. &M (%)

18.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

AEEARFE EERER BELERSHR
R&n= AREE EFEBH EEELERZY DABENBE
Investment & 5 Valuation Significant Relationship of
properties held Fair value  techniques unobservable unobservable

by the Group hierarchy  and key inputs inputs inputs for fair value
g 2 Y% F=R REE(EBERZE)  HAHRREX(ZEITLENERBEARER fﬁﬁﬂﬂﬂl/\fi‘ me
Properties in Level 3 Investment method RELSTFURAOERRANRELEMEE BRAREBETR

Northern China

(term and reversionary
approach)

ES 0 R
The key inputs are:

) THEREE
(1) Term yield;

2) ERKEEX R
(2) Reversionary
yield; and

(3) MERIE A HI TS
Bufs

(3) Market unit rent of
individual unit

MU %) £2.00%£6.50% (=T —+ % :
3.00%%6.50%)

Term yield, taking into account of yield
generated from comparable properties and
adjustment to reflect the certainty of term
income secured and to be received, of
2.00% to 6.50% (2017: 3.00% to 6.50%)

BhEXR(ZEITHENENFEEN
mHHERAREMTE)82.50%%7.00%
(2215 :3.50%%7.00%)
Reversionary yield, taking into account
annual unit market rental income and unit
market value of the comparable properties,
of 2.50% to 7.00% (2017: 3.50% to 7.00%)

BEUBSEEET S LRYELER

I%Jﬁﬁ‘lim!ﬁfﬂﬁi\@ﬂﬂl% MR IE
H - MERNRE - FHTSELESN
FHBFIARBRABARBESYIKEA
200 ARE(ZF—+5 : 8FHABA20A
REESFTAEA138ARE)
Market unit rent compares with direct
market comparables and taking into account
of location and other individual factors
such as road frontage, size of property and
facilities. The range of average market unit
rent is from around RMB15 sq.m./month to
RMB200 sg.m./month (2017: RMB26 sq.m./
month to RMB138 sq.m./month)

The increase in the
term yield would
result in a decrease
in fair value

EHERaE=X iJJDa
BHLAEET

The increase in the
reversionary yield
would result in a
decrease in fair

The increase in the
market unit rent
would result in
an increase in fair
value
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18.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

rEEMEE EELER BLERSHE
R&N=x AAEE FESH ERELBESY AABENERE
Investment &l Valuation Significant Relationship of
properties held Fair value  techniques unobservable unobservable

by the Group hierarchy  and key inputs inputs inputs for fair value
(RINENOPAYES F=R REA(EBERZE) HPREX(EEIATLBENELRBEARR HHkmRENE
Properties in Level 3 Investment method RERSTUROERRANEEERELE BOABETR

Hong Kong (term and reversionary ~ BJIE %) &2.00%ZE5.00% (=T —+F :

approach)

EL: K
The key inputs are:

(1) HEEE
(1) Term yield;

2) BRRER &
(2) Reversionary
yield; and

3) {ER| BRI KIS
BuH$

(3) Market unit rent of
individual unit

2.00%%5.00%)

Term yield, taking into account of yield
generated from comparable properties and
adjustment to reflect the certainty of term
income secured and to be received, of
2.00% to 5.00% (2017: 2.00% to 5.00%)

ERUAEX(ZRITLBYENFEEN
mHHERAREMTE)£2.50%%5.50%
(ZZ—+F : 2.50%%25.50%)

Reversionary yield, taking into account
annual unit market rental income and unit
market value of the comparable properties,
of 2.50% to 5.50% (2017: 2.50% to 5.50%)

MSENHE BERMSALEYAELE -
WEEIMEEMEMERNEE - MBRKIE
- MERNNRE - REEREERDE
FEMSENEEN FOGF I REA188
TEFFHIARGA2008T(ZF—LF:
FHAGRISETLEG Y KEA2058T)
FES FEMSEMEEN FHOFH2,200
BL(ZF—tF : H5A2,60087T)
Market unit rent compares with direct
market comparables and taking into account
of location and other individual factors
such as road frontage, size of property and
facilities. For the residential and commercial
properties, the range of average market unit
rent is from around HK$18 sq.ft./month to
HK$200 sq.ft./month (2017: HK$18 sq.ft./
month to HK$205 sq.ft./month). For the
carparks, the range of average market unit
rent is around HK$2,200/month (2017:
around HK$2,600/month)

The increase in the
term yield would
result in a decrease
in fair value.

The increase in the
reversionary yield
would result in a
decrease in fair
value

Mg B S LM
BYAREEEN

The increase in the
market unit rent
would result in
an increase in fair
value
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18.1REY ¥ &) 18.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)
rEBFEHE BERER BLrBRZ N
REME DAEE TEZH EEELERZY DABENBE
Investment % 5l Valuation Significant Relationship of
properties held Fair value  techniques unobservable unobservable
by the Group hierarchy  and key inputs inputs inputs for fair value
fIRENTEGER S=K EMEDR MSBAHEER(ERERTHAILEY Eﬁﬁ%%@%
HERIER Level 3 Residual approach I%%iﬂ%&ﬁﬁﬂ“ﬂl?)i%$ﬁ* f' neBRALE
Development site in 10,600 AR¥E(ZZF—+F : FFHXK9,900 AL
Huizhou Huiyang E2805 ARE)
District The key inputs are: Market unit sales rate, using market direct The increase in the
comparable and taking into account of market unit sales
(1) TiZEMHEER location and other individual factors, of rate would result in
B’ R RMB10,600/sq.m. (2017: RMB9,900/sq.m.)  an increase in fair
(1) Market unit sales value
rate; and
BRENENNERX(ZERIMEOEE) BRBHENKE
(2) BRAEIEN K £29.00%(=F—+%F : 29.00%) BEAEMEEH
[ B = Developer’s profit and risk rate, taking into A {EE T
(2) Developer’s profit  account of the progress of the property, of  The increase in the
and risk rate 29.00% (2017: 29.00%) developer’s profit
and risk rate would
result in a decrease
in fair value
IREEZME  F=& WAL FERER6.70%(—F—LF : 6.70%) BREEMEEH
Properties in the Level 3 Income approach Discount rate of 6.70% (2017: 6.70%) AREETE

United Kingdom

TEZHR
The key inputs are:

1) BRIRE

(1) Discount rate;

Q) BRE R
(2) Growth rate; and

3) mEHRS
(3) Estimated rent

BREEE) 70%(ZF—tF 1 2.60%)
Growth rate of 2.70% (2017: 2.60%)

fﬁ %E%zeffﬁ?ﬁ‘fﬁ*ﬁ%ﬁ&/\ﬂ&%ﬁﬂiﬁﬁ

BESGHE - HEHSOBTFREF4
ﬁiﬁ%(f;—ti BT HREFE43HE)

Estimated rent is calculated based on
existing tenancy agreement and takes into
account historical operating records. The
estimated rent is around British Pound 42
sq.ft./year (2017: around British Pound 43
sq.ft./year)

The increase in the
discount rate would
result in a decrease
in fair value

BREENSEEN
R BEEM

The increase in the
growth rate would
result in a increase
in fair value

HEMRESEMNER
R BEEM

The increase in
the estimated rent
would result in
an increase in fair
value
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For the year ended 31st December, 2018

19. FBEYE 19.PROPERTIES FOR DEVELOPMENT
2018 2017
FExT THET
HK$’000 HK$’000
BRAME AT COST
n—A—Bz#&& Balance at 1st January 3,749,694 2,223,809
[ 5 R Exchange adjustments (120,279) 86,407
BE Additions 2,311,356 910,382
Wi — R MY B A R M ERAS Acquired on acquisitions of
(Htat9) a subsidiary (note 9) - 522,035
EBE(2)ABETYE Transferred (to) from inventories of
Ay properties under development (1,845,186) 7,061
R+_RA=+—BZ#& Balance at 31st December 4,095,585 3,749,694
R AMORTISATION AND
BAE IMPAIRMENT
n—A—Bz&& Balance at 1st January 264,333 224,639
TE W R Exchange adjustments (6,065) 2,631
NEE Y Amortisation for the year 26,111 35,802
ER(E)FEETYE Transferred (to) from inventories of
"rE properties under development (7,127) 1,261
R+ A=+—H2&& Balance at 31st December 277,252 264,333
REE CARRYING VALUES 3,818,333 3,485,361
KEBZFERYE The Group’s properties for
G development comprise:
KAz HELTH Leasehold land in the PRC
REIE L Long lease 2,410,227 2,132,277
i HAAE 49 Medium-term lease 932,194 831,049
ORI 2 K AFEE T3 Freehold land in Australia 475,912 522,035
3,818,333 3,485,361

AEEERENFERMECEKALAZE
FEZBREEEITRERE - IERFETIR
BR-ZBE-—N\FET_A=1T—HNBIEXM
EMEE °

The management of the Group had carried out impairment assessment
on the properties for development based on the lower of cost and net
realisable value for properties for development. The net realisable
values were determined based on independent professional valuations
at 31st December, 2018.
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20. T fE A2 FEAEER

20.PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS ON LAND USE RIGHTS

2018 2017
FER FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
I ER (B A R A The Group’s prepaid lease
ZTERHEER payments on land use rights
B comprise:
RAEZHE L Leasehold land in the PRC
REAMEAY Long lease 33,721 52,393
FR EATE 4Y Medium-term lease 6,383 6,786
40,104 59,179
MREHMENMIELZ2FTAT : Analysed for reporting purposes as:
EMBNEE Non-current asset 39,212 58,281
mEBEE Current asset 892 898
40,104 59,179
21. REBE QB 2 21.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES
2018 2017
FER FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
EEE R R E 2 AR Cost of investment in associates
(H7E) - (Note):
JEETHEENT Unlisted associates 3,356,741 3,356,741
FEME U B & 2 Share of post-acquisition
EE R E M losses and other
2 EER comprehensive income,
B S net of dividends received (465,410) (417,396)
2,891,331 2,939,345

TERERRAR - N\FRIE—tFt=
A=+—BZERFHERMES2 -

et - REGE A AR E Z A BIER B F E U i
BRAIFTEAZEE46,0008 T ( - —t4F :
46,0008 7T) ©

Details of the principal associates at 31st December, 2018 and 2017

are set out in note 52.

Note: Included in the cost of investment in associates is goodwill of HK$46,000
(2017: HK$46,000) arising on acquisitions of associates in prior years.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2018

21. A E N T 2 RS (8)

T AEEAEEE KBS A TS S K
BEREE - TBI S SR E AR IBE S
BREEAFRENB LR BN BRRATS
o

4D DR ER RS R A MRS
B

EXRBEQT M BERBE

Zeta Estates Limited

21.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group’s

material associates is set out below. The summarised financial

information below represents amounts shown in the associate’s

financial statements prepared in accordance with HKFRSs.

The associates are accounted for using the equity method in these

consolidated financial statements.

Summarised financial information of material associates

Zeta Estates Limited

2018 2017

FEx FAT

HK$’000 HK$’000

MENVE B Current assets 2,137,521 497,759

ERBEE Non-current assets 6,959,884 8,904,632

REBaE Current liabilities (686,997) (758,573)
’ ’

ERFHasE Non-current liabilities (1,373,666) (1,410,133)

WA Revenue 408,329 759,215

REZm A Profit for the year 100,083 264,675

REEZ At 2 mE R Other comprehensive income for the year - -

NEEEEWGHEE Total comprehensive income for the year 100,083 264,675

R Z 2K B Zeta Estates Dividends from Zeta Estates Limited
Limited A% &, during the year 98,990 511,450
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21. Rt E N R 2= (%) 21.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)
ERBMENTI2HRERBEE) Summarised financial information of material associates (continued)
Zeta Estates Limited (/&) Zeta Estates Limited (continued)

FaBr A ER BB A S I IRER P A Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the
Zeta Estates Limited##z A BREI B < £ 8K carrying amount of the interest in Zeta Estates Limited recognised in
the consolidated financial statements:

2018 2017
TERT FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
Zeta Estates Limited 2 Net assets of
BEFAE Zeta Estates Limited 7,036,742 7,233,685
& [E 8 Zeta Estates Limited Carrying amount of the Group's
2 BREE interest in Zeta Estates Limited
(REEEARE (Proportion of the Group's
R AR /333.33% ownership interest of 33.33%
(ZZT—+%F :33.33%)) (2017: 33.33%)) 2,345,581 2,411,228
ERIFERCHE N ERER : Aggregate information of associates that are not individually
material:
2018 2017
THERT FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
REEEGE 25 F The Group’s share of profit 22,327 10,932
NEEREL 2 A The Group’s share of other
2HE(EMR) comprehensive (expense)
Yeas income (4,736) 21,215
REBEGZ The Group's share of total
2EWTERE comprehensive income 17,591 32,147
REB R Aggregate carrying value of

IRMEEE Group’s interests 545,750 528,117
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2. NEELE R 22.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES
2018 2017
TERT FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
RIELTEREREREZ Cost of investment in unlisted joint ventures
AN (HTeti) (Note i) 3,080,364 1,584,663
FEAE Wi 1% 2w ) & Share of post-acquisition profits and other
HAth 2 R comprehensive income, net of dividends
BRI S received 1,427,942 1,365,599
4,508,306 2,950,262
BERERR(AEii) Amounts due from joint ventures (Note ii) 795,939 -
5,304,245 2,950,262
FTEAECENR T \ER-_F—+F+= Details of the principal joint ventures at 31st December, 2018 and
A=+—BZEHFEHRMIEES53 - 2017 are set out in note 53.

(i) REBLEREZEAABERBEFERELGE
DERES 2 EE409,0008 7T ( — T — L F
409,000/ 7T) °

(i) 459,770,000 7T & EWE R KM B R - FH=
1% RR-_TE-_—FHAEE - B THBAEIR
W ERAREETEERR -

TXHHEABERAREERSEREZTEMNM
BEMRE - TAMHERR R SRIBEFEY
BREENRHENELEEMBRERMATE

.

7 °

BECENREDZINZEFESMBEHRRA

Notes:

(i) Included in the cost of investment of joint ventures is goodwill of HK$409,000
(2017: HK$409,000) arising on acquisitions of joint ventures in prior years.

(ii)  The amount of HK$459,770,000 is unsecured, bear interests at 12% per annum
and repayable on May 2021. The remaining amounts are unsecured, interest-free
and have no fixed date of repayment.

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group’s
material joint ventures is set out below. The summarised financial
information below represents amounts shown in the joint venture’s
financial statements prepared in accordance with HKFRSs.

The joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method in these
consolidated financial statements.
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2. NEELEER ) 22.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)
ERGELECHBERBE Summarised financial information of material joint ventures
AZETEH(EE)ER L & AL BTG5 (FE)ERL A
2018 2017
FTHET FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
MENVE E Current assets 12,574,638 10,431,876
EMBNEE Non-current assets 6,885,638 6,581,218
mENAE Current liabilities (10,052,494) (8,435,811)
EMBEE Non-current liabilities (6,602,441) (6,190,172)
Pz EERBESEBEATIEAR - The above amounts of assets and liabilities included the following:
2018 2017
FExT FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
ReMREFEIER Cash and cash equivalents 2,850,284 2,711,825
nBERAaRE Current financial liabilities
(TBRZHR (excluding trade and other
EAfth AR FR) payables) (3,189,093) (3,053,768)
EmBERAE Non-current financial liabilities
(TRERZS M (excluding trade and other
H At T BRFR) payables) (5,545,865) (5,343,897)
2018 2017
FTExT FH&T
HK$’000 HK$’000
WA Revenue 2,403,349 3,028,617
AN v A Profit for the year 468,810 379,102
AFEzHME2E(ER) Other comprehensive (expense)
Wz income for the year (52,833) 98,896
RFEE2EPER Total comprehensive income
k] for the year 415,977 477,998
RANF EHER LG I Dividends received from
(5E) AR EYWER KLY (RE)BRAA

) es) during the year - -
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2. REEEER(B) 22.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)
BEAGELECHEERME Summarised financial information of material joint ventures
(#&) (continued)
AL BT ()R L A (&) AL BT (K B)E R 2 7] (continued)
FRARFRGMNBEATIES The above profit for the year included the following:
2018 2017
TERT FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
YrEs Ry Depreciation and amortisation 44,327 38,433
FILEMA Interest income 25,012 9,996
MEER Interest expense 272,947 259,736
FriSfisz Income tax expense 585,359 496,339

Bt E R ERG S BBmAP RN K Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to
ZHEIEH(EE) AR AR RN FEIELNR the carrying amount of the interest in XZBUGEHK (L&) BR QA

recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

2018 2017
FTHER FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
RELHIGH (EE)BR Net assets of XL 5 (£ EH)

NENEEFE BRAF] 2,805,341 2,387,111
OB FEPE R Less: Non-controlling interests (133,846) (110,400)
R BAGH (LB BR Shareholder’s equity of

NRIZ R RLEHER (EE) AR QA 2,671,495 2,276,711
REBURLZEIEH (EEH) Proportion of the Group's

BIRAF50%K B # ownership interest of 50% in

w2 BB RLEHR (EE)ER QA 1,335,747 1,138,355
ARz G2 Share of unrealised profit on

REIR A inter-company transactions (4,380) (4,380)
Hity Others (902) (902)
REBRRLZEIEH Carrying amount of the Group's

(REE)BRAFZ interest in R EHI (£E)

a2 BREE BRAF 1,330,465 1,133,073
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(%)

Y X ZBEFR BRI (EE)ERA A

22.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information of material joint ventures

(continued)

FYXZEERERRE (FE)ERA A

2018 2017

FET FHT

HK$’000 HK$’000

MENEE Current assets 10,628,013 6,355,663
IEmENEE Non-current assets 2,750,071 2,327,793
mENEE Current liabilities (2,509,689) (1,299,825)
ERBEE Non-current liabilities (9,688,018) (5,864,957)

btz EERBBESREEATIER

The above amounts of assets and liabilities included the following:

2018 2017
FTHET FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
ReMREFEIER Cash and cash equivalents 1,046,146 1,083,105
VIS =N Current financial liabilities
(TRERZS M (excluding trade and other
HAtb T BRFR) payables) (705,711) (831,660)
FnBERAE Non-current financial liabilities
(T"BRZXHR (excluding trade and other
U ANE =) payables) (9,212,644) (5,529,412)
2018 2017
T FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
PN Revenue 262,911 611,540
AN A Profit for the year 153,400 250,792
RERzHpERE(ER) Other comprehensive (expense)
Wz income for the year (31,822) 56,658
RFE2E W Total comprehensive income
4ERE for the year 121,578 307,450
RAFERERIIR L BL Dividends received from
KEHR(EE)BRAA RYREFEEREER(ER)
ER B B S, ARAF during the year 229,885 -
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22. REE R ERE)

BEREE X ZMBENRE

(%)

RINXZRERRERRE(KE)ERA A

(&)

BRAFERMBEATIAR

22.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information of material joint ventures

(continued)

(continued)

The above profit for the year included the following:

FYXZEERERRE (FE)ERA A

2018 2017

FTET FET

HK$’000 HK$’000

e R Depreciation and amortisation 5,181 4,494
MEMA Interest income 20,140 8,008
MEER Interest expense 89,382 137,392
8z Income tax expense 180,934 277,359

LR EAFE R R BRAR A B S R R RER AU
AINRZEEEERR(EE)BERAR 2 ER
M RRE{E AR -

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the
carrying amount of the interest in FINKLHEELE LR (EE)ER
‘A \] recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

2018 2017
FTHERT FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
AINREHEEREER(EE) Net assets of R KL EIKE
BRARNEEFE HR(EB)BAERAT 1,180,377 1,518,674
O FEIERR RS Less: Non-controlling interests (3,586) (4,589)
RINRLEEREER(EEH) Shareholder’s equity of F#IIIK%Z
BRAR RS BREREBHR(EE)BRAQA 1,176,791 1,514,085
REBRRYIRL L% Proportion of the Group’s
REFR(EEH)AR ownership interest of 50% in
AAEI50%M B # FINRLFEREEERR(EE)
2 #Bin BRAF 588,395 757,042
TERMELZ Exchange differences arising on
EHER capital injection (402) (402)
ERREZRH2 Share of unrealised profit on
REIR A inter-company transactions (41,093) (4,199)
REBWRYIRLHEERE Carrying amount of the Group's
ZER(EE)BRARZ interest in JRYIIRLZEE I E
s REE HR(EE)BRAA 546,900 752,441
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22 NEEREIERF)

EAGELECHBERBME
(%)

Crystal Idea Management Limited

22.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information of material joint ventures

(continued)

Crystal Idea Management Limited

2018 2017
FHET T

HK$’000 HK$’000

mENEE Current assets 2,043,021 1,796,984
ERBEE Non-current assets 1,072,575 948,236
MENA G Current liabilities (1,665,382) (1,494,639)
ERBALE Non-current liabilities (1,291,380) (1,057,483)

bz EERBBESEBIEATIER

The above amounts of assets and liabilities included the following:

2018 2017
FExT FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
ReMReSEEAR Cash and cash equivalents 279,102 127,768
BT AR Current financial liabilities
(TRERS (excluding trade and other
H At T BRFR) payables) (1,067,592) (1,444,825)
EmBERAE Non-current financial liabilities
TBERZH R (excluding trade and other
EAth ETBRFR) payables) (1,129,620) (872,457)
2018 2017
FET AT
HK$’000 HK$’000
WA Revenue 76,439 777
AFERIE Loss for the year (14,784) (22,195)
REFzHE2E(ER) Other comprehensive (expense)
= income for the year (19,481) 38,585
AFEE2E(ER) W Total comprehensive (expense)
1ERE income for the year (34,265) 16,390

RAF EHeCrystal Idea
Management Limited

Y ER RS

Dividends received from Crystal
Idea Management Limited
during the year -
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22 REERE R E)

EXRGELEZMBENNE

(&
Crystal Idea Management Limited (&)

BRAFEEBEREENTER

22.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information of material joint ventures

(continued)
Crystal Idea Management Limited (continued)

The above loss for the year included the following:

2018 2017

FTET FET

HK$’000 HK$’000

rE R Depreciation and amortisation 23,834 15,600
MEWA Interest income 1,813 104
MEER Interest expense - -
FTiSfiE e Income tax credit 17,810 3,898

R B TS B R B B AR S I IS IR R P RERR AR
Crystal Idea Management Limited 2 # %= F) BR E
B

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the
carrying amount of the interest in Crystal Idea Management Limited

recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

2018 2017
FERT THET
HK$’000 HK$’000
Crystal Idea Management Limited Net assets of Crystal Idea
WEEFE Management Limited 158,834 193,098
REE M Crystal Idea Proportion of the Group's
Management Limited ownership interest of 50%
50% )7 H in Crystal Idea Management
Z 817 Limited 79,417 96,549
BELERBHIE Discounted fair value of profit
BN AR EE forgo by joint venture partner
IR (K1) (Note) 655,177 604,939
REE R Crystal Idea Carrying amount of the Group's
Management Limited interest in Crystal Idea
2 2 BREE Management Limited 734,594 701,488

et ZeBRRBNR ZF =T F {ECrystal Idea
Management Limited CER B9 495E A] T 53k A1l 2
BENEFHERTES8.5%)

Note: The amount represented present value of an agreed distributable profit to
be received from Crystal Idea Management Limited in 2020 with weighted

average effective interest rate of 8.5%.
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22 REERE R E)

22.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

BEAGELECHKEERME Summarised financial information of material joint ventures
(&) (continued)
B B R 2 5] (B at) A SR W15 5 R 23 B (Note)
2018
THERT
HK$’000
MEVEE Current assets 3,152,683
SEMENEE Non-current assets 1,678,354
nRBEE Current liabilities (1,490,523)
ERBEE Non-current liabilities (329,586)

bz EERBESEBIEATIER :

The above amounts of assets and liabilities included the following:

2018
THET
HK$’000
ReMRE«EEER Cash and cash equivalents 142,181
ik 3= R Current financial liabilities
(TBER S REAMEMAERZ) (excluding trade and other payables) (494,253)

FRBERMAE
(TNERERS MEMENRR)

Non-current financial liabilities
(excluding trade and other payables)
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2. REEEIER®) 22.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)
BEAGELECHEERME Summarised financial information of material joint ventures
(&) (continued)
FMSR UG EH IR L A (BaE) () FFM S UE 315 B B /R 2 A(Note) (continued)
2018
FTHERT
HK$’000
BIERE-_2— \F+=-A=+—H Revenue for the period from the date of capital
HAR 2 WA injection to 31st December, 2018 201,894
BFERE-_F— \F+=-A=+—H Profit for the period from the date of capital
HAfE 2 % A injection to 31st December, 2018 19,525
BEFEHET—N\F Other comprehensive income for the period from
+ZA=+—BHH the date of capital injection to 31st December,
ZEAMEEEA 2018 -
BEIBERE_ZT—)\F Total comprehensive income for the period from
+ZA=+—HHM the date of capital injection to 31st December,
ZEmB AR 2018 19,525
BiERAE—_T—N\F+-A=1+—8H Dividends received from & & I it E A R A A
HM AR N RIS E B BR A 7 during the period from the date of capital

WCEREY IR B injection to 31st December, 2018 =
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22 REERE R E)

EXRGELEZMBENNE
(%)

FMRUE i EHIR L A (BaE) (&)

btEFERE—E-N\Ft+t-_A=1t—HH
B2 aMBREATIER

22.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information of material joint ventures
(continued)

B SR W 4 B B R 2 ] (Note) (continued)

The above profit for the period from the date of capital injection to
31st December, 2018 included the following:

2018

FTET

HK$’000

rER#EH Depreciation and amortisation 18
MBWA Interest income 215
MEER Interest expense -
PSR H Income tax expense 44,155

BB E R R H R A B IR RN
FMRBBHEGR AR 2 mmREESE

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the
carrying amount of the interest in &/l & i ZEHBR A 7] recognised
in the consolidated financial statements:

2018

FERT

HK$’000

FNRBEEERARINEEFE Net assets of &/ RIEMER R A A 3,010,928
REBRER N RIEH ZEF R R F]50%H) Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest of

mEERSZ B0 50% in RN RIEMER R A A) 1,505,464

REERHNRIEWERR AT Z Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in
a2 BREE NSRBI ERR AR 1,505,464

Hiet - AEERBE—ZE-A\F+-_A=+—HBLFE
R RN R EF R R F]50% 2 #Eh -

Note: The Group acquired 50% of equity interest in & RUEIBEBFRAF during
the year ended 31st December, 2018.
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2. REEEER(B)

EXRGELEZMBENNE
(%)

BRIFERZEEEREZERER :

22.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information of material joint ventures

(continued)

Aggregate information of joint ventures that are not individually

material:

2018 2017
FExT FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
REB MG RN (EE) The Group’s share of profit (loss) 57,371 (59,443)
REBEG 2 H At The Group’s share of other
2HER comprehensive expense (12,222) (1,961)
REBEMSL 2 2EBA The Group’s share of total
(B comprehensive income (expense) 45,149 (61,404)
REB R Aggregate carrying value of
BRME4BE Group’s interests 390,883 363,260
BUER, AR B Dividend received/receivable 21,269 9,047
23. AILHHERE 23.AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS
2017
FET
HK$’000
REE L2 RAZ S Equity securities listed in Hong Kong 156,521
R B EH 2 RAZ S Equity securities listed in the PRC 35,703
FELTRAESR Unlisted equity funds 12,566
(e Club memberships 10,500
I EHIRARFE S Unlisted equity securities 77,080
292,370
Fra Lt B A AR EESIE  ®=Z—+  All of the above investments were stated at fair value and details

7
FH_A=1t—BNAAEBEFEZENFH
PABEE49(C) ©

of the fair value measurements were set out in note 49(c) as at 31st

December, 2017.
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. ZREFRAABEEEZEH
&E

24.FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

2018
TER
HK$’000
EFHRAES Unlisted equity fund 14,522
ELEMEEES Unlisted investment fund 229,885
YIFIEBIRE Investment in property project 100,268
344,675

MEREMMIEL 22T - Analysed for reporting purpose as:
EMEBEE Non-current assets 114,790
mEBEE Current assets 229,885
344,675

B LR BB AR R BETIK
B2 ERFHRHIE49(C) °

25 ZBEMEHBREAABEERE
ZBRARTEH

DNAEER

All of the above investments are stated at fair value and details of the
fair value measurements are set out in note 49(c).

25.EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2018

FET

HK$’000

MEE LT 2 RAES Equity securities listed in Hong Kong 153,750
R B L 2 RS Equity securities listed in the PRC 20,284
IE E R E S Unlisted equity securities 37,664
211,698

FiE LR BH AR A BESI
B ZERFHRHIEE49(C) °

DA EER

All of the above investments are stated at fair value and details of the
fair value measurements are set out in note 49(c).
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26 M¥ERFE

AEBZMEFEFEMRTE - IEMET
B A RATEIRFE 2 RIEESER - BREE
278,267,00078 7L ( ZZF —+4F : 91,841,000/
T ZBERAPYERSTIEaREHR+ @
AR o

AEBEEREENYEFEDRRA NI ZIRF
BZEEEETREN G - TR FHETIRE
R-E—-N\F+_A=+—BHBIIEEME

METE e

26.INVENTORIES OF PROPERTIES

The Group’s inventories of properties are mainly situated in the PRC.
All of the inventories of properties are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Properties under development with carrying
amount of HK$278,267,000 (2017: HK$91,841,000) are expected
not to be realised within twelve months from the end of the reporting
date.

The management of the Group had carried out impairment assessment
on the inventories of properties based on the lower of cost and net
realisable value for inventories of properties. The net realisable values
were determined based on independent professional valuations at
31st December, 2018.

27. Btz 27.0OTHER INVENTORIES
2018 2017
FBT FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
IR Finished goods 415 1,952

40,230,000/ 7L (= ZF —t4 : 135,294,000/%
TL) BEER R B R - FHEI%R(ZE—+
FNF9%E12%) IR _E—NF+_A(=
T—tF: T N\FNLAE+_A)EE-
BTIREAERT RERAKREERE
= o

EEEERRAFIRBESHRR T _EAAA
Y o

30. FEIER R R IR

BB RRRZEER - REMNEEXRT

B -

28.AMOUNTS DUE FROM ASSOCIATES

Amounts due from associates are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

29.AMOUNTS DUE FROM JOINT VENTURES

The amounts of HK$40,230,000 (2017: HK$135,294,000) are
unsecured, bear interests at 9% (2017: from 9% to 12%) per annum
and repayable in December 2019 (2017: between September to
December 2018). The remaining amounts are unsecured, interest-free
and repayable on demand.

The management expects the amounts would be recoverable within
twelve months from the end of the reporting period.

30.,AMOUNTS DUE FROM NON-CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

Amounts due from non-controlling shareholders are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.
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31. EIRE R

RZE—NE+ZA=+—H8 EBREXR
6,507,000 70 ( —= & — £ F : 6,507,000 5
T0) 0 FHREFARITRIEREMNI%(ZF
—tF  HEERITEEFREMN4%) © AR
EHEAERER-_E—HLhFEF_A(ZZE—+
F: - NF A BRI DB AR E
WER(ZT—tF : IERBEWER) - AE
B FEERA BB ZERINERIE R
gl o

RZEBE-—NE+-_A=+—80 EREX
172,342,000 0 ( =T —+F : &) » FH =X
30%( =B —+F &) URERERERE
SIEBER - Ra#ZRo0REB L1808 (=
T—+F 8 IS EAERBERER(=
T—tF ) o

RZZE—NF+ZA=+—H BREXK
1,357,105,000/8 70( —=Z—+E4 : 550,936,000
BIL)  FMMENF475% E36% (- =
—+F 475%Z18%) © AEIKE - &
211,806,000/ o Hi % 1A 30 H/E A pA 908 -
BRIFENR_T-NF_AE-_F_—F1A
—FEF T )\FZREZT=_—F
FA)EY - E 166,810,000/ T (=ZFE—+
F 1 116,465,000/ ) W D AIERB K E
RIIR-—E_ZFRAE T _—FHA(Z
T—+F: - —F0F)EREEFNEN
T4.75%E12%(ZF—tF : 4.75%) - NEE
FTEEFAR-ZE—NF-ARKZENER
230,000,000/ 717 E © SMERTHERETE -

RZEBE-NEFE+_A=+—0 BEKREXR
97,495,000/ 0 (—ZZF—+F : &) - BT FEF
RAE15%(ZT—+F &) PREEE - R
T —FTA(CE—+E m)ERRES
HAERDEWER(ZZE—+F : #£) -

RZEBE—+EFE+_A=+—0 EKREXR
230,000,000/ 7T © FHEEFBRITEER
BiN2.75% @ BEEKE REE_ZT—N\F
+_A=+—HIFEHH  BREREEHN

I REBRKER -

RZE—NE+-_A=+—H KEFEHNE
WE SR EE s B IERA2E 5211,806,000/8
ToEHZ PR30 H 1B 90 K& 172,342,000/%8
TTAEZNI0BEELRISOEMERA - £5
REZSaHREKERNEERBRE @EZE i
100 B ER 2 7290 B MY FE U B FRIT R4 AR A
4 AEBRIZEERAETEERREH
i B Z FEW R G R AR IR RIE A - &
EEFERERADEE ZERHERERTN
EBETE -

31.LOANS RECEIVABLE

At 31st December, 2018, loans receivable of HK$6,507,000 (2017:
HK$6,507,000) bear interest at Hong Kong Inter-bank Offered Rate
plus 4% (2017: Hong Kong Inter-bank Offered Rate plus 4%) per
annum, are secured by share mortgage and are receivable in February
2019 (2017: February 2019) and is classified as current loans
receivable (2017: non-current loans receivable). The Group is under
negotiation with the borrower to revise the repayment schedule of
these loans receivable.

At 31st December, 2018, loan receivable of HK$172,342,000 (2017:
Nil) bears interest at 30% (2017: Nil) per annum, is secured by share
mortgage and loans receivable and is past due more than 90 days
but less than 180 days (2017: Nil) and is classified as current loans
receivable (2017: Nil).

At 31st December, 2018, loans receivable of HK$1,357,105,000
(2017: HK$550,936,000) bear interests ranging from 4.75% to
36% (2017: 4.75% to 18%) per annum, are unsecured and with
HK$211,806,000 past due for more than 30 days but less than 90 days
and the remaining receivable between February 2019 to May 2021
(2017: February 2018 to May 2021), of which HK$166,810,000 (2017:
HK$116,465,000) are classified as non-current loans receivable and
are receivable from May 2020 to May 2021 (2017: May 2021) and
carry interests ranging from 4.75% to 12% (2017: 4.75%) per annum.
The Group is under negotiation with the borrower of loans receivable
of HK$230,000,000 being receivable in February 2019 to revise the
repayment schedule.

At 31st December, 2018, loan receivable of HK$97,495,000 (2017:
Nil) carries a fixed interest rate of 15% (2017: Nil) per annum, is
secured by share mortgage and is receivable in October 2021 (2017:
Nil) and is classified as non-current loans receivable (2017: Nil).

At 31st December, 2017, loans receivable of HK$230,000,000
bear interests at Hong Kong Inter-bank Offered Rate plus 2.75%
per annum, are unsecured. During the year ended 31st December,
2018, the loans receivable have been renewed as fixed-rate loans
receivable.

As at 31st December, 2018, included in the Group’s loans
receivable balance are borrowers with aggregate carrying amount
of HK$211,806,000 past due more than 30 days but less than 90
days and HK$172,342,000 past due more than 90 days but less than
180 days. The Directors considered credit risks of these past due
loans receivable have increased significantly but loans receivable
past due more than 90 days are not considered as in default as only
some credit risk events observed on these borrowers and the loans
receivable are secured by sufficient collaterals. The Group is under
negotiation with borrowers to revise the repayment schedule of these
past due loans receivable.
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NXGRAEMEBEWERNR - RERE
(E

W) 5 & T H A FEUGRIR 1% IR B B 5 1O R AX

HRIEBE -

BT YREEFRARKRBYERENHE WA
RRAEHZEOGTZN  ARE—RETE
F=+BE—B=1+B/{=RARE -

RRERR - X5 RUERZ BRie DT AT

32.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND

PREPAYMENTS

Proceeds receivable in respect of sales of properties are settled
in accordance with the terms stipulated in the sale and purchase

agreements.

Except for the proceeds from sales of properties and rental income

from lease of properties which are payable in accordance with the
terms of the relevant agreements, the Group generally allows a credit

period of 30 days to 120 days to its customers.

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables at the end of

the reporting period:

2018 2017

FET THET

HK$’000 HK$’000

=REAR Within 3 months 8,334 27,703
EYNEE Between 4 and 6 months 1,058 268
+tE=+=@A Between 7 and 12 months 8 89
HBe+—EA Over 12 months 957 1,290
10,357 29,350

R-ZE—+FE+-A=+—8 ' HEMEKER
BIE—IH148,871,000/8 T L& AIEZ S {E
F-FWBEHREE 2ME  MRZXIEREE
- N\F+-—A=+—HILFERTK °

As at 31st December, 2017, other receivables included a deposit of
HK$148,871,000 which was paid for acquisition of properties held
for sale from third parties and the transaction had completed during

the year ended 31st December, 2018.

33.FEEERE 33.HELD-FOR-TRADING INVESTMENTS

2017
TFExT
HK$’000

HIEEE Held-for-trading:
AR B T 2 IRANEE 5 Equity securities listed in the PRC 81,447
Hip Others 80
81,527

R L2 BAEF IR DA BEIIK - %
ARBELIREABRXZAMBcMEEAE
BE -

Equity securities listed in the PRC are stated at fair value which is

determined based on the quoted market bid price available on the

relevant exchanges.
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MEBEZEAABEEE 2KRA 34.EQUITY SECURITIES AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

B PROFIT OR LOSS

2018
FHET
HK$’000

BIEFEE : Held-for-trading:
R ET 2 RARES Equity securities listed in the PRC 49,312
EH Others 78
49,390

AR ETHZBRARFEETEAABENE - 7% Equity securities listed in the PRC are stated at fair value which is
ANRBEDREEBERSHAHRIMSEAE  determined based on the quoted market bid price available on the

BT e relevant exchanges.
35. R R EME[NIRR 35.TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

RBERR  XZEMER(BEERSLE  The following is an aged analysis of trade payables by age, presented
MEMNERAN)IZXZHH 2% 2BER D1 based on the invoice date, which is included in trade and other

W payables, at the end of the reporting period:
2018 2017
TET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
=@AA Within 3 months 682,391 216,400
POz 75 & A Between 4 and 6 months 14,036 32,935
+=+—{@AR Between 7 and 12 months 69,338 236,115
BB+ —{EA Over 12 months 380,462 404,163
1,146,227 889,613
36. ENAE 36.CONTRACT LIABILITIES
R=B-—N\FE RZZT-N\F
+=A=+—H —A—Ra*
As at As at
31st December, 1st January,
2018 2018*
TET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
MEHE Sales of properties 1,991,420 2,491,148

R 2 SFEREAE BN BMEENSI55EE  * The amounts in this column are after the adjustments from the application of
BERHE - HKFRS 15.
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36. 808 E®)

TRETAFERIANRAETZLEEHEALH
BIEAR -

36.CONTRACT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised in
the current year relates to carried-forward contract liabilities.

Sales of
properties
T
HK$’000
RAREE B HRUA Revenue recognised that was included in the
(BIEEEHEEZ FVEHRA) contract liabilities balance at the beginning
of the year 2,377,169

AEEREFEREEHHE - —REEDE
F10%E60%& RS BIERFTE A - RIE
mHER - WEFREAERTETHEEEX
NIBERRRE  BEEEFELEKT - AEEA
BEMEFIREITIN - AR MBNRETEIELE
ZEHNABERBEYR TIRHREER - INE
FREERTYRMNZEHEREL -

37. ff BB

The Group generally receives 10% to 60% of the contract value
as deposits from customers when they sign the sale and purchase
agreement. However, depending on market conditions, the Group
may offer customers a discount compared to the listed sales
price, provided that the customers agree to pay the balance of the
consideration early while construction is still ongoing. The deposits
and advance payment schemes result in contract liabilities being
recognised throughout the property construction period until the
customer obtains control of the completed property.

37.INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS

2018 2017
FTHERT FAT

HK$’000 HK$/000

RITER Bank loans 4,603,250 4,326,157
H b ER Other loans 127,023 52,973
4,730,273 4,379,130

BHEA Secured 4,603,250 4,326,157
it Unsecured 127,023 52,973
4,730,273 4,379,130

RBERR  ~AKEARMN T —REREAL
ZEF - BFFBERHEE47 (@7 -

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has loans payable to a
related party, details of which are set out in note 47(a).
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37. M BB (&) 37.INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)
2018 2017
FHET THTT
HK$’000 HK$’000
FREMEIZ A TEE Carrying amount repayable:
—F R Within one year 1,165,228 506,982
ZHR—F More than one year, but not
BT RBME exceeding two years 846,554 874,336
ZRME - More than two years, but not
BEAAF exceeding five years 1,672,967 2,136,758
ZRAF More than five years 882,717 502,470
4,567,466 4,020,546
BEMRERER Carrying amount of bank loans
EREVIRITE K that contain a repayment on
ZHREE demand clause:
—FR Within one year 67,130 215,619
ZR—F - More than one year, but not
BTHEEMEF exceeding two years 17,741 24,619
ZRMEF More than two years, but not
BErEEREF exceeding five years 59,323 101,858
ZREF More than five years 18,613 16,488
162,807 358,584
4,730,273 4,379,130
S BINREAET Less: Amounts due within one
—FRREZ year shown under current
=] liabilities (1,328,035) (865,566)

— BB H 2 B Amounts due after one year 3,402,238 3,513,564
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37. M EERE)

AEEEHZESERREHNE T ZEHA
(KEFHEER)WT :

37.INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

The exposure of the Group's fixed-rate borrowings and the contractual
maturity dates (or repricing dates) are as follows:

2018 2017
FTET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
ERMER Fixed-rate borrowings:
—FR Within one year 1,323,357 754,927
ZR—%F More than one year, but not
BAZRME more than two years 837,197 869,397
ZIAMWE More than two years, but not
BAZR=4%F more than three years 553,486 787,677
ZR=%F - More than three years, but not
(ERE 9 SUk:S more than four years 400,037 498,147
ZRIEF More than four years, but not
BAZRAE more than five years 287,786 366,955
ZRAF More than five years 882,717 502,470
4,284,580 3,779,573

BEAN - ANEE 2 FE BME R IRGHBERTTR ER
BEMBAEDH1.30%( -8 —+4F : %Efﬁ?ﬁzﬁﬁﬁlﬁ}
EIRBEMBEDLE1.30%)5TEFE - RZZ—+
F+-_A=1+—H AEEZZEERTIZRE
ﬁ%fiﬁﬂ%ﬁ% IERS ttz 35%=T EF 8 o FI

E—@A(ZT—tF : 5 K=@A)EH

AR BEAEGRER A D =)
o

In addition, the Group has variable-rate borrowing which carry
interest at London Interbank Offered Rate plus a percentage of 1.30%
(2017: London Interbank Offered Rate plus a percentage of 1.30%).
As at 31st December, 2017, the Group has variable-rate borrowings
which carry interest at Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate plus a
percentage of 2.35%. Interest is repriced every month (2017: every
one and three months).

The ranges of effective interest rates (which are also equal to
contracted interest rates) on the Group’s borrowings are as follows:

2018 2017

BRI %

Effective interest rate:
ERER

Fixed-rate borrowings

EEER

Variable-rate borrowings

3.80%%£10.00% 4.41%%10.00%
3.80% to 10.00% 4.41% to 10.00%
2.03% 1.79%%3.49%

2.03% 1.79% to 3.49%
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37. M E &R (&)

AEEM BRI REER T EEEE

37.INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s interest-bearing borrowings are
denominated in the following currencies:

BT R BT
AK% Hong Kong British  Australian e
RMB Dollars Pound Dollars Total

TET TERT TET FTET TET
HK$000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000  HK$’000

—E-NF 2018
RITRHEMEZ  Bank and other loans

4,207,875 5,000 445,693 71,705 4,730,273

—E—tF 2017
RITRHEMEZ  Bank and other loans

3,774,573 110,700 493,857 ~ 4,379,130

R-ZZF—-N\F+-A=1+—R8  ZFERXAT
BRRGFE YR _FE-hFE_FT=_"%F
(ZF—tF  R_T\FE_ZT_+5)7
Hi - PSSR ARASEREYELEER
& o

As at 31st December, 2018, the loans bear interest at market rates
and will be matured from 2019 to 2032 (2017: from 2018 to 2027).
The proceeds were used to finance the acquisitions of properties and
operating activities of the Group.

38. R E{ER 38.INTEREST-FREE BORROWINGS
2018 2017
FTET FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000
FETESE & R BI5RIE Amounts due to associates 7,431 15
JEH/\%/JJ;\% Amounts due to joint ventures 943,170 20,095
REFEE Hxﬂxﬁ Advances from non-controlling
(RN shareholders 167 171
950,768 20,281
FREERIATER Carrying amount repayable:
RRBBET On demand or within one
JEE sk year shown under current
& —F RN liabilities 950,768 20,281
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38. REMER®) 38.INTEREST-FREE BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)
AEERBERZREER NIEBHE The carrying amounts of the Group’s interest-free borrowings are

denominated in the following currencies:

BT
AR# Hong Kong HE
RMB Dollars Total
FHET FHET FTHERT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
—E-NF 2018
BEER Interest-free borrowings 915,403 35,365 950,768
—T—tF 2017
S BER Interest-free borrowings 9,793 10,488 20,281
ZHIEEEER 2B RNEERTEER - The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
39. RZ 39.SHARE CAPITAL
EBERBROBE
Number of (&S
ordinary shares  Share capital
THETT
HK$’000
BT MR Issued and fully paid:
RZE—+F+_A=+—"H8BxK At 31st December, 2017 and
—E-N\F+-—H=+—H 31st December, 2018
—EROHEE - Ordinary shares with

2 BB no par value 1,506,769,491 3,788,814
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40. %

RS B 9 ELAh i 5 A B 1 F E R Y IR MY BB 2 )

BIMESFTEL 2 ME DA BEARRNBE

FEAM—EHNBERRBEAR L ESEEH (W

é%ﬁg%%%%ﬂ%) MEFAKEEEEEFE
b= o

FERBEMALZHBAR > BEAR ke
¥ - HAlERRBERSN 2 R5HEHAH i
HRARLE - WRFZFRRARBRMRE ZH

40.RESERVES

Other reserves of the Group comprise the fair value adjustment
on properties arising from acquisition of additional interests in
subsidiaries in prior years and the change in net assets attributable to
the Group in relation to changes in ownership interest in a subsidiary
without losing of control in prior year.

The remittance outside of the PRC of retained earnings of the
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures established in the PRC is
subject to approval of the local authorities and the availability of

HEEME foreign currencies generated and retained by these companies.
rEBZEM-HEE Revaluation reserves of the Group
MEELRE REEMERE
Property Investment
revaluation  revaluation e
reserve reserve Total
T THETT THETT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
R_ZT—+F—H—H At Tst January, 2017 9,312 88,673 97,985
AHEEREAREBEZ Net change in fair value of available-for-
) sale investments - (119,915) (119,915)
AN EIRE 2R EEE Impairment loss on available-for-sale
DIEEL investments classified to profit or loss - 78,168 78,168
AEHERERAAEBEY Deferred tax effect on change in fair value
B IR TR 52 of available-for-sale investments - 2,338 2,338
RERSIREYER 2 Surplus on revaluation of properties and
W% RIENEER prepaid lease payments upon transfer
B A% to investment properties 8,764 - 8,764
RERE IR EYER Deferred tax effect on revaluation of
Y2 E il BIEFIRR properties upon transfer to investment
2 properties (5,953) - (5,953)
R-E—+F+=-HA=+—H At31st December, 2017 12,123 49,264 61,387
S RRESTE Effect on changes in accounting
(K15#2) policy (note 2) - (77,903) (77,903)
R_ZE—\F—-H—H At Tst January, 2018
(&851)) (restated) 12,123 (28,639) (16,516)
FBEMEEKNERIE Net change in fair value of
DAEEREZRATA  investments in equity
BEANREBELFEH instruments at FVTOCI - (64,955) (64,955)
BBEM R ERER Deferred tax effect on change in
NABEREZBRATA fair value of investment
REQRBEZESH in an equity instrument
ELETIAR 2 at FVTOCI - 3,603 3,603
REE IR EYER 2 Surplus on revaluation properties and
EYSSEANTIEI-EN prepaid lease payments upon transfer
BhARR to investment properties 3,156 - 3,156
RERDIREYER 2 Deferred tax effect on revaluation of
2 E 2 BIEFIRR properties upon transfer to investment
2 properties (4,527) - (4,527)
WHEEBEMEEUE  Transfer of investment revaluation
RANBEREZRAR reserves to retained earnings
TARBRKESH upon disposal of equity
HEE RN instrument at FVTOCI - 4,601 4,601
R-ZE—N\F At 31st December, 2018
+=-B=+—H 10,752 (85,390) (74,638)
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41. —BEFPZIEZEEE WA

BER=E 7_¢J¢ZTH Sk =TT H
F 2 IEFUEET © 130,625,000 T 2 8 AR
RSN JU Z—_ETRFR+-EFHER
NBEZETFTABEAEABESWA - RZF
—N\FE+-—A=+—H R—FRztABFZ
—ZHEF ZREREL WA ES,267,000/ T(=

—+%F 18,461,000 L) EBEER S M E
o T AR A

42 EERIE

RAFEMBEFERANTIRETCHERE

41.DEFERRED RENTAL INCOME FROM A TENANT

Pursuant to a tenancy agreement entered in 2002 and revision of
terms in 2005, HK$130,625,000 was classified as deferred rental
income and is released to the profit or loss as rental income on a
straight-line basis over the lease term of 17 years from 2005. At 31st
December, 2018, deferred rental income from a tenant to be released
within one year of HK$8,267,000 (2017: HK$8,461,000) has been
included in trade and other payables.

42.DEFERRED TAXATION

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities (assets) recognised

(BE)RHEZZHIMT : and movements thereon during the current and prior years:
RRASE HEETA
ZEHBR IEp
fFhRE NAHER
Adjustments Elimination
toconformto  RAEER of inter-
EBAH the Group's ~ ZERHE  company
Business accounting ~ Withholding  charges in
combinations Efth% policies taxon properties
(#&i) Revaluation of (#&i)  undistributed (W) REER Ef @it
(Note i) properties (Note ii) earnings (Note iii) Tax losses Others Total
TR TR FEn TR TR FiEn TR Fhn
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZB-t5-A-R At Tst January, 2017 126,857 1,822,917 115,152 164,652 (26,751) (4,991) 1,125 2,198,961
[m)ﬂE Exchange adjustments 1,248 86,130 1,105 - - 315 - 88,798
REMARR (Credit) charge to profit or loss
(BE)His for the year (11,938) 175,440 (16,577) 69,418 - 4,248 165 220,756
REMAEMEEEE)  (Credit) charge to revaluation
Bilis reserve for the year (1,289) 3,281 2,518 - - - - 4,510
RZZE—+F+-F=+—H At31st December, 2017 114,878 2,087,768 102,198 234,070 (26,751) (428) 1,290 2,513,025
R Exchange adjustments (639) (38,432) (8,1601) - - - - (47,232)
REREES Charge (credit) to profit or loss
M (%aE) for the year 5 136,082 (19,257) 47,884 - - (52) 166,662
REREERREEED)  (Credit) charge to revaluation
e reserve for the year (843) 6,882 (3,603) - - - - 2,436
RZZ-NEFTZA=1—H At31st December, 2018 113,401 2,194,300 A77 281,954 (26,751) (428) 1,238 2,634,891
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42 JEFERIE (4)

EX

(i) HEUBHBARRHEERBBENREBIELAR

BERAEMELZEREZENTIATE -

(i) BEETHBRRSKRASEWRARER LR
BRAABNMe BREERRBEHRBEMELZ

EREZROTATYE  HP et tEEHRhE
REMSHEENFRRDE L LI EREZ BN

MERZEEMEEC ERER I BRTE -

(i) EHBFEEMCANBARNBET YL - D1k
THEEEREANERA ARRMBRAMEEY
U2 RBENE -

ETEEHRREENBERERSMBARREK
2 REMIELEE - U T REERBERA
1ERA TSRS MR E DT

42.DEFERRED TAXATION (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(i)  This represents the tax effect of the temporary differences arising from the
fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities upon
acquisition of subsidiaries.

(i) This includes the tax effect of the temporary differences arising from the
adjustments to management accounts of certain subsidiaries to conform to
the Group’s policies of revenue recognition and capitalisation of property
development cost, which includes tax effect of the temporary difference arising
from PRC Enterprise Income Tax saving on LAT and amortisation of properties
for development and prepaid lease payments on land use rights.

(iii) This represents the tax effect of the temporary differences arising from
the elimination of inter-company charges originally capitalised as cost of
properties under development, inventories of completed properties and
investment properties of subsidiaries.

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of financial
position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset.
The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial
reporting purposes:

2018 2017
TERT FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
EERIBRE Deferred tax liabilities 2,751,853 2,611,723
EETR IR E = Deferred tax assets (116,962) (98,698)
2,634,891 2,513,025
RIEEAR  AEEHEBAIEERIEF 2 At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses

ﬂiibﬁﬁmﬁﬁiﬂm 132,269,000 L ( — & —+
F :1,271,672,000770) ° A E) B IBEEE
H 22,594,000 7T (ZF — 14 : 2,594,000
BIL)ERERABBELEREEE - AREERTEM
RACH AR - HER T 21,129,675,0007% 7T
—ZT—+4F : 1,269,078,00058 T ) W EER 5
RERIBEE - RERBHEBRBEEN_-Z
Z = 2 B B B 2 E518484,890,000/%8
TT(ZZ—+4 : 520,121,000/ 7T ) ° EAbE
18 7] LA BR BRAR B ©

RBERR  AEBEMAHRCEREES
718,552,000/ 7L (=& —+ £ : 725,268,000
BTL) o SRR IR A A BE G FE SR B a1 K 88
ﬂ@JﬁHZﬂ?ﬂi}@ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%%_ﬁ (& SIEIN A 3 li
AR E e = ERRIE RIS E o

of HK$1,132,269,000 (2017: HK$1,271,672,000) available for offset
against future profits. A deferred tax asset has been recognised in
respect of HK$2,594,000 (2017: HK$2,594,000) of such losses.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the
remaining HK$1,129,675,000 (2017: HK$1,269,078,000) due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in unrecognised tax
losses are losses of HK$484,890,000 (2017: HK$520,121,000) that
will gradually expire until 2023. Other losses may be carried forward
indefinitely.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has other deductible
temporary differences of HK$718,552,000 (2017: HK$725,268,000).
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in relation to such
deductible temporary difference as it is not probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences can be utilised.
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43. HEZHE
AEBAHER

RBEHR - BETREMEREAZ YR A
BARGREEzBREE  AR=1THF ¥
REERTER LG R TENEOEELE -8
& IRABEANZBA(BIRIBER) 2 —EL
KE - YMEREFEHS - HREMERZ
HERANF -2+ FERAZHHEEWER TK
MAEMBEOBRLE - AREDH TIIRESR
EAEEFIREATEARR] 7K -

43.LEASE ARRANGEMENTS
The Group as lessor

At the end of the reporting period, certain investment properties are
leased out for a period of 35 years from the date of commencement
of operation of a lessee that occupies the properties, without given
any renewal priority at the end of the lease. The rentals are calculated
at a certain percentage of the revenue (net of value added tax) of the
lessee, with a minimum annual rental. Other investment properties
were leased out for periods ranging from 1 to 10 years and the
majority of the leases do not have any renewal priorities given to
the lessees. The Group had contracted with tenants for the following
future minimum lease payments:

2018 2017

FET T

HK$’000 HK$’000

—FZR Within one year 405,546 346,499
FE_FERERF(RIEEREMSE) In the second to fifth year inclusive 589,628 438,560
hFEE After five years 787,184 731,878
1,782,358 1,516,937

BT 2 BRI SEHER AFERER
BUAHEEE 534,567,000 T( —F—+4F :
33,711,000/ 7T) °

REERAEES
RBER - AEERBEYE T AIHEHENE

EER T B B 2 R R &K & SR IE A
EUENE

Contingent rents which is linked to the lessee’s turnover recognised
in income for the year amounted to HK$34,567,000 (2017:
HK$33,711,000).

The Group as lessee
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments for

future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases in respect of rented premises which fall due as follows:

2018 2017

TET THETT

HK$’000 HK$’000

—F2A Within one year 1,915 2,501
E_FEEFLF(BRERENFE) In the second to fifth year inclusive - 1,625
1,915 4,126

REMEFANEAEEHRETRAEYE
ZENES KRENHEHEMAS—E=F &
BEME -

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group
for certain of its office properties. Leases are negotiated for a term
ranging from 1 to 3 years at fixed rentals.



22 6 TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED

Annual Report 2018

e MB®RWNE (E

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

HE-Z— \F+-A=+—BLFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2018

44. EXRAEGH 44.CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
2018 2017
FHET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
EEPE Capital expenditure in respect of
b P A A contracted commitments for
BRI acquisition of land use rights
BERME in the PRC 109,552 141,176
45. X AEE 45.CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(@ AEER_ZE—NF+-_A=1+—HK=
T EF+ - A=+—HZEROT :

(@) At 31st December, 2018 and 31st December
had guarantees as follows:

, 2017, the Group

2018 2017
FET THET
HK$’000 HK$’000
AMEBRERZ Guarantees given to banks in
BBERARTT respect of mortgage loans
e Z R granted to property purchasers 597,469 632,878
REELEERR Guarantees given to banks in
EEAZIRTT respect of banking facilities
EEMRTT granted to and utilised by joint
R 2 HER ventures 611,379 942,941
MAELRERE Guarantees given to banks in
m AfE R 2 3RTT respect of banking facilities
EERIRITIED granted to but not yet utilised
2R by joint ventures 59,770 72,941
SMEERIEAM Guarantees granted in respect of
A2 F AR AS e utility supplies and government
I TR TR authorities for the property
Z PR development works
—BEA — utilised 2,399 2,952
N E N — not yet utilised 965 769




mE WK HRXMWE (B
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
HE-Z— \F+-A=+—HLFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2018

45. BEE#H)

(b)

AASE v EECERBEMEEENA
74,340,000/ 7L (=& —+4F : 2,570,000
BILMWMREBE(ZE—tF  —H)SEED
XEWEMEETHE LS - 25
HALMEREZ I HBEE TR M
R - BRT ED LHEREEEIE B #2 R E
Boh - B —¥rtinBERE S5k ekIE
ERE -

MASEHN—BHBARZFEN S — B
BRI B 4935,050,000/8 7T ( Z B —+ 4 -
36,386,000/ 70 ) IR EE R Y ZE TN IE & b
WRIEITTHE T L - B ARE
EMZR L DEERETER BT &E
R ERD IEFENS & Ho M RE R AR B P AT o -
BB ¥ HBEREE S K °

AN - AAREZ Z—HEECERSE -
BRI {E#4755,496,000/8 L (=& — L F :
757,676,000/ 7T ) 2 fFFE R ECH E H
BESHEAERBEL —HBREZEET
BRAFEEEETH -

AEBEREEEBGIEZFLETRE L
AEMNTHERAIERSBERFELL
W BRERF A HE A DD LE % F L D A
HE AR - BREE R %
RIETRZAITH - REBEZRER  A&E
EHBRREEELE  XRSEELH
WAATEHE - REBEEZNHER - B
FRREESREEER RN L TR -

AT \F+ZA=+—0H FEEW
EY REAREZEEFR

KL EREARRAR
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45.CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Two pieces (2017: one piece) of properties for development that

are held by joint ventures of the Group with carrying value of
approximately HK$74,340,000 (2017: HK$2,570,000) are under
idle land investigation by the local authorities. These pieces of
lands owned by the joint ventures were held under several land
use right certificates. The development of more than half of the
pieces of lands were either completed or under development,
except for the portions which are retained for the remaining
development of the whole projects.

Another property for development that is held by a subsidiary of
the Group with carrying value of approximately HK$35,050,000
(2017: HK$36,386,000) is under idle land investigation by the
local authority. This piece of land owned by the subsidiary
has been developed by several phases and more than half was
completed, except the last portion which is under the planning
approval by the local authority.

Further, property for development that is held by another joint
venture of the Group with carrying value of approximately
HK$755,496,000 (2017: HK$757,676,000) had been identified
as idle land by the local authority. The construction works for the
first phase of development is continuing during the year.

The Group is currently working diligently to prevent the possible
classification as idle land for those under idle land investigation
and taking remedy action to prevent from prosecution for those
had been identified as idle land, including negotiating the
feasibility of development plans with local authorities. Based on
legal advices, the Group has assessed the issue and considers that
the idle land confiscation can be reversed. In the opinion of the
Directors, the economic outflows caused by above cases are not
probable.

At 31st December, 2018, no legal action was taken against the
Group for material claim.
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46. RIREFIFE

AEE2EBRBERERAG BRI B 2 R
G 8 ([BE RN ) RaE S ReIN =
ZERF+ AR zaE SR & ([REEE
2 - ZEFABZEERAEE 2 BEED AR
B UAEHRAEERAEREZES - £RES
FTEIIL 2AT - RRBEERAEINE 2BE
ARFEES SRR BB ERES A
2 MAER_ZTTF+ - —HRAKH
ABZREASEBEDE -

HRBEeEKE  EERASEB ZHK
AEEFSABRBWAZS%  BEIMEERA
30,000/ 87 ' MEIFBAZERFCRBRIB
30,000787C © ANEE IV EL 5% .2 T AR ©

BMERAKFENESRESEERAEEZ
BARK - BEZHRIEBERFEZ0%E
5%+ MAKEZEHREAZEENAKE MR
BEFEENTF5%E10% - WEREETERA
R 2 EHRERATR HBERAGE - ZF
R R AR A S B Z B HER - R=F
—tFF+ A=t -HLEFEAR-_ZT-N\F
TZA=+—HLEFER  WERUHEFKAE
R - RIMEHR - WEAEEREBE
RRET IR W2 (5K VR H0IR 2 2 FE A 4

o
N °

46.RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

The Group participates in both a defined contribution scheme which
is registered under the Occupational Retirement Scheme Ordinance
(“ORSO Scheme”) and a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) established under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance in December 2000. The assets of the schemes are held
separately from those of the Group, in funds under the control of
trustees. Employees who were members of the ORSO Scheme prior to
the establishment of the MPF Scheme were offered a choice of staying
within the ORSO Scheme or switching to the MPF Scheme, whereas
all new employees joining the Group on or after 1st December, 2000
are required to join the MPF Scheme.

For members of the MPF Scheme, both employees’ and the Group’s
contributions are calculated at 5% of the employee’s monthly relevant
income, with the mandatory cap of HK$30,000, and the Group will
make 5% top-up contribution if an employee’s monthly basic salary
exceeds HK$30,000.

The ORSO Scheme is funded by monthly contributions from the
employees at rates ranging from 0% to 5% and from the Group
at rates ranging from 5% to 10% of the employee’s basic salary,
depending on the length of service with the Group. Where there are
employees who leave the ORSO Scheme prior to vesting fully in the
contributions, the contributions payable by the Group are reduced
by the amount of forfeited contributions. During the years ended 31st
December, 2017 and 31st December, 2018, there were no forfeited
contributions used to set off contributions. At the end of the reporting
period, no forfeited contributions, which arose upon employees
leaving the ORSO Scheme, are available to reduce the contributions
payable in future years.
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46. BIKERFHEI(2)

RRFRP B B R FRE S = EK
fTEEz BREERABHFEIZKE - %F
B R RAR—ELPIN TEEBIERHR -
PMEZR KRB ZE R - ARZEKRET
R AEER B ERREFEAMHRK

REE=Z—N\E+-_A=+—RHIEERXN
NEED R A32,042,000/8 0 ( ZE—+4F ¢
29,438,000/ 7T ) B RIKEFIETE] -
47. EREA LT 2R B Rt

AEBEGMEALTZEAR D RAEHIT

46.RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS (CONTINUED)

The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries established in the PRC
are members of state-managed retirement benefit schemes operated
by the PRC government. These subsidiaries are required to contribute
certain percentage of payroll costs to the retirement benefit schemes
to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to
the retirement benefit schemes is to make the specified contributions.

During the year ended 31st December, 2018, the Group made
contributions to the retirement benefits schemes of HK$32,042,000
(2017: HK$29,438,000).

47.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

The Group had material transactions and balances with related parties
as follows:

2018 2017
THET TFHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
@ ABEERTFENZ (a) A major shareholder of the
RRBEERRK Company with significant
influence
e mE (B )BRAR] Allied Properties (H.K.)
([BraHE]) & Limited (“APL”) and its
HIftB AR & subsidiaries and its ultimate
HEEER AR R holding company and
HEBRZIR AR subsidiaries of its ultimate
Py VNI holding company
—AAREE — Rent, property
WERR)H S management and air-
MEETE N conditioning fees
ZHER charged to the Group 5,035 4,339
— [MANER B R EY ~ Management fee charged
ERB to the Group 57,340 57,231
— AR E W EREY — Interest expenses charged
FEER to the Group 3,839 2,225
— AR B WEREY - Sundry expenses charged
Hith & R to the Group 611 226
— H T AR 3K — Other payable 10,179 14,430
— RN ER(Hti) — Loans payable (Note i) 122,062 47,973
—BRTARER — Loan facility granted to
1B = AR BEFEY but not yet utilised by
B R the Group 38,610 134,195
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47. EBEA LT 2R G R &

47 .RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

(%) (CONTINUED)
2018 2017
TR THETT
HK$’000 HK$’000
(b) BE&HE 2 —FH (b) A subsidiary of APL, Sun
MELA—BEFRAR] Hung Kai & Co. Limited
(T3BE ) REMHE QA (“SHK”) and its subsidiaries
— A& B BRER — Rental and property
S & management fee
MEERE income earned by the
WA Group 3,427 3,928
— 75 B R ER A — Interest income earned
FLEHA by the Group 5,522 5,522
— R ER — Loan receivable
(Hratii) (Note ii) 116,465 116,465
— H AR — Other payable 1,952 2,641
c T2EHEEAER (c) Key management personnel
ol compensation
— ¥ MHMREH — Salaries and other short-
=l term benefits 69,151 70,384
—RIKENER — Post-employment costs 701 740
d) BMEATREERE (d) Associates and joint ventures
—AEERNAES — Rent earned by the Group 1,904 1,614
— RE BRI — Interest income earned by
MERA the Group 8,008 22,252
— REEBREA — Property management fee
MEERE income earned by the
WA Group 1,833 5,577
—REE D W R - Dividend received or
R B U A receivable by the
(Haziii) Group (Note iii) 350,145 520,498
— AR S E W EREY — Property management fee
MEERE charged to the Group 5,785 5,739
— AEEREHERE — Consultancy fee income
L ON earned by the Group 19,812 14,971
— MAEE WA R & — Consultancy fee income
YA charged to the Group 22,989 -
—REEBEN — Properties purchased by
ES the Group - 137,795
— e EEEER ~ Financial guarantee given
NMEERZRIT to banks in respect
EERERITIED of banking facilities
Z TSR granted to and utilised
by joint ventures 611,379 942,941
— A EERE - Financial guarantee given
A R 2 $R1T to banks in respect
EERRITIEL of banking facilities
2SR granted to but not
yet utilised by joint
ventures 59,770 72,941
— H AR K — Other payable 823 526
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47. EBEA LT 2R F R &

(%)

FRAND BB A E 2 RAIER A BRI L 2 B
FIITBURTS & B FE ARG 0 # k- AN A ELEgk
BHEZHRERAT RBAME—HIEA
BRI 2 7 M8 1 I AN S B B T e 2 2 — ] Bt
BARN—MEE AR ZEESRIN - A
ERBRBEATZRZARERAR BRI
RES EMBRAMRENETREBRER
5 o

TEEEEABHM A BRRMEI3R14 -
AEEETEIREEBABR —REAARTA
EXEaEnD AWM E - ZARIRAARE
BHRHEEART - WMZF AR REAMIIEAR
SEZTEEREASMRENRE - AAE
BUWREERER  ZEEEBACEEAMTE
@B DARECERERSP -

Pz ERBTIREREAENAEB AT
NHHZEHETE  TAoREE LM FEEE
BAB - DA &% 547,641,000 T(—F
—+t4F 147,597,000/ 70)  WEBFE Ltz E
DEBEABHHNA -

wiiz -

() EBNEFAREMER  FHEA3.6%E4.6%L
BN NFMAZAARE -

(i) BRERAEEFRER  FHEARL75%LHFRZ
T —FHAEE -

(iiiy ZEBHERRAREELERBE=_Z—N\F+=
A=+—BLEFEHH SRR 350,145,000
TT(ZZ—+4 : 520,498,000/ 7T) » M A EE
MR E [E 2 W ER245,708,00058 7T ( — B —+4F :
163,170,000/ 7T) ° AEBBEHRBRERRE =
B AR ERR S Z B R(BEREEARRE
BRI ©

47 .RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES
(CONTINUED)

Apart from the renewed sharing of administrative services and the
management services agreement entered into by the Company with
the ultimate holding company of APL, sub-tenancy agreements
entered into by the Company with the ultimate holding company of
APL and a subsidiary of APL, and leasing agreements entered into
by the Group with a subsidiary and an associate of SHK, none of the
above related party transactions constitutes a continuing connected
transaction as defined in the Listing Rules.

For compensation of key management personnel, please refer to notes
13 and 14. Certain key management personnel of the Group received
remuneration from a company which has significant beneficial
interests in the Company. Such company provided the management
services to the Group and charged the Group a management fee,
which has been included in management fee as disclosed in part (a)
of this note, for services provided by those personnel as well as others
who were not key management personnel of the Group.

The above-mentioned management fee is calculated by reference
to the time devoted by the management personnel on the affairs of
the Group and can be apportioned to the above key management
personnel. The total of such apportioned amounts, which has been
included in the key management personnel compensation above, is
HK$47,641,000 (2017: HK$47,597,000).

Notes:

(i)  The loans payable bears interest ranging from 3.8% to 4.6% per annum, is
unsecured and repayable from April to June 2019.

(i) The loan receivable bears interest of 4.75% per annum, is unsecured and
repayable in May 2021.

(iii) The associates and joint ventures declared dividend of HK$350,145,000 (2017:
HK$520,498,000) during the year ended 31st December, 2018, while the
Group received HK$245,708,000 (2017: HK$163,170,000) in the current year.
The balance of dividend receivable included in amounts due from associates
and joint ventures is expected to be received by the Group within twelve
months after the end of the reporting period.
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TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED

48.PLEDGED ASSETS

At 31st December, 2018, the following assets were pledged:

(@)

(b)

(c)

Bank deposits, property, plant and equipment, properties for
development, properties under development, inventories of
completed properties and investment properties of certain subsidiaries
with carrying values of HK$550,000,000 (2017: HK$182,353,000),
HK$132,064,000 (2017: HK$168,180,000), HK$1,833,181,000
(2017: HK$2,306,777,000), HK$1,218,719,000 (2017:
HK$1,012,407,000), HK$996,359,000 (2017: HK$1,863,951,000)
and HK$9,408,392,000 (2017: HK$8,825,063,000) respectively were
pledged to banks for banking facilities granted to the Group.

Bank deposits with carrying value of HK$125,000 (2017:
HK$128,000) were pledged against mortgage loans granted to
property purchasers.

Bank deposits with carrying value of HK$2,538,000 (2017:
HK$3,721,000) were pledged for guarantees in respect of utility
supplies and government authorities for the development works.
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49. €@ T H
49, 2RI E>ER

49.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

49a. Categories of financial instruments

2018 2017
FExT FA&T
HK$’000 HK$’000
SRMEE Financial assets
FRBRRANBEERE FVTPL
EHA B BIR IR AT 1B EFTE Mandatory measured at FVTPL
—BEER — Held-for-trading 49,390 81,527
—HEfh — Others 344,675 -
394,065 81,527
FREM P EWRRA N BERE Equity instruments at
ZBRATER FVTOCI 211,698 -
AHNERE Available-for-sale investments = 292,370
RHEKAT ENEREE Financial assets at amortised cost 6,174,921 -
BN ERERK Loans and receivables (including
(BIERTEFREERS bank balances and cash, and
MREER 2 BITER) pledged bank deposits) - 7,891,884
6,780,684 8,265,781
SRIEE Financial liabilities
WEER AT 22 Financial liabilities at amortised
TRAE cost 7,098,877 5,552,665
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49.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
49b. Financial risk management objective and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include financial assets at
FVTPL, equity instruments at FVTOCI, equity securities at FVTPL,
available-for-sale investments, held-for-trading investments, amounts
due from associates, joint ventures and non-controlling shareholders,
loans receivable, trade and other receivables, pledged bank deposits,
bank balances and cash, trade and other payables and interest-bearing
and interest-free borrowings. Details of these financial instruments are
disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (interest rate risk, foreign currency
risk and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies
on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk

The Group’s activities expose primarily to the financial risks of
changes in interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates and
change in prices of equity financial instruments (see below).

There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to market risks or
the manner in which it manages and measures the risk.

(i) Interest rate risk management

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk through the
impact of interest rate changes on fixed-rate loans receivable and
borrowings. The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk relates primarily
to variable-rate loans receivable and borrowings which carry interest
at Hong Kong Inter-bank Offered Rate or London Inter-bank Offered
Rate plus a certain percentage. The Group will continue to maintain
a reasonable mix of floating rate and fixed rate borrowings and take
actions to hedge against any foreseeable interest rate exposure, if
necessary. The interest rates and terms of repayment of bank and
other borrowings of the Group are disclosed in note 37.
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49.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

49b. Financial risk management objective and policies (continued)
Market risk (continued)

(i) Interest rate risk management (continued)

Interest rate sensitivity

At the end of the respective reporting periods, if interest rates
increased by 200 basis points in relation to the Group’s variable
rate loans receivable and all other variables were held constant, the
Group’s profit after tax would have increased by HK$98,000 (2017:
HK$3,548,000).

At the end of the respective reporting periods, if interest rates
increased by 200 basis points in relation to the Group's variable rate
borrowings and all other variables were held constant, the Group's
profit after tax would have decreased by HK$6,685,000 (2017:
HK$8,993,000).

In the management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent interest rate risk as the year end
exposure does not reflect the exposure during the year.

(ii) Foreign currency risk management

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. Other
than Hong Kong, the Group’s operations are mainly in the PRC and
certain bank balances, receivables, payables and other loans of the
Group are denominated in foreign currencies. The Group currently
does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the
management monitors the related foreign exchange exposure closely
and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure
should the need arise.
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49. EMIT B (%) 49.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

49b. MERMREERERBER(E) 49b. Financial risk management objective and policies (continued)
SRR (&) Market risk (continued)

(i) SMERBEREE) (ii) Foreign currency risk management (continued)

REREER - REBUANREEESIMIEZ  The carrying amounts of monetary assets and monetary liabilities that
EEEENEEaBEZERERENT ! are denominated in a currency other than functional currencies of
entities at the end of the respective reporting periods are as follows:

2018 2017
FER FHIT
HK$'000 HK$'000
BE Assets

EViH United States Dollars 192,140 251,813
BT Hong Kong Dollars 3,432,202 3,793,771

=N Liabilities
ETT United States Dollars 444 3,454

BT Hong Kong Dollars 174,306 245,686
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49.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

49b. Financial risk management objective and policies (continued)
Market risk (continued)

(ii) Foreign currency risk management (continued)

Foreign currency sensitivity

The Group mainly exposes to the currency of the United States
(“United States Dollars”) and Hong Kong Dollars.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% increase
and decrease in the RMB against the relevant foreign currencies.
The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the year
end for a 5% change in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes interest-bearing and interest-free borrowings as well as bank
balances and cash. A positive number indicates an increase in profit
for the year where the RMB strengthens against the relevant currency.
If there is 5% increase in RMB against the relevant foreign currencies,
the decrease in the profit for the year is shown as below:

2018 2017
FET FHT
HK$’000 HK$’000
ETT United States Dollars
REE R A Decrease in profit for the year (9,585) (12,418)
BT Hong Kong Dollars
REZ R AR Decrease in profit for the year (162,895) (177,404)

ERERAR  BRED T TRERRAEINER
% - ARFERERYLTRREEALNER -

In the management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk as the year end
exposure does not reflect the exposure during the year.
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49.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

49b. Financial risk management objective and policies (continued)
Market risk (continued)

(iii) Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity security price risk arising from equity
investments. The management will monitor the price movements and
take appropriate actions when it is required.

Equity price sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the
exposure to equity price risks at the end of the reporting period.

If equity prices were 10% higher/lower:

— revaluation reserves would increase/decrease by HK$21,170,000
(2017: HK$29,237,000) for the Group as a result of the changes
in fair value of equity instruments at FVTOCI (2017: available-for-
sale investments).

—  profit for the year would increase/decrease by HK$39,407,000
(2017: HK$8,153,000) for the Group as a result of the changes
in fair value of equity securities at FVTPL and financial assets at
FVTPL (2017: held-for-trading investments).

Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31st December, 2018, other than those financial assets whose
carrying amounts best represent the maximum exposure to credit
risk, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause
a financial loss to the Group arising from the amount of contingent
liabilities in relation to financial guarantees provided by the Group
disclosed in note 45(a).

In order to minimise the credit risk, monitoring procedures are carried
out to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment under ECL
model upon application of HKFRS 9 (31st December, 2017: incurred
loss model) on financial assets at amortised cost. With respect to
financial guarantees provided to banks to secure the banking facilities
granted to subsidiaries by the Company and to joint ventures by the
Group, the Directors consider the credit risk is limited because the
subsidiaries and joint ventures have strong financial positions. The
management considers the credit risk exposure to financial guarantees
provided to banks to secure the banking facilities granted to property
purchasers is also limited because the facilities are secured by the
properties and the market price of the properties is higher than the
guaranteed amounts. In this regard, the Directors consider that the
Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.
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49.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
49b. Financial risk management objective and policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties
are banks with high credit ratings assigned by international credit-
rating agencies.

The Group had a concentration of credit risk as the loans receivable
are advanced to a few independent third parties and a related party.
As at 31st December, 2018, the loans receivable will be matured
ranging from February 2019 to October 2021 (2017: February
2018 to May 2021). Loans receivable of HK$104,002,000 (2017:
HK$6,507,000) are secured by share mortgage and loans receivable of
HK$172,342,000 is secured by share mortgage and loans receivable.
The management had assessed the credit rating of the borrowers for
the remaining unsecured loans receivable of HK$1,357,105,000
(2017: HK$780,936,000) and considered that the Group's credit risk
exposure is low based on the impairment assessment detailed below.

The Group also has a concentration of credit risk on the amounts
due from certain joint ventures which are engaged in property
development. The Group reviews the recoverable amount of each
individual debt at the end of each reporting period to ensure that
adequate impairment loss are made for irrecoverable amounts, if any.
The management considers the credit risk exposure is limited.

The Group has no other significant concentrations of credit risk, with
exposure spread over a number of counterparties and customers.

Impairment assessment on trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers

Since the adoption of HKFRS 9 on 1st January, 2018, the Group
applies the simplified approach to provide for expected credit losses
prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits the use of lifetime expected
loss provision for trade receivables with gross carrying amount of
HK$10,357,000 which are not credit-impaired as at 31st December,
2018. Trade receivables from customers are considered to be credit-
impaired when the customers are in severe financial difficulty and
there is no realistic prospect of recovery and are assessed individually.

Management assessed the expected loss on trade receivables from
customers based on provision matrix grouped by the ageing of the
trade receivables, taking into account the historical default experience
and forward-looking information, as appropriate.
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49.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
49b. Financial risk management objective and policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Impairment assessment on trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers (continued)

In addition, the Directors are of the opinion that there has no default
occurred for trade receivables aged over 90 days as, based on
historical credit loss experience, the probability of default of trade
receivables is low and the Group generally receives deposits from
customers for leasing of properties.

Impairment assessment on loans receivable

The Directors are of the opinion that significant increase in credit risk
occurred when the principal and interest repayment of the loans are
overdue and when some credit risk and events are observable on the
borrowers. The loans receivable are considered to be defaulted when
significant credit risks and events are observable. Loans receivable
past due more than 90 days are not considered as in default as only
some credit risk events are observed on the borrowers and the loans
receivable are secured by sufficient collaterals.

The Group assessed the loss allowances for loans receivable with
gross amount of HK$1,249,301,000 on 12m ECL basis except for
loans receivable amounting to HK$384,148,000 which considered
to have significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition
and assessed at lifetime ECL (non credit-impaired). The expected loss
of loans receivable is assessed individually, taking into account the
repayment histories, collaterals provided to the Group and internal
credit rating of the debtors as well as forward-looking information, as
appropriate.
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49.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
49b. Financial risk management objective and policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Impairment assessment on deposits and other receivables/pledged
bank deposits/bank balances/amounts due from joint ventures/
associates/non-controlling shareholders

The Group assessed the loss allowances for deposits and other
receivables, pledged bank deposits, bank balances and amounts
due from joint ventures/associates/non-controlling shareholders
with gross carrying amounts of HK$130,446,000, HK$552,663,000,
HK$2,293,386,000 and HK$1,554,620,000 respectively, on 12m
ECL basis. The management of the Group considers the pledged bank
deposits and bank balances deposited with the financial institutions
with high credit rating to be low credit risk financial assets. The
management of the Group considers these pledged bank deposits and
bank balances are short-term in nature and the probability of default is
negligible on the basis of high-credit-rating issuers, and accordingly,
loss allowance was considered as insignificant.

In determining the ECL for deposits and other receivables and
amounts due from joint ventures/associates/non-controlling
shareholders, the management of the Group has taken into account
the historical default experience and forward-looking information, as
appropriate. There had been no significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition. The Group has considered the consistently low
historical default rate in connection with payments, and concluded
that credit risk inherent in the Group’s outstanding deposits and other
receivables and amounts due from joint ventures/associates/non-
controlling shareholders is insignificant.

Impairment assessment on financial guarantee contracts

The Group assessed the loss allowances for financial guarantee
contracts of HK$1,268,618,000, representing the maximum amount
the Group has guaranteed under the respective contracts, on 12m
ECL basis. When assessing the ECL, the Directors has taken into
account the historical default experience and financial strength of the
guaranteed entities, as appropriate.

As at 31st December, 2018, the expected credit loss allowance on
the Group's financial assets at amortised cost and financial guarantee
contracts are insignificant.

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management to finance the
Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. The management monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings
and ensures compliance with loan covenants.
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49.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

49b. Financial risk management objective and policies (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)

Liquidity tables

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities and financial
guarantee arrangements. The tables have been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest
date on which the Group can be required to pay. The tables include
both interest and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows
are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from interest
rate at the end of the reporting period.

EEXTHE R+=R
FHMMER RER S
METHRIE  Repayable on ReRERE ZEEE
Weighted ~ demand or SEREIE Total Carrying
average less than 123f8R 3 months 155% SENE  undiscounted amount at
interest rate Tmonth 13 months to 1 year 1-5years  over5 years cash flows 315t December
TEn Tén Thx TEn Thn Tin TR
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ZB-NE 2018
HiEeRaR Non-derivative financial liabilities
R REMERNER Trade and other payables - 1,417,836 - - - - 1,417,836 1,417,836
HEBR Interest-bearing borrowings
-E8 - fixed rate 5.18% 731,181 90,878 715,294 2,519,512 1,052,787 5,109,652 4,284,580
-8 ~variable rate 2.03% - - 13,728 461,162 - 474,890 445,693
86 Interest-free borrowings - 950,768 - - - - 950,768 950,768
SR ERAR Financial guarantee contracts - 1,268,618 - - - - 1,268,618 -
4,368,403 90,678 79002 290674 105,787 921,764 7,098,877
ZE-tF 2017
HiELHas Non-derivative financial liabilities
R5REMENER Trade and other payables - 1,153,254 - - - - 1,153,254 1,153,254
(53 Interest-bearing borrowings
-EE - fixed rate 5.18% 352,618 71,777 484322 2,920,273 609,143 4,444,133 3,779,573
-%8 - variable rate 2.07% 121,370 2,216 46,027 517,439 - 687,052 599,557
SEEN Interest-free borrowings - 20,261 - - - - 20,281 20,281
SBERAR Financial guarantee contracts - 1,648,760 - - - - 1,648,760 -

3,296,283 79,993 530,349 3,437,712 609,143 7,953,480 5,552,665
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49. €WMTR%)

49, A EE B ERBEKE)
FEMEE (F)

FRBESEE)

TRIBENRER WY ZBEE RS - 8]
RERERTEEGERZERERZ BB -
ZEFRABEAROFEAEF S -
It - REFFRRBEN ERBBADHAAIIER
KTMEEHADRER IS HEHERAEE R
R ERFNAKE BN - BEFLIRR
RITEAIRET TR AR 2SR AN B K - EEM
EZEERERSRIFEATERBRAMI 2
BRTE SR A A ERE K

49.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

49b. Financial risk management objective and policies (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)

Liquidity tables (continued)

The table below summarises the maturity analysis of term loans with a
repayment on demand clause based on agreed scheduled repayments
set out in the agreements. The amounts include interest payments
computed using contractual rates. As a result, these amounts were
greater than the amounts disclosed in the “repayable on demand or
less than 1 month” time band in the maturity analysis contained in
the table above. Taking into account the Group's financial position,
the Directors do not consider that it is probable that the bank will
exercise its discretion to demand immediate repayment. The Directors
believe that such term loans will be repaid in accordance with the
following scheduled repayment dates set out in the agreements:

i
AERRE T-A=t-A
REAH 2 SR {E

SR11E A BAZEIE Total Carrying

Less than 1Z238A 3 months 1255 58  undiscounted amount at

1 month 1-3 months to 1 year 1-5years  over 5 years cash flow 31st December

Thx TR TER TER Thx Thx TER

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

2018 2,078 2,715 69,038 91,754 19,410 184,995 162,807
2017 3,427 12,218 214,419 145,859 18,083 394,006 358,584

b Btz MBEFRERZ SR SMERHR
ST RE - AEERBELZFFREFENEH
BROSSL8R - RENBEHRZEY - &
SERSRBEZRH - SB|AXMNOAEES
Ko R - WEFHRFRZHE T RBEFRED
REMATREEMNE  ZREA/RIHTHFE
RERNSBREBURFEZEERKRAEEN
BAE

B

>=

FRBET N ESRARIIATAZS
BT TR R RN RS R
2RI ZRTRE -

The amounts included above for financial guarantee contracts are the
maximum amounts that the Group could be required to settle under
the arrangement for the full guaranteed amount if that amount is
claimed by the counterparty to the guarantee. Based on expectation
at the end of the reporting period, the Group considers that it is more
likely than not that no amount will be payable under the arrangement.
However, this estimate is subject to change depending on the
probability of the counterparty claiming under the guarantee which is
a function of the likelihood that the financial receivables held by the
counterparty which are guaranteed to suffer credit losses.

The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments for
non-derivative financial liabilities are subject to change, if changes
in variable interest rates differ from those estimates of interest rates
determined at the end of the reporting period.
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49. €W T H(#)
49b. ISR EE B ERBER(E)
B EHE

AEBEREERABRAEE 2 BRA A #F
Bie  WEBBLERIERTE B

NEAT =

RAREKELER

AEBZEREBEREEY - HBERKE37
R3BEEZME - MRRITHEF LIRS RAR
AR E (G - BN R o

EETHEHNELALER - FRZBHZ—®
7 BEEREARAREZHERNEARRBZ
Bk - AEREBREESZERRN U EREB
XABE  BITHEIR S BB AR D DA S I (B 1S
SBOREGEFMPOEBREENERS -

A - A E REERARTE .

49.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
49b. Financial risk management objective and policies (continued)
Capital risk management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which include
the borrowings disclosed in notes 37 and 38, net of bank balances
and cash and equity attributable to the owners of the Company,
comprising share capital and reserves.

The Directors review the capital structure periodically. As a part of
this review, the Directors consider the cost of capital and the risks
associated with each class of capital. Based on recommendations
of the Directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure
through the payment of dividends, new share issues and share buy-
backs as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing
debt, if necessary.

The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.
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49. €I H (&)
49c. EMT A AREBEE

AMERE AR ENTAETRSMEEY 2
R EEOE -

ETAGENEREENSREMRLZAAE
BiE - TRILEHREBEENAAEE
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BARBEFESBEAABERSIPHFR
(F—REE=R) -

49.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

49c. Fair value measurements of financial instruments

This note provides information about how the Group determines fair
value of various financial assets.

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair value at the

end of each reporting period. The following table gives information

about how the fair values of these financial assets are determined
(in particular, the valuation techniques and inputs used), as well
as the level of the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value

measurements are categorised (Levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to

which the inputs to the fair value measurements is observable.

MEER
Fair value as at ELERSY
Z8-)\% 5tk EMEEZBE
t2B=t-B tZA=t-B  2AEE Relationship of
31st December, 315t December, &5 EZEIEESY unobservable
2018 017 Fairvalee  RERERIESH Significant inputs for
TEn TET  hierarchy  Valuation techniques and key inputs  unobservable inputs fair value
HK$'000 HKS$'000

PRAERRRRL, BERE RAERL 49312 o447 FR 0 REETINECEAR TiEH TieH
ERELT RAER(ZE -1 E: Level T Quoted bid prices in an active market ~ N/A N/A
HFEERE)

Equity securities listed in the PRC classified as
equity securities at FVTPL (2017: held-for-
trading investments|

PRARRANZANEROABEREL 20284 373 FR NERRSHEZEAE TaR &R
RATE R Iz RS level 1 Quoted bid prices in an active market ~ N/A NIA
(ZE-tF  TfHERE)

Equity securities listed in the PRC classified
as equity instruments at FVTOCI (2017
available-for-sale investments)

PEREERH2ENEROL BEREL 153,750 15651 FR NERDANELEAR TR TER
BETEZARE LT jAEH Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an active market ~ N/A N/A

(ZF-tF: IRHERE)

Equity securities listed in Hong Kong classified
a equity instruments at FVTOCI
(2017: available-for-sale investments|
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49. €T H &)

9. TMT A AAEBEEE)

TIAN AN CHINA INVESTMENTS COMPANY LIMITED

49.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

49c. Fair value measurements of financial instruments (continued)

MEER
Fair value as at £1BR%Y
5-\E 5tk BALEEZBE
t2B=t-B tZR=t-8  DAEE Relationship of
31st December, 315t December, R5 EEELEESY unobservahle
2018 07 Fairvalee  fERERIESH Significant inputs for
T TAT  hierarchy  Valuation techniques and key inputs ~ unobservable inputs fair value
HK$'000 HK$'000
NRREABRERNABERE L EREEY 14,522 1566 E-R AOHBERMHER Ol ¥k
FETRIES(ZE 15 THIERE) Level2 Price provided by financial institutions N/ N/A
Unlisted equity fund classified as financial
assets at FVTPL (2017: available-for-sale
investments)
TER(-F-t5: BREeR) N/A 1050  E-f  TER(CT-tF:22-FmE TER TR
N/A (2017: club memberships) Level 2 EhmEz) N/A N/A
N/A (2017: Determined by reference to
second hand market value)
ARBEBANRENERD L BEREL 37,664 B7%  F=H AEERE ERERZRAan:  RPAER0RNE
BATEZE FrRAEE Level 3 Asset hased approach FEIRRRERATES  BELLEETHR
(Z3—tF: ThHERE) 12285 MASRAMBEERESS  Theincreasein
Unlisted equity securities classified as equity The key inputs are: W) B3.00%23.50%( = the term yield

instruments at FVTOCI
(2017: available-for-sale investments)

1) BRNEE

1) Term yield:

) EENEE

2) Reversionary yield;

3) [ERIBRATRENRS R

3) Market unit rent of individual unit;
and

() R ERAmERE L ANE

(4) Discount for lack of control and

lack of marketability

(
(
(
(
(
(

T 3.00%E3.50%)

Term yield, taking into account
of yield generated from
comparable properties and
adjustment to reflect the
certainty of term income
secured and to be received,
of 3.00% to 3.50% (2017:
3.00% 0 3.50%)

EEER(ZRITLRE
WERETRRSMAR
BATTIE) A3 50%Z4.00%
(ZR—F 350%%
400%)

Reversionary yield, taking into
account annual unit market

rental income and unit market

value of the comparable

properties, of 3.50% to 4.00%

(2017: 3.50% to 4.00%)

would result ina
decrease in fair
value

EEhakaENE
BYLREETR

The increase in the
reversionary yield
would result in a
decrease in fair
value
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49. €@ T B (%) 49.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
. ERTEZAREBEFTE(Z) 49c. Fair value measurements of financial instruments (continued)
MREER
Fair value as at SLERSY
ZE-)\E “5tE MR EEZBE
tZR=t-B tZR=t-B QAEE Relationship of
31st December, 315t December, &5 EZEIEESY unobservable
2018 017 Fairvalee  REFERIESH Significant inputs for
Thn TEL  hierarchy  Valuation techniques and keyinputs  unabservable inputs fair value

HK$'000 HKS$'000

RS HERTAINE  TRELESNEN
MELR TERIMEAE  e8uLAERY
fbENRE  MEREE - M
ERDHE e TIWREL  Theincrease in the
BENTOBTAHREAE  market unitrent
TEETAREATSER(C  wouldresultin
-5 ETAREAWE  anincreasein fair
nESTIREAET) value

Market unit rent compares with
direct market comparables
and taking into account of
location and other individual
factors such as road frontage,
size of property and facilites.

The range of average market
unit rent is from around
HKS30 sq.ft/month to
HKS175 sq.ft/month (2017:
HKS40 sq.ft/month to
HKS170 sq.ft/month]

22 e 1 S 2
Rl R 1)1+
BOE 5% ZF—tE: EYRREETR

19.40%) The increase in the
Discount for lack of control discount for lack

and lack of marketability of control and lack

representing the reduction of marketability

in value for lack of control would resultin a

and lack of marketability of decrease in fair

22.50% (2017:19.40%) value
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49. €@ T H (%) 49.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
Y. ERTEZAREBEEZE) 49c. Fair value measurements of financial instruments (continued)
DREER
Fair value as at EERSY
ZE-)\F g ANEEZBE
t2B=t-B tZA=t-B 4B Relationship of
31st December, 315t December, R EEELHESY unobservable
2018 07 Fairvalee  fERERIESH Significant inputs for
T TAT  hierarchy  Valuation techniques and key inputs ~ unobservable inputs fair value

HK$'000 HK$'000

MRARRBARLAEEREY 100,268 - R REREME PNRERERENAASE  HERNENEE
SREEINERERE Level 3 Discounted cash flow [EBRE A% RARETE
Investment in property project classified as Discount rate used in The increase in the
financial assets at FVTPL discounting the estimated discounted rate

cash flows to the net present would result in a
value of 20% decrease in fair
value.

RIGERENRERER  REREMENSE

35,778 000 HonEEEN
Cash flows used to calculate the -~ The increase in
net present value, amounted the cash flows
to AU$35,776,000 would result in
an increase in fair
value
AERERRRRAABEREY 229,885 - Bzl BEERE FEBzZRBMEE 8 REIRLNE
SREE S LTRERS Level 3 Asset based approach The liquidity discount of BYOANMETE
Unlisted investment fund classified as 21.87% used The increase in the
financial assets at FVTPL liquidity discount

would result ina
decrease in fair

value.
MRAERANEEYERDABEREL - B8 F=R  REREFR ROFET-A=T-R RRkNEMEsy
BATEZE FTRAEE Level3  Discounted cash flow EREMREREMRAT  DrBETR
(CR-F AHHERE) FENBRERI0% The increase in the
Unlisted equity securities classified as equity At 315t December, 2017, discounted rate
intruments at FVTOCI discount rate used in would result in a
(2017: available-for-sale investments| discounting the estimated decrease in fair
cash flows to the net present value
value of 10%
R-EB-HET-A=t-R  ReREMENeE

PRGERRENEERER  ADAEESEN

6,483 00070 The increase in

At 31st December, 2017, cash the cash flows
flows used to calculate the would result in
net present value, amounted an increase in fair

to AUS$6,483,000 value
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49. ST H %) 49.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
. ERTEZAREBEFTE(Z) 49c. Fair value measurements of financial instruments (continued)

R-B-NE+=-A=+—B2Z2AREERF] Fair value hierarchy as at 31st December, 2018

2018
E—& E-& B=® #Et
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
THET TET FET FTET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THEE Financial assets
FiBIBRIE A A B(E  Equity securities at FVTPL
BRIB 2 ARG 75
—RHRE 2 — Equity securities listed in
IRANTE 5 the PRC 49,312 = - 49,312
FiBIERIE A A B(E  Financial assets at FVTPL
BRI eREE
—FELETRAES — Unlisted equity fund - 14,522 - 14,522
—JEFmERES — Unlisted investment fund = = 229,885 229,885
—MERE — Investment in property
THH project = = 100,268 100,268
- 14,522 330,153 344,675
FEEEMEEW L Equity instruments at FVTOCI
AREEREZ
BATA
—RHRE 2 — Equity securities listed in
MRS 5 the PRC 20,284 - — 20,284
—-REB LT — Equity securities listed in
IR AN7E Hong Kong 153,750 = = 153,750
—JE E MR AR EH — Unlisted equity securities = = 37,664 37,664

174,034 - 37,664 211,698
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49. €M I H(#) 49.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
. ERTEZAREBETGTEE) 49c. Fair value measurements of financial instruments (continued)

RZEB—tE+-A=+—BZ2AEEHA  Fair value hierarchy as at 31st December, 2017

2017
E—& E_4 E=1 Gy
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
FHET FHT FHT FHT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THEE Financial assets
FIEEERE Held-for-trading investments
—RHE L — Equity securities listed in
2 RIS the PRC 81,447 - - 81,447
AHEERE Available-for-sale investments
— AR E 2 — Equity securities listed in
MRANTE 5 the PRC 35,703 - - 35,703
—REBLTZ — Equity securities listed in
MR ANFE 5 Hong Kong 156,521 - - 156,521
—JEETRAES — Unlisted equity fund - 12,566 - 12,566
— (R EE — Club memberships - 10,500 - 10,500
—3E FTRAEH — Unlisted equity securities - - 77,080 77,080
192,224 23,066 77,080 292,370

RAFEARN > WREE A FE_HRLE=M There were no transfers between Levels 1, 2 and 3 in the current year.
2 R RyEEE o



KL EREARRAR
2018F %,

251

e B ®RWNE (&
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

BE-Z-N\F+-A=+—HILFE
For the year ended 31st December, 2018

49. €BT A #) 49.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

49c. EMT A AREBEELE)

49c. Fair value measurements of financial instruments (continued)

FE=RAFEETEZHK

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements

FEiBH A
EHEKE ERBR
BARERE BARERE
BEZ BEZ
AHHERE BATH SREE
Available- Equity Financial
for-sale instruments assets st
investments at FVTOCI at FVTPL Total
FET FHET FHET FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
MZZ—+t%F—H—H At 1stJanuary, 2017 37,296 - - 37,296
el g Total gains: - _ _
—REMEE — in other comprehensive
WA income 1,502 - - 1,502
BE Purchases 38,282 - - 38,282
RZE—+F At 31st December, 2017
+—-—A=+—H 77,080 - - 77,080
fEFRE BRI T5H Adjustment upon application
HRIFEIFEMTIE  of HKFRS 9 (77,080) 77,080 - -
W=ZF—\F—HA—H At st January, 2018 = 77,080 = 77,080
1aEsE Total losses:
—AEBER — in profit or loss - - (70,203) (70,203)
—REMEE — in other comprehensive
BRNA expense = (7,132) = (7,132)
BE Purchases - - 396,855 396,855
BEARRE Return of capital = (28,919) = (28,919)
EHE=E Exchange differences = (3,365) 3,501 136
N_E— ¢ At 31st December, 2018
+=A E - 37,664 330,153 367,817

EEARREHRANIAGZRE M B RER T OE
fEREERCRABNEAEREAA(EE
REHRE -

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of the other
financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in
the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.
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50. MEEEHELENERHR

TRAAKBERELTHEENABEHDFHE
BRASMERSEY  BRERZDELENAR
DRESREABRBASRENAEBRAH
ERBRNDBRABERDRERENARE -

50. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing

activities.
BEEHM
R ERARAR
EAFIE
Interest
payables B BAERK
included in Interest- REMERK
other bearing Interest-free et
payables  borrowings  borrowings Total
(Kfa£37) (Kf#£38)
(note 37) (note 38)
FHET THT FHT FHT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
N-E—+1F At Tst January, 2017
—H—H 13,090 3,516,150 219,895 3,749,135
BMERERE - Financing cash flows:
SERE =N Interest paid (186,189) - - (186,189)
FrERIT R A New bank and other
BX® loans raised - 2,681,230 - 2,681,230
SRIRIRIT Repayment of bank and
HER other loans - (1,868,741) - (1,868,741)
KEAEREER Advances from joint ventures - - 10,789 10,789
BE—EeEE Repayment to a joint
URETE=EN venture partner - - (70,588) (70,588)
B FIEERAR Dividends paid to
H% B non-controlling shareholders - - (107,054) (107,054)
(186,189) 812,489 (166,853) 459,447
/L MEIAR - Non-cash flow items:
JEET B Accrual interest 185,868 - - 185,868
HE—RIMNBAEE  Derecognised on disposal of
BUBTER a subsidiary - (114,607) - (114,607)
—MHE A AREEM Dividend declared by
pisg=olibes an associate - - (139,823) (139,823)
DEMIREF IR Dividend declared to
A% B 2 B% B, non-controlling shareholders - - 107,054 107,054
SNEHAE Foreign exchange translation - 165,098 8 165,106
RZE—+F At 31st December, 2017
+=—A=+—H 12,769 4,379,130 20,281 4,412,180
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50 MEEHELENEBHER®) 50.RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM

FINANCING ACTIVITIES (CONTINUED)

BEEHM
ARE ALY
FESFIE
Interest
payables LIP=REEA
included in Interest- REMER
other bearing Interest-free #Er
payables  borrowings  borrowings Total
(Ktz£37) (Kfz£38)
(note 37) (note 38)
FET FET FHET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
N-ZE—N\F At 1st January, 2018
—H—H 12,769 4,379,130 20,281 4,412,180
MERGME Financing cash flows:
BEAFLE Interest paid (203,961) - - (203,961)
FTEIRTT R E AL New bank and
BExR other loans raised = 1,557,395 = 1,557,395
SFBIRTTR Repayment of bank and
Hih &R other loans - (1,087,483) - (1,087,483)
REBE A RIER Advances from associates = = 6,128 6,128
KEBZBEER Advances from joint ventures = = 932,111 932,111
FEALSERER Repayment to joint ventures = = (3,128) (3,128)
BT IR R Dividend paid to non-
% 2 controlling shareholders = = (77,670) (77,670)
(203,961) 469,912 857,441 1,123,392
FMEREER - Non-cash flow items:
RS Accrual interest 206,261 - - 206,261
BEMIEETIEER  Dividend declared to
=) non-controlling shareholders - - 77,670 77,670
SNEHAE Foreign exchange translation = (118,769) (4,624) (123,393)
R-ZZE—)N\F+=-H At31st December, 2018
=+—H 15,069 4,730,273 950,768 5,696,110
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51. X EM B A RFHE
511 M AR —RE R

51.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

51.1 General information of subsidiaries

BEEHBI  EBHBAFHERBEMA  Particulars of principal subsidiaries which are incorporated and are
M NREEETBLE  FIBWOT operating principally in Hong Kong except where otherwise indicated
are as follows:
BRTEBERRE/
aMEXZED L
ERTHRE Percentage of issued ordinary
EERRE, share capital/registered capital
EHREMES N
Paid up issued ordinary HEBLRESE FEEEN
WEARER share capital/Paidup ~ Held by the Company*/ Attributable to TEER
Name of subsidiary registered capital subsidiaries the Group Principal activities
2018 2017 2018 2017
% % % %
DEMESRLEY HK$681,899,000 74.96 74.96 74.96 7496 MELE  WEHER
Asiasec Properties Limited"” MEEE
Property investment,
Property leasing and
estate management
ErEHEERABERRR" US$15,600,000 100 100 100 100 MEBEERNKE
Beijing Nanhu Huayuan Property development and
Apartment Co., Ltd.” investment
Best Perspective Asian Real Estate  US$1 100 100 100 100 #HEEE
Fund Limited™ ™ Property investment
RERZEHEREERAR"Y RMB50,000,000 100 100 100 100 MEER
Changchun Tian An Real Estate Property development
Development Co., Ltd."
EMNRZHHERBRAF" US$2,650,000 100 100 100 100 MEER
Changzhou Tian An City Property development
Development Co., Ltd."
FMARLZTAFEMEZRARARF" US$32,300,000 100 100 100 100 MEERE
Changzhou Tian An Yuan Cheng Property development
Real Estate Development
Company Limited"
ZRARAE Uss1 100 100 100 S
Cheerchoice Limited” " Property investment
ERERARDA HK$200 100* 100* 100 100 HERK

Chinaland Management Limited

Investment holding
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51.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

51.1 General information of subsidiaries (continued)

BRTEBRRE/
AMERZED L
ERTHR Percentage of issued ordinary
EZERRA, share capital/registered capital
ERREMER LN
Paid up issued ordinary HWEBLARESE FEEES
KEARBRE share capital/Paid up Held by the Company*/ Attributable to TEER
Name of subsidiary registered capital subsidiaries the Group Principal activities
2018 2017 2018 2017
% % % %
ENMFER(LB)BRAE"Y  US§620,000 100 100 100 100 MEEEREALEKR
Cornell Properties Services Property management and
(Shanghai) Co., Ltd." investment holding
REXRLZEWEREERATY  US$6,800,000 60 60 60 60 MEEE
Dalian Tian An Property Property development
Development Co., Ltd."
REXZERAERRAR" US$29,000,000 100 100 100 100 MEERREE
Dalian Tian An Tower Co., Ltd." Property development and
investment
ETREBRAR" HK$2 100 100 100 100 #EKE
Grand Kings Limited” Property investment
ETERAERLA" HK$2 100 100 100 100 W%EHFE
Grandview Square Limited” Property investment
EIRSERAR HK$3,756 100 100 100 100 #ERE
GRP VI Limited” Property investment
EEERARRR" W Us$t 100 100 100 100 #MERE
Hing Yip Holdings Limited” "™ Property investment
BT BRI HK$50,000,000 100 100 100 100 MEBERRKE
ERBERAR"Y Property development and
Huizhou Huiyang Danshui investment
Xinyangcheng Construction
Company Limited"”
SRRBRAF HK$2 100 100 100 100 HERE

Join View Development Limited

Money lending services
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51.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

51.1 General information of subsidiaries (continued)

BERITEBRRE
HEMERZBED L
ERTHR Percentage of issued ordinary
EERRA, share capital/registered capital
EHREMES LN
Paid up issued ordinary WEAREE FREES
HEAREE share capital/Paid up Held by the Company*/ Attributable to TEER
Name of subsidiary registered capital subsidiaries the Group Principal activities
2018 2017 2018 2017
% % % %
HRABEXERAR" US$13,500,000 100 100 100 100 MEEERRRE
Nanjing Tiandu Industry Property development and
Co., Ltd." investment
HRREERERAR" US$41,000,000 100 100 100 100 MERE
Nanjing Tianning Real Estate Property development
Co., Ltd."
ARRREBHAEARAR" RMB134,696,700 100 100 100 100 MEERE
Nantong Tian An Cyberpark Property development
Development Company
Limited"
LRVBERERAR" RMB275,933,200 100 100 100 100 DEFRRKE
Shanghai Greentree | Property development and
Company Ltd." investment
LEIEERERAR" RMB266,315,300 100 100 100 100 DEFRRKE
Shanghai Greentree I Property development and
Company Ltd." investment
LEBHERBERAR" RMB260,000,000 100 100 100 100 #MERE
Shanghai Haibo Real Property investment
Estate Limited"”
HEEERMELEBRARY  RMB37,000,000 100 100 100 100 #MERE

Shanghai Haiguang Real
Estate Holdings Limited"”

Property investment
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51.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

51.1 General information of subsidiaries (continued)

BRTEBRRE/
AMERZED L
ERTHR Percentage of issued ordinary
EZERRA, share capital/registered capital
ERREMER LN
Paid up issued ordinary KEBARIEE AEEEG
KEARBRE share capital/Paid up Held by the Company*/ Attributable to TEER
Name of subsidiary registered capital subsidiaries the Group Principal activities
2018 2017 2018 2017
% % % %
LEBREXBRAR" RMB140,000,000 100 100 100 100 MEKE
Shanghai Haisen Real Property investment
Estate Limited"
LEgREEERLAY RMB66,000,000 100 100 100 100 YEERE
Shanghai Haiyi Real Property investment
Estate Limited"
LRREFLAERRAR" US$28,000,000 98 98 98 98 WERRRRE
Shanghai Tian An Centre Property development and
Building Co., Ltd." investment
ERRZTEERARAR" RMB50,000,000 99 99 99 9 MEERRKA
Shanghai Tianan Riverview Property development and
Co., Ltd." investment
LARFEERRAR" RMB50,000,000 100 100 100 100 MEXRREE
Shanghai Tianyang Real Property development and
Estate Co., Ltd." investment
BEREBRAF" Uss1 100 100 100 100 ¥xEA
Sing Hing Investment Limited" Property investment
HMEBBRAR" US$30,000,000 100 100 100 100 MEBERLBEEEMR
Sun Hai Tung Co., Ltd." Property development and
investment holding
Tian An Australia Limited"” AU$290,149,000 76.70 76.70 76.70 76.70  MEBRE

Property development
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51. X EMB A RS ®) 51.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)
511 B AT —RER (&) 511 General information of subsidiaries (continued)
BRTEERRE/
HAMEXRZED
ERTHR Percentage of issued ordinary
EERRA, share capital/registered capital
EHREMES LN
Paid up issued ordinary WEAREE FREES
HEAREE share capital/Paid up Held by the Company*/ Attributable to TEER
Name of subsidiary registered capital subsidiaries the Group Principal activities
2018 2017 2018 2017
% % % %
ARPEEEARAF HK$2 100* 100 100 100 HEZBRLEFER
Tian An China Enterprise Limited Investment holding and

securities dealing

ARPEBERHERERRAR  HKS2 100* 100 100 100 HEER
Tian An China Hotel and Property Investment holding
Investments Company Limited

Aer AR BRAR" HK$360,000,000 100 100 100 100 MEERERRAER
Tian An Investments Property investment and
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd." investment holding

AR ONT) ERARAT] HKS2 100* 100% 100 100 KEER

Tian An Pearl River Company Investment holding
Limited

Az (L8 RERRAF US$30,000,000 100" 100" 100 100 MERRALER
(IXZ L&Y BEAEK

Tian An (Shanghai) Investments Property development
Co., Ltd. (“TASH")™ and investment and

investment holding

BHRLEERERER A" RMB197,174,341 100 100 100 100 #MEXE

Tianan Intelligent Park Properties Property development
(Wuxi) Co., Ltd.™

BHTLEZARAR" US$5,000,000 95 95 95 9%  MEER

Wuxi Redhill Properties Co., Ltd" Property development
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51. X EME A RIFE#Z) 51.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)
511 B AT —RER (&) 511 General information of subsidiaries (continued)
BRTEERRE/
HAMERZED
ERTHR Percentage of issued ordinary
EERRE share capital/registered capital
EHREMES NG
Paid up issued ordinary WEBAREE REBEL
WEARER share capital/Paidup ~ Held by the Company*/ Attributable to FEE£K
Name of subsidiary registered capital subsidiaries the Group Principal activities
2018 2017 2018 2017
% % % %
BHXEEXARAA" US$18,400,000 100 100 100 100 WEEE
Wuxi Tianxin Properties Co., Ltd."” Property development
RS REHEERLARY US$50,000,000 100 100 99.99 99.99 WIEER

Property development

HEIREMEEEREERAFY  RMB900,000,000 100 100 100 100 YEEE
Property development

REEEZARY)BRDEY RMB6,975,000 100 100 100 100 #ERE
Property investment

ERRYRERAERRA" RMB50,000,000 100 100 100 100 MEHE
Property investment

HEFINVEEEARRAR"Y RMB10,000,000 100 100 100 100 #EHRE
Property investment
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51. T EME A RIFEZ)
51 B AR —RERE)

Hiat -

(i) FEEPBELEEE-

(i) FEFEFEMKZIEEBEHRELE
(i) ERBERFSEMAL

(iv) FTEERBLEEIE-

v) ARREEBERLZ LB60%ER @ MR T Z240%
SRR — B ARIEE -

Vi) RBE-ZT—tH+-_A=+—HILFEHH &
RAIEMAEY S IKT K 3 B ER D (E R
BB % 5 R 1 E RO BB A0 AR A0 1 [ B e st 8 -
b ARAR - FE—tF+-—A=+—BFFEE
HE#I74.96 % O HELS o B R RIER B MK
SR ET BEMBEMBREAMMZRAR -

i) RBE=TE—+tF+-A=+—HULEFEHHE " X
ﬁﬁwﬁmymﬁ%%\wW%&%ﬁ 1 B /B
AR]  WERERE IS RERM T - ZEA AR
SRIMNBR S R £T7 - EZ IS ER SR E A ZERE
|9\]o

AEFRIEENEERRUARE 2 RERE
ERTEREZMBAR -EFRRIILHEMD
MEBARZFIEETEARITE -

BENFREIARE EAIHE R R AREENES

-
7 o

51.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

511 General information of subsidiaries (continued)
Notes:

(i)  Operating principally in the PRC.

(ii) Established and operating principally in the PRC.

(iii) Incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.

(iv) Operating principally in the United Kingdom.

(v) The 60% interest in TASH is held directly by the Company and the remaining
40% is held by a subsidiary.

(vi) During the year ended 31st December, 2017, a special dividend in form of
distribution in specie of shares in ASL was declared by the Company and
certain shares in ASL were repurchased and cancelled, hence the Company
holds approximately 74.96% equity interest of ASL as at 31st December, 2017.
The subsidiary is incorporated and listed in Hong Kong. Further financial
information is available in its published accounts.

(vii) During the year ended 31st December, 2017, approximately 41.26% additional

interest of TIA was acquired and it has become a subsidiary as set out in note
9 to the consolidated financial statements. The subsidiary is incorporated and
listed in Australia. Further financial information is available in its published
accounts.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results or assets of
the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at the
end of the year.



KEFBEREARAR
8 B 201821& 261

e % &KW E (E

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
HE-Z— \F+-A=+—HLFE

For the year ended 31st December, 2018

51. X EB A RS @) 51.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

51 MEERFEREZNIEZEKNE 512 Details of non wholly-owned subsidiaries that have
A FIRE material non-controlling interests

TRANEAEEHEE EAIHLEEZRAIEEE  The table below shows details of non wholly-owned subsidiaries of

MBARE : the Group that has material non-controlling interests:
FERERFECRT
EBRREBSL
R RTEL ¥  Percentage of ownership A (B8) 2’
Place of incorporation of issued ordinary share ERERER 2t ERER
WEARER and principal place of capital held by Profit (loss) allocated to Accumulated
Name of subsidiary business non-controlling interests  non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
TET FERL THET FERT
% % HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TRMERABATF N 25.04 25.04 28,185 39,235 1,176,975 1,227,452
Asiasec Properties Limited Hong Kong
Tian An Australia Limited N 23.30 2330 (20,171) - 140372 177,895
Australia

BB RS 2 8 R13E
BAMBAT
Individually immaterial
subsidiaries with
non-controlling interests (1,105) (1,271) 52,586 54,413

6,909 37,964 1,369,933 1,459,760
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51. TERBLRAFHBE )

S BEERFERBESENFZENE
ACEICE )

AR AKEE—HEEEFHEREDNIEE
BB ARMNMEERBAINT o T5Bh At
BERERENEHAEE

51.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

512 Details of non wholly-owned subsidiaries that have
material non-controlling interests (continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group’s
subsidiaries that has material non-controlling interests is set out
below. The summarised financial information below represents
amounts before intragroup eliminations.

M ER BB 2 T (fE) ASL and its subsidiaries (Note)
2018 2017
FET FHIT
HK$’000 HK$’000
RENEE Current assets 482,558 778,859
EmENEE Non-current assets 4,236,906 4,127,448
mENAE Current liabilities (34,750) (28,490)
SERBBME Non-current liabilities (171,651) (163,015)
RABIREREGEZ Equity attributable to owners
s of the Company 3,336,088 3,487,350
SEERR R ER 2 Equity attributable to the
T a non-controlling interests 1,176,975 1,227,452
WA Revenue 58,454 60,004
AR ERE Profit attributable to owners
il of the Company 84,404 126,955
R R (S Profit attributable to
il non-controlling interests 28,185 39,235
REZm A Profit for the year 112,589 166,190
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S BEERFERBEENFZENE

NEFE @)

EEMEREAE LA () (&)

51.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

512 Details of non wholly-owned subsidiaries that have
material non-controlling interests (continued)

ASL and its subsidiaries (Note) (continued)

2018 2017
FERT TET
HK$’000 HK$’000
ZA/NS i) Other comprehensive
JEMGEMEE (expense) income attributable
(BR) W to owners of the Company (3,072) 3,187
FEPER Other comprehensive
JEAE E M2 (expense) income attributable
(BR) %= to non-controlling interests (992) 1,067
REFEEAE Other comprehensive (expense)
(B W= income for the year (4,064) 4,254
KRR RIRRE(G Total comprehensive income
2 HEWE attributable to owners of
#aa the Company 81,332 130,142
SRR e AL Total comprehensive
FHWE income attributable to
k] non-controlling interests 27,193 40,302
AER2EWE Total comprehensive income
4aRE for the year 108,525 170,444

S TR 2

Dividend paid to

iEdSN non-controlling interests 77,670 107,054
KELEXH RS Net cash inflow from operating

MAFE activities 17,686 27,654
REREEBZRE Net cash inflow from investing

MAFE activities 37,715 211,246
ArmEXE s RE Net cash outflow used in

T EAE financing activities (304,135) (623,943)
REemtFE Net cash outflow (248,734) (385,043)

Hfat - AL BENSEER T RNFRBREMEZ
W - BB KR RIER i AEEE R A

REEHEELFE -

Note: The amounts disclosed above have been adjusted for the fair value
adjustments on property, plant and equipment and prepaid lease payments of
land use rights upon acquisition of ASL in 2016.
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51. T EM B A BFE#E) 51. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)
512 MEERFEZEREZENIEZENE 512 Details of non wholly-owned subsidiaries that have
NG 6= material non-controlling interests (continued)
XL MR ERE 2 5] (K aE) TIA and its subsidiaries (Note)
2018 2017
FTET FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000
MENEE Current assets 51,795 211,759
ERBEE Non-current assets 627,540 561,842
REAaE Current liabilities (76,770) (9,967)
EmEBEE Non-current liabilities - -
RARIRERFE(S Equity attributable to owners
3 of the Company 462,193 585,739
FEPEIR R RS Equity attributable to
Z e the non-controlling interests 140,372 177,895
2018
FET
HK$’000
N Revenue 12,123
RARIREREGEE Loss attributable to owners of
the Company (66,414)
SRR R (L B 1R Loss attributable to
non—controlling interests (20,171)

KFEEIE Loss for the year (86,585)
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51. X EME A RIFE#Z) 51.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)
512 MEERFEZEREENIEZENE 512 Details of non wholly-owned subsidiaries that have
NFIFHEE) material non-controlling interests (continued)
XLBMNREME L E (HEE) (&) TIA and its subsidiaries (Note) (continued)
2018
THERT
HK$’000
KRR RIRREG Other comprehensive expense attributable to
Hhzm& A owners of the Company (57,132)
SRR RS Other comprehensive expense attributable to
HEmrmEEH non-controlling interests (17,352)
AERHEMEPEER Other comprehensive expense for the year (74,484)
AN R R FE(G Total comprehensive expense attributable to
2HEH owners of the Company (123,546)
SRR R G Total comprehensive expense attributable to non-
2HEER controlling interests (37,523)
AFEETHEREE Total comprehensive expense for the year (161,069)
A F IR R 2 BB Dividend paid to non-controlling interests —
KELEXRBZRERAFE Net cash inflow from operating activities 4,656
REWEER 2R R FE Net cash outflow used in investing activities (194,638)
KERMEEBZRERAFE Net cash inflow from financing activities 75,468
REMHFE Net cash outflow (114,514)
Hat - Note:
KEZBNEERBARREE —ZT—+F+=-A=+— TIA and its subsidiaries have been acquired during the year ended 31st December,

B FEERmUEE - AR KRN EMBATIE 2017 and no profit was contributed by TIA and its subsidiaries to the Group’s profit
wHNEBTFASEBEE—_S—tF+-_A=1+—HIF for the year ended 31st December, 2017, details as set out in note 9. Accordingly,
iAo FEEEHRMEE - Bt - WEZHEHZ=—_=F—+  no summarised financial information on its financial performance and cash flows
F+-A=+—HIIFENEMBERRERIRSREMME  for the year ended 31st December, 2017 was presented.

FEYBER o
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52. X EHE N TFHE 52.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL ASSOCIATES
RIWERR - NEBER T EZBZARI%AE At the end of the reporting period, the Group had interests in the
R following principal associates:
AEE bR
EXEDL
TEREME Percentage of
BeE AT RE Principal place registered capital held TEEK
Name of associate of operation by the Group Principal activity
2018 2017
% %
EEEXBERAR" 0 37.49 37.49  HEERE
Kin Tong Land Investment Hong Kong Property investment
Company Limited"”
Zeta Estates Limited" B8 24.99 2499 MEBERLE
Hong Kong Property development and
investment
FEESRLREFRAT ! 30 30 MEERRER
Shanghai Property development
Miat - Note:
(i) SEEHEDFIFAEREEFRARANF MZeta Estates (i)  50% and 33.33% registered capital of Kin Tong Land Investment Company

Limited 50%33.33%K) M ER - MAKERE
SRR EA)74.96%( =T —t5F 174.96%) HIkEDS ©

Limited and Zeta Estates Limited respectively are held by ASL which
approximately 74.96% (2017: 74.96%) interests are held by the Group.
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53L.TESELENE

RBEYR - AEER TR

7]

s
S BB REABLRS

53.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINT VENTURES

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had interests in the

s following principal joint ventures which are corporate joint ventures
SEMAK 37 R 4R B 1 established in the PRC except where otherwise indicated:
A KM PG
EXHOL
TEREME Percentage of
EELEEE Principal place registered capital held TEEHB
Name of joint venture of operation by the Group Principal activities
2018 2017
% %
Crystal Idea Management Limited"’ BEETHE 50 50 1R
British Virgin Islands Investment holding
REERSTERARBALNARAT  RE 75 75 EESBARS
Dongguan Changan Jinyu Golf Club Dongguan Golf course operation
Co., Limited
BMNHERHENXEERERLA" &8 50 50 MERBERMKE
Guangzhou Panyu Hi-Tech Ecological Panyu Property development and
Park Development Co., Ltd." investment
RERZZHEERERRAFM Y R 50 50 WEEREEREA
Tianjin Tian An Science Parks Tianjin Property development and
Development Limited™ “" investment
BEAHBEHEREERAF Bl 50 50 ME#ER
Beijing Property development
EMRLZEBHEXZAR AR wM 50 50 WMEERLKRE
Changzhou Property development and
investment
BERTEBHAR LR £ 50 50 WEREREERE
Chongging Property development and

investment
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53. X ERELRFR 53.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINT VENTURES
(&) (CONTINUED)
KB PTG
EXBOH
TEREMH Percentage of
EHbELE Principal place registered capital held TEEK
Name of joint venture of operation by the Group Principal activities
2018 2017
% %
REMAZHBABRAF" - 39 39 MRBRRERE
Dongguan Property development and
investment
REMBEALEHHBRARF" R 45.05 45.05 MEER
Dongguan Property development
BT RZBIBHAER AR Ll 45 45 MEBRIKE
Foshan Property development and
investment
TRRZBERERERAF"Y Ik 50 50 MEBRMRE
Jiangyin Property development and
investment
AIRLEEERELERAT A 50 50 MFREEMREER
Shenzhen Property management and

investment holding

A REAR L BETRAR AR A 50 50 WEREREERE
Shenzhen Property development and
investment
FRINKZBEFXREER(EHE) el 50 50 WMIEERMRE
=l /N Shenzhen Property development and
investment
RNRLZEAREERER AR sl 50 50 MEER
Shenzhen Property development
ARBHER(EE)BRAA il 50 50 WMIEBRNKREKR
Shenzhen REZR

Property development and
investment and investment
holding
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53. X ERELRFR 53.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINT VENTURES
(&) (CONTINUED)
AEB PTG
e =R
TEREMH Percentage of
BELEER Principal place registered capital held TEEK
Name of joint venture of operation by the Group Principal activities
2018 2017
% %
RERLZHHERBR AT RE 50 50 WMEEBERIKRE
Tianjin Property development and
investment
EBERZHBHARAR" 58 50 50 WMEFEFRLKE
Qingdao Property development and
investment
EEB(EREHERERRAE I 60 60 MEEER
Nanjing Property development
HMNREERR AR &M 50 - DEER
Suzhou Property development

Haz -

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

RESEEZBNSRGE  AEEREMSEE
HALREREZ BB REERRES HLRZES

ZARR—HAEE
B ZHIBAR -

CERLBBEH(EE)BRA
ZAF A —EEERZE(Crystal Idea Management
Limited),Z fi{ A7) »

ZAAR—HAAEEEORINRLRERER R (%
E)ERAR) ZHBAR -

ZREATREE—_E—+E+-_A=+—HI=E
R - SR M RENES -

ZARARBE_E—\F+_A=1+—BILFEH
PRI -

Notes:

(i)

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

Based on the contractual agreements between the venturers, the Group and
other venturers have joint control over the financial and operating policies of
the above joint ventures.

The company is a subsidiary of a joint venture, X% {5 (5 B) AR A F).

The company is a subsidiary of a joint venture, Crystal Idea Management

Limited.

The company is a subsidiary of a joint venture, YKL EILEERE(EEB)E
Rl

Both companies were acquired during the year ended 31st December, 2017 as
set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

The company was acquired during the year ended 31st December, 2018.
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54. A BB R R R R #HE 54.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
N T BAR R TR Company’s Statement of Financial Position
2018 2017
FET FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000
IRBEE Non-current assets
M - BB &R Property, plant and equipment 38,928 40,947
INGIEYNEIPE -2 Investments in subsidiaries 148,813 152,314
NN Amounts due from subsidiaries 13,204,136 12,799,796
REEREIRE Investments in joint ventures 10,154 10,393
13,402,031 13,003,450
MENEE Current assets
HEEUERR Other receivables, deposits
e RIEHR and prepayments 2,510 2,612
BRI Amounts due from joint ventures 1,553 1,553
w7 LIRS Bank balances and cash 760,972 1,467,697
765,035 1,471,862
REEE Current liabilities
E AT BR TR Other payables 27,764 34,926
FEfIHI B A RIFRIE Amounts due to subsidiaries 2,677,745 2,821,177
HIBEE Tax liabilities 33,403 26,357
2,738,912 2,882,460
REBEETEE Net current liabilities (1,973,877) (1,410,598)
BEERRBERE Total assets less current liabilities 11,428,154 11,592,852
IR A R fk 1 Capital and reserves
[N Share capital 3,788,814 3,788,814
HiE Reserves 7,639,340 7,804,038
11,428,154 11,592,852
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Patrick Lee Seng Wei
FHE
Director

EBEFE

The Company’s statement of financial position was approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 15th March, 2019

and is signed on its behalf by:

Edwin Lo King Yau

BRH

Director
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54. A A BRI R R E

54.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND

(#&) RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)
NEFHERE K Movement in the Company’s reserves
BRER ERFE
& &
Special Exchange ZiHEF
capital  translation Retained et
reserve reserve earnings Total
THET THET T THETT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
R_ZE—+F—HA—H At 1st January, 2017 1,417,669 233,918 6,691,266 8,342,853
AFEEE Loss for the year - - (594,506) (594,506)
BMEMEL L Exchange difference
ERE=R arising from translation - 545,391 - 545,391
B2 AL Dividend recognised
as distribution - - (489,700) (489,700)
NZE—+4F At 31st December, 2017
+=—RA=+—H 1,417,669 779,309 5,607,060 7,804,038
REFE ST Profit for the year - - 403,158 403,158
BEMREELZ Exchange difference
EHER arising from translation - (266,502) - (266,502)
=Nty Dividend recognised as
distribution - - (301,354) (301,354)
n= i At 31st December,
+ E 2018 1,417,669 512,807 5,708,864 7,639,340

RZZE—\F+_HA=+—8  KARIAHIK
T IR 2 A 25t F5,708,864,0007% T
(ZZ—+4% : 5,607,060,000787T) °

ERFRITRESEER N Z S E I FREAR
AR D EERRT - EEDRR O EE
MESZEREREFREARE  EAQA
R-ZEZME=ANB 2 ABEEEEM I
BT REERD @Eﬁﬁﬁ E/\fi NE+=H
=t+—8 ARFAR=-ZZTNF=ANBERE
EZBEP 15 14,064,0008 T( =T —+
F 1 14,064,000/ 70)WARFE °

The Company’s reserves available for distribution to Shareholders
as at 31st December, 2018 represent the retained earnings of
HK$5,708,864,000 (2017: HK$5,607,060,000).

When sanctioning a reduction in nominal value of the Company’s
shares in 2004, the High Court of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region stipulated that the credit arising on the
reduction be transferred to a special capital reserve, and that reserve
was not to be regarded as distributable until all of the liabilities of
the Company as at the date of the order, 9th March, 2004, were
settled. At 31st December, 2018, liabilities of the Company included
HK$14,064,000 (2017: HK$14,064,000) in respect of liabilities in
existence at 9th March, 2004.
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B %8R
FINANCIAL SUMMARY

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
TAT TAT TAT TAT TER
HK$'000 ~ HK$'000 ~ HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000

ES | RESULTS
WA Revenue 1,031,785 1,029,359 1,894,465 1,112,881 3,291,719
FARDRIRRENL Profit for the year attributable to
il owners of the Company 1,284,522 2,600,020 5,712,954 2,054,142 1,251,202
EEREE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
BEE Total assets 28,531,659 31,561,142 33,691,834 37,156,441 39,014,757
waE Total liabilities 13,053,855 14,406,804 11,640,439 12,271,401 13,761,746
il g il Non-controlling interests 32,633 16,008 538,184 1,459,760 1,369,933
AREIRER RS Equity attributable to owners
P of the Company 15,445,171 17,138,330 21,513,211 23,425,280 23,883,078
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
REREE PER SHARE BASIS
BRREARZRME) Basic earnings per share (HK cents) 85.25 172.56 379.15 136.33 83.04
SRS (B Dividend per share (HK cents) 10 15 32.5 20 20
(Hit)
(Note)
SREEFEET) Net assets per share (HK$) 10.3 11.4 14.3 15.6 15.9
Hiat - Note:

BB T100RAA TR M E D IR 13[% 80 FH ERGD 2 A special dividend in form of distribution in specie of 195,880,034 shares in ASL
¥ LNEWS IR AR T B E 2 195,880,0340%  on the basis of 13 ASL Shares for every 100 shares of the Company. The detailed
D VERERIILE « EMER NG EIREN 1688 information is shown in note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.
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